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CERTAIN TERMS USED IN THIS REPORT

In this report, unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise indicates, the terms “IonQ, Inc.,” “the Company,” “we,” “us,” “our” and 
similar references refer collectively to “IonQ” and our subsidiaries, including majority-owned and wholly-owned subsidiaries, and our other 
registered and common law trade names, trademarks and service marks are property of IonQ, Inc. All other trademarks, trade names and service 
marks appearing in this report are the property of their respective owners. Solely for convenience, the trademarks and trade names in this report 
may be referred to without the ® and ™ symbols, but such references should not be construed as any indicator that their respective owners will 
not assert their rights thereto. 
 

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION 

Investors and others should note that we announce material financial information to our investors using our investor relations website at 
investors.ionq.com, press releases, filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and public conference calls and webcasts. 
We also use IonQ’s blog and the following social media channels as a means of disclosing information about the Company, our products and 
services, our planned financials and other announcements and attendance at upcoming investor and industry conferences, and other matters. This 
is in compliance with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD: 

• IonQ Company Blog (https://ionq.com/blog);

• IonQ LinkedIn Page (https://www.linkedin.com/company/ionq.co);

• IonQ X (Twitter) Account (https://x.com/ionq_inc); and

• IonQ YouTube Account (https://www.youtube.com/@ionq_inc).

Information posted through these social media channels may be deemed material. Accordingly, in addition to reviewing our press releases, 
SEC filings, public conference calls and webcasts, investors should monitor IonQ’s blog and our other social media channels. The information 
we post through these channels is not part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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PART 1-FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Item 1. Unaudited Financial Statements 

IonQ, Inc. 
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(unaudited) 
(in thousands, except share and per share data) 

 
   September 30,     December 31,  
   2025     2024  

Assets           
Current assets:           

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 346,032    $ 54,393 
Short-term investments     736,333      285,896 
Accounts receivable, net     36,912      10,188 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     96,025      28,325 

Total current assets     1,215,302      378,802 
Long-term investments     402,603      23,545 
Property and equipment, net     119,564      52,761 
Operating lease right-of-use assets     20,940      9,470 
Intangible assets, net     655,909      29,469 
Goodwill     1,865,841      9,904 
Other noncurrent assets     39,189      4,437 
Total Assets   $ 4,319,348    $ 508,388 
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity           
Current liabilities:           

Accounts payable   $ 16,970    $ 5,230 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     91,856      16,811 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities     8,599      3,366 
Unearned revenue     21,855      10,678 

Total current liabilities     139,280      36,085 
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion     19,917      14,359 
Unearned revenue, net of current portion     3,384      — 
Warrant liabilities     1,768,232      70,688 
Other noncurrent liabilities     100,736      3,394 

Total liabilities   $ 2,031,549    $ 124,526 
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 10)           
Stockholders’ Equity:           

Common stock $0.0001 par value; 1,000,000,000 shares authorized; 325,308,961
   and 221,919,191 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2025 and
   December 31, 2024, respectively   $ 32    $ 22 
Additional paid-in capital     4,237,882      1,067,403 
Accumulated deficit     (1,947,765)     (683,720)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)     (16,788)     157 

Total IonQ, Inc. stockholders’ equity   $ 2,273,361    $ 383,862 
Noncontrolling interests     14,438      — 

Total stockholders’ equity   $ 2,287,799    $ 383,862 
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity   $ 4,319,348    $ 508,388 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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IonQ, Inc. 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations 

(unaudited) 
(in thousands, except share and per share data) 

 
  

Three Months Ended
September 30,    

Nine Months Ended
September 30,  

   2025     2024     2025     2024  
Revenue   $ 39,866    $ 12,400    $ 68,126    $ 31,363 
Costs and expenses:                     

Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)     21,253      6,515      33,895      15,552 
Research and development     66,298      33,178      209,610      96,750 
Sales and marketing     14,441      6,630      33,928      19,468 
General and administrative     82,505      14,322      154,418      41,395 
Depreciation and amortization     24,182      4,890      41,359      13,150 

Total operating costs and expenses     208,679     65,535     473,210     186,315 
Loss from operations     (168,813)    (53,135)    (405,084)    (154,952)

Gain (loss) on change in fair value of warrant liabilities     (881,847)     (3,868)     (882,930)     11,398 
Interest income, net     14,437      4,508      26,469      14,108 
Offering costs associated with warrants     (22,847)     —      (22,847)     — 
Other income (expense), net     (980)     15      (697)     (164)

Loss before income tax expense     (1,060,050)    (52,480)    (1,285,089)    (129,610)
Income tax benefit (expense)     4,438      (16)     19,695      (39)
Net loss   $ (1,055,612)   $ (52,496)   $ (1,265,394)   $ (129,649)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests     (657)     —      (1,349)     — 
Net loss attributable to IonQ, Inc.   $ (1,054,955)   $ (52,496)   $ (1,264,045)   $ (129,649)
Net loss per share attributable to IonQ, Inc. common
   stockholders—basic and diluted   $ (3.58)   $ (0.24)   $ (4.89)   $ (0.61)
Weighted average shares used in computing net loss per share 
   attributable to IonQ, Inc. common stockholders—basic and
   diluted     294,524,786      214,305,053      258,324,714      211,378,045 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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IonQ, Inc. 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss 

(unaudited) 
(in thousands) 

 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024     2025     2024  

Net loss   $ (1,055,612)   $ (52,496)   $ (1,265,394)   $ (129,649)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of reclassification adjustments:                     

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities, net     1,757      1,713      1,510      2,348 
Currency translation adjustments     (22,728)     (60)     (17,979)     (46)

Total other comprehensive income (loss)     (20,971)     1,653      (16,469)     2,302 
Total comprehensive loss   $ (1,076,583)   $ (50,843)   $ (1,281,863)   $ (127,347)
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests     (768)     —      (873)     — 
Comprehensive loss attributable to IonQ, Inc.   $ (1,075,815)   $ (50,843)   $ (1,280,990)   $ (127,347)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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IonQ, Inc. 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity 

(unaudited) 
(in thousands, except share data)

 
   Stockholders’ Equity  
                            Accumulated              
                Additional           Other           Total  
    Common Stock     Paid-in     Accumulated     Comprehensive     Noncontrolling     Stockholders'  
   Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Income (Loss)     Interests     Equity  

Balance, 
   June 30, 2025     269,600,132    $ 27    $ 2,050,344    $ (892,810)   $ 4,072    $ 16,813    $ 1,178,446 

Net loss     —      —      —      (1,054,955)     —      (657)     (1,055,612)
Other comprehensive 
   income (loss)     —      —      —      —      (20,860)     (111)     (20,971)

Issuance of common 
   stock in connection 
   with acquisitions, 
   net  

  34,227,607      3      1,943,605      —      —      —      1,943,608 

Issuance of common
   stock, net of
   issuance costs  

  14,165,708      1      —      —      —      —      1 

Issuance of common 
   stock from equity 
   incentive plans  

  3,248,044      1      3,904      —      —      —      3,905 

Vesting of restricted 
   common stock     114,892      —      252      —      —      —      252 

Stock-based 
   compensation     —      —      65,398      —      —      —      65,398 

Warrants exercised     3,952,578     —     172,772     —     —     —     172,772 
Change in ownership 
   interest     —     —     1,607     —     —     (1,607)    — 

Balance, 
   September 30, 2025     325,308,961    $ 32    $ 4,237,882   $ (1,947,765)  $ (16,788)  $ 14,438   $ 2,287,799 

 
    Stockholders’ Equity  
                            Accumulated              
                Additional           Other           Total  
    Common Stock     Paid-in     Accumulated     Comprehensive     Noncontrolling     Stockholders'  
    Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Income (Loss)     Interests     Equity  

Balance, 
   June 30, 2024     213,722,503    $ 21    $ 893,797    $ (429,226)   $ (1,318)   $ —    $ 463,274 

Net loss     —      —      —      (52,496)     —      —      (52,496)
Other comprehensive 
   income (loss)     —      —      —      —      1,653      —      1,653 

Issuance of common 
   stock from equity 
   incentive plans

    2,205,038      1      1,085      —      —      —      1,086 

Vesting of restricted 
   common stock     48,145      —      98      —      —      —      98 

Stock-based 
   compensation     —      —      22,068      —      —      —      22,068 

Balance, 
   September 30, 2024     215,975,686    $ 22    $ 917,048    $ (481,722)   $ 335    $ —    $ 435,683 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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IonQ, Inc. 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity 

(unaudited) 
(in thousands, except share data) 

 
   Stockholders’ Equity  
                            Accumulated              
                Additional           Other           Total  
    Common Stock     Paid-in     Accumulated     Comprehensive     Noncontrolling     Stockholders'  
   Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Income (Loss)     Interests     Equity  

Balance, 
   December 31, 2024     221,919,191    $ 22    $ 1,067,403    $ (683,720)   $ 157    $ —    $ 383,862 

Net loss     —      —      —      (1,264,045)     —      (1,349)     (1,265,394)
Other comprehensive 
   income (loss)     —      —      —      —      (16,945)     476      (16,469)

Issuance of common 
   stock in connection 
   with acquisitions, 
   net  

  51,737,208      5      2,405,434      —      —      16,918      2,422,357 

Issuance of common 
   stock, net of 
   issuance costs  

  30,204,168      3      358,253      —      —      —      358,256 

Issuance of common 
   stock from equity 
   incentive plans  

  16,798,400      2      18,427      —      —      —      18,429 

Vesting of restricted 
   common stock     211,182      —      448      —      —      —      448 

Stock-based 
   compensation     —      —      194,218      —      —      —      194,218 

Warrants exercised     4,438,812     —     192,092     —     —     —     192,092 
Change in ownership 
   interest     —     —     1,607     —     —     (1,607)    — 

Balance, 
   September 30, 2025     325,308,961    $ 32    $ 4,237,882   $ (1,947,765)  $ (16,788)  $ 14,438   $ 2,287,799 

 
    Stockholders’ Equity  
                            Accumulated              
                Additional           Other           Total  
    Common Stock     Paid-in     Accumulated     Comprehensive     Noncontrolling     Stockholders'  
    Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Income (Loss)     Interests     Equity  

Balance, 
   December 31, 2023     206,611,704    $ 20    $ 839,014    $ (352,073)   $ (1,967)   $ —    $ 484,994 

Net loss     —      —      —      (129,649)     —      —      (129,649)
Other comprehensive 
   income (loss)     —      —      —      —      2,302      —      2,302 

Issuance of common 
   stock from equity 
   incentive plans  

  9,219,547      2      13,712      —      —      —      13,714 

Vesting of restricted 
   common stock     144,435      —      294      —      —      —      294 

Stock-based 
   compensation     —      —      64,028      —      —      —      64,028 

Balance, 
   September 30, 2024     215,975,686    $ 22    $ 917,048    $ (481,722)   $ 335    $ —    $ 435,683 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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IonQ, Inc. 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(unaudited) 
(in thousands) 

 

   
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024  

Cash flows from operating activities:           
Net loss   $ (1,265,394)   $ (129,649)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:           

Depreciation and amortization     41,359      13,150 
Stock-based compensation     205,366      67,607 
(Gain) loss on change in fair value of warrant liabilities     882,930      (11,398)
Deferred income taxes     (19,885)     — 
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on available-for-sale securities     (6,167)     (7,086)
Other, net     5,872      4,291 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:           
Accounts receivable     (15,849)     7,341 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (42,572)     (9,899)
Accounts payable     (17,413)     (463)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     27,777      612 
Unearned revenue     268      (4,232)
Other assets and liabilities     (4,969)     3,471 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   $ (208,677)   $ (66,255)
Cash flows from investing activities:           

Purchases of property and equipment     (7,628)     (14,399)
Capitalized software development costs     (2,961)     (3,064)
Purchases of available-for-sale securities     (1,252,367)     (241,162)
Maturities of available-for-sale securities     407,730      318,192 
Businesses acquired, net of cash acquired     (13,100)     — 
Other investing, net     (5,306)     (1,201)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   $ (873,632)   $ 58,366 
Cash flows from financing activities:           

Proceeds from common stock and warrant issuance, net of issuance costs     1,358,254      — 
Proceeds from stock options exercised     11,468      2,270 
Proceeds from warrants exercised     6,708      — 
Other financing, net     986      144 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   $ 1,377,416   $ 2,414 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash     375      4 
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash     295,482      (5,471)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the beginning of the period     56,840      38,081 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the end of the period   $ 352,322    $ 32,610 
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing transactions           

Property and equipment purchases in accounts payable and accrued expenses   $ 3,195    $ 559 
Intangible asset purchases in accounts payable and accrued expenses     —      226 
Operating lease right-of-use assets subject to lease liability     —      6,129 
Noncash reclassification of warrant liabilities to equity upon exercise     185,384      — 
Bonus settled in restricted stock units     6,969      11,443 
Net share settled stock option exercises     853      1,016 
Equity issued for acquisitions     2,405,998      — 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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IonQ, Inc. 
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 

(unaudited) 

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

IonQ, Inc. (“IonQ” or the “Company”) develops quantum computers, networks, and sensors designed to solve some of the world’s most 
complex problems, and transform business, society, and the planet for the better. To operate these quantum products, the Company has 
developed custom hardware, custom firmware, and an operating system. The Company also offers satellite-based data capabilities and satellite 
solutions intended to enable quantum-secure global communications.

Today, the Company sells specialized quantum computing, networking and sensing hardware together with related maintenance and 
support. It also sells access to several quantum computers and is in the process of researching and developing technologies for quantum 
computers with increasing computational capabilities. It currently makes access to its quantum computers available through three major cloud 
platforms, Amazon Web Services’s Amazon Braket, Microsoft’s Azure Quantum and Google’s Cloud Marketplace, and also to select customers 
through its own cloud service. This cloud-based approach enables the broad availability of quantum-computing-as-a-service.

The Company also supplements its offerings with professional services focused on assisting customers in applying quantum computing and 
networking to their businesses, and it offers quantum networking and sensing products that offer customers secure communication networks and 
enable networked quantum computing. 

The Company also offers satellite imagery and data from its constellation of satellites through a self-service platform as well as customer 
solutions for specialized satellite development capabilities.

The Company pursues its business goals both through organic innovation and development, and targeted acquisitions of complementary 
businesses.  For a discussion of the impact of recent acquisitions on our business and the benefits that we expect them to provide, refer to Note 3.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Significant Accounting Policies 

The Company’s significant accounting policies, which are disclosed in the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2024, and the notes thereto, are included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report”) that was filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on February 26, 2025. Since the date of that filing, there have been no material changes to the Company’s 
significant accounting policies except as noted below. 

Basis of Preparation 

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles (“U.S. GAAP”) as determined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”). Such condensed consolidated financial 
statements include the accounts of IonQ and majority-owned and wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and balances have 
been eliminated in consolidation. For consolidated non-wholly-owned subsidiaries, a noncontrolling interest is recognized to reflect the portion 
of income and equity that is not attributable to the Company.

Unaudited Interim Financial Information 

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q have been prepared by the 
Company and are unaudited, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in 
financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. However, 
the Company believes that the disclosures contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q comply with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), for a quarterly report and are adequate to make the information presented 
not misleading. The interim condensed consolidated financial statements included herein reflect all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring 
adjustments) which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position, results of operations and cash 
flows for the interim periods presented. These interim condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the 
financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2024, included in the Annual Report. The condensed consolidated 
statements of operations and the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive loss for the three or nine months ended September 30, 
2025, are not necessarily indicative of the results to be anticipated for the entire year ending December 31, 2025, or thereafter. All references to 
September 30, 2025 and 2024, in the notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited. 



 

8

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP and the rules and regulations of the SEC 
require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in these condensed consolidated financial statements 
and accompanying notes. 

Significant estimates and assumptions are inherent in the analysis and measurement of items including, but not limited to: standalone 
selling price for revenue arrangements with multiple performance obligations, total expected costs for revenue arrangements recognized over 
time under the cost-to-cost percentage of completion model, capitalization of quantum computing system and satellite costs, useful lives for 
quantum computing systems and satellites, estimates of the fair value of intangible assets acquired in business combinations, estimates of the fair 
value of warrant liabilities, and stock-based compensation for awards with performance and market conditions. Management bases its estimates 
and assumptions on historical experience, expectations, forecasts, and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results reported in future periods may differ and be affected 
by changes in those estimates. 

Foreign Currency

The reporting currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar. Financial statements of subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the U.S. 
dollar are translated at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date for assets and liabilities and at average exchange rates for revenues and 
expenses for the respective periods. Translation adjustments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the condensed 
consolidated balance sheets. 

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk to the extent that it enters into transactions denominated in currencies other than its 
subsidiaries’ respective functional currencies. Transactions denominated in currencies other than subsidiaries’ functional currencies are recorded 
based on exchange rates at the time such transactions arise. Changes in exchange rates with respect to amounts recorded in the Company’s 
condensed consolidated balance sheets related to these items will result in unrealized foreign currency transaction gains and losses based upon 
period-end exchange rates. The Company also records realized foreign currency transaction gains and losses upon settlement of the transactions. 
Foreign currency transaction gains and losses resulting from the conversion of the transaction currency to functional currency are included in 
other income (expense), net in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Fair Value Measurements 

The Company evaluates the fair value of certain assets and liabilities using the fair value hierarchy. Fair value is an exit price representing 
the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. Fair value is estimated by applying the following hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three 
levels and bases the categorization within the hierarchy upon the lowest level of input that is available and significant to the fair value 
measurement: 

• Level 1—Observable inputs, which include quoted prices in active markets; 

• Level 2—Observable inputs other than the quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly, such as 
quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other inputs such as broker quotes, benchmark yield curves, credit spreads and market 
interest rates for similar securities that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term 
of the assets or liabilities; 

• Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are based on management’s assumptions, 
including fair value measurements determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies or similar techniques. 

The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurements requires judgment and may affect the 
valuation of the assets and liabilities being measured and their placement within the fair value hierarchy. 

For assets that are measured using quoted prices in active markets, the total fair value is the published market price per unit multiplied by 
the number of units held, without consideration of transaction costs. Assets and liabilities that are measured using significant other observable 
inputs are primarily valued by reference to quoted prices of similar assets or liabilities in active markets, adjusted for any terms specific to that 
asset or liability. Assets that are measured using unobservable inputs, including investments in convertible debt securities of privately-held 
companies, use the market or income approach and may involve pricing models whose inputs require significant judgment or estimation. The 
inputs in these valuations may include, but are not limited to, capitalization and discount rates and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, 
and amortization (“EBITDA”) multiples. Liabilities that are measured using unobservable inputs, including warrant liabilities, use the Black-
Scholes-Merton (“Black-Scholes”) option-pricing model and may involve inputs which require significant judgment or estimation, including 
expected volatility.
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Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis include property and equipment, intangible assets, and 
goodwill. The Company recognizes these items at fair value upon initial recognition when acquired through a business combination or an asset 
acquisition or when they are considered to be impaired. The fair value of these assets and liabilities are determined with valuation techniques 
using the best information available and may include quoted market prices, market comparables and discounted cash flow models. 

Due to their short-term nature, the carrying amounts reported in the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements approximate 
the fair value for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses. 

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and checking deposits, money market funds, and U.S. government and agency securities. The 
Company considers all short-term highly liquid investments with an original maturity at the date of purchase of three months or less to be cash 
equivalents. Restricted cash for collateralizing letters of credit and certain other obligations is included in prepaid expenses and other current 
assets and other noncurrent assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The Company issues financial guarantees, including letters of 
credit, in the ordinary course of business, including for lease arrangements and regulatory requirements. Letters of credit totaling $5.2 million 
and $2.1 million were outstanding as of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash included in the condensed consolidated balance 
sheets to the amounts included in the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands): 

 
   September 30,     December 31,  
   2025     2024  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 346,032    $ 54,393 
Restricted cash     6,290      2,447 

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash in the 
   condensed consolidated statements of cash flows   $ 352,322    $ 56,840 

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses 

Accounts receivable are non-interest bearing and represent amounts billed and currently due from customers at the gross invoiced amount 
as well as unbilled amounts related to unconditional rights for consideration to be received for services performed but not yet invoiced. A 
receivable is recorded when the Company has an unconditional right to receive payment. Accounts receivable consists of the following (in 
thousands): 
 

   September 30,     December 31,  
   2025     2024  

Billed accounts receivable   $ 12,578    $ 6,516 
Unbilled accounts receivable     24,334      3,672 

Total accounts receivable   $ 36,912    $ 10,188 
 
On a periodic basis, management evaluates its accounts receivable and determines whether to provide an allowance for credit losses. This 

assessment is based on management’s evaluation of relevant information about past events, including historical experience, current conditions 
and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the receivable. 

Allowances for credit losses were not material as of either September 30, 2025 or December 31, 2024. 

Inventories, Net

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost computed using the weighted-average cost basis, and are 
recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheet. Inventories are evaluated regularly for excess 
quantities and obsolescence. This evaluation includes analysis of the Company’s current and future strategic plans, risk of technological 
obsolescence, and general market conditions. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, excess and obsolescence charges 
were not material.

Materials and Supplies, Net 

Materials and supplies, including spare parts, are carried at average cost and recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the 
condensed consolidated balance sheets. Materials and supplies used in the production of quantum computing systems and satellites are 
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capitalized to property and equipment when installed. Materials and supplies used to support customer contracts, for maintenance, or for research 
and development efforts are expensed when consumed. The Company capitalized $5.9 million and $1.9 million of materials and supplies to 
property and equipment for the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and $10.1 million and $4.5 million of materials 
and supplies to property and equipment for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

Materials and supplies are evaluated regularly for excess quantities and obsolescence. This evaluation includes analysis of the Company's 
current and future strategic plans, risk of technological obsolescence, and general market conditions. During the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 2025, excess and obsolescence charges were $0.7 million and $1.2 million, respectively, and during the three and nine months 
ended September 30, 2024, excess and obsolescence charges were $1.0 million and $1.1 million, respectively. 

Investments 

Management determines the appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase based upon management’s intent with regard 
to such investments. The Company primarily invests in debt securities and classifies its investments as available-for-sale at the time of purchase 
if they are available to support either current or future operations. This classification is re-evaluated at each balance sheet date. Investments not 
considered cash equivalents with remaining contractual maturities of one year or less from the balance sheet date are classified as short-term 
investments, and those with remaining contractual maturities greater than one year from the balance sheet date are classified as long-term 
investments. All investments are recorded at their estimated fair value, and any unrealized gains and losses are recorded in the condensed 
consolidated balance sheets in accumulated other comprehensive income loss. Realized gains and losses on sales and maturities of investments 
are determined based on the specific identification method and are recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations in other 
income (expense), net. Accrued interest receivable on available-for-sale investments is recorded in the condensed consolidated balance sheets in 
prepaid expenses and other current assets. 

The Company also invests in privately-held companies, consisting of convertible debt securities and simple agreements for future equity 
(“SAFE”) investments and classifies these investments in accordance with the terms of the underlying securities. Investments in securities of 
privately-held companies are included in other noncurrent assets on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. Convertible debt securities are 
primarily classified as available-for-sale investments, with changes in fair value recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). To 
the extent the Company elects the fair value option, when applicable, changes in fair value are recorded in other income (expense), net in the 
condensed consolidated statements of operations. SAFE investments without a readily determinable fair value are recorded using the 
measurement alternative. Such investments are carried at cost, less any impairments, and are adjusted for subsequent observable price changes in 
orderly transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer. Changes in the basis of the securities are recognized in other income 
(expense), net in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.  

The Company performs periodic evaluations to determine whether any declines in the fair value of investments below amortized cost are 
credit losses or impairments. The evaluation consists of qualitative and quantitative factors regarding the severity of the unrealized loss, as well 
as the Company’s ability and intent to hold the investments until a forecasted recovery occurs. Declines in fair value are considered to be credit 
losses if they are related to deterioration in credit risk or are considered impairments if it is likely that the underlying securities will be sold prior 
to a full recovery of their cost basis. Credit losses and impairments are determined based on the specific identification method and are reported in 
other income (expense), net in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. 

Property and Equipment, Net 

Property and equipment, net is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost of fixed assets is the cost as of the date 
acquired. Hardware and labor costs associated with the building of quantum computing systems, satellites, and supporting equipment are 
capitalized in the period the costs are incurred when it is probable that such costs will provide future economic benefit. The costs of quantum 
computing systems, satellites, and supporting equipment that are used in research and development activities and have alternative future uses are 
capitalized. Costs to maintain quantum computing systems are expensed as incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Useful lives are as follows: 
 
Computer equipment and acquired computer software    3 – 5 years
Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures    4 – 7 years
Quantum computing systems    3 years
Satellites    3 years
Leasehold improvements    Shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the related asset
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The Company evaluates the useful life of its assets periodically and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the useful 
life may have changed. In assessing useful lives, the Company considers, among other factors, the use of the asset, changes in technology, and 
the competitive environment. 

Leases 

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) 
assets and current operating lease liabilities and operating lease liabilities, net of current portion on the Company’s condensed consolidated 
balance sheets. As of September 30, 2025, the Company has no financing lease arrangements. The Company recognizes lease expense for its 
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

The Company records a ROU asset and lease liability in connection with its operating leases. The Company’s lease portfolio is comprised 
primarily of real estate leases, which are accounted for as operating leases. The Company elected the practical expedient to not separate lease and 
non-lease components for all leases. 

ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of the future minimum lease 
payments, including the impact of any lease incentives, as applicable, over the lease term. An amendment to a lease is assessed to determine if it 
represents a lease modification or a separate contract. Lease modifications are reassessed as of the effective date of the modification using an 
incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date. For modified leases, the Company also reassesses the 
lease classification as of the effective date of the modification.

The interest rate used to determine the present value of the future lease payments is the Company’s incremental borrowing rate, because 
the interest rate implicit in the Company’s leases is not readily determinable. The incremental borrowing rate is estimated to approximate the 
interest rate on a collateralized basis with similar terms and payments, and in economic environments where the leased asset is located. 

The Company’s lease terms include periods under options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company 
will exercise that option. The Company considers contractual-based factors such as the nature and terms of the renewal or termination, asset-
based factors such as physical location of the asset and entity-based factors such as the importance of the leased asset to the Company’s 
operations to determine the lease term. The Company generally uses the base non-cancelable lease term when determining the ROU assets and 
lease liabilities. 

Software Development Costs

The Company incurs software development costs for internal-use software, which the Company primarily uses to provide services to its 
customers, as well as for external-use software that will be part of a product to be sold, leased, or marketed.

Internal-Use Software

The costs to purchase and develop internal-use software are capitalized from the time that the preliminary project stage is completed, and it 
is considered probable that the software will be used to perform the function intended, until the time the software is placed in service for its 
intended use. Any costs incurred during subsequent efforts to upgrade and enhance the functionality of the software are also capitalized. Once the 
software is ready for its intended use, these costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software, which is 
typically assessed to be three years. Capitalized internal-use software is recorded within intangible assets, net, in the condensed consolidated 
balance sheets. During the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company capitalized $2.0 million and $1.7 million in internal-
use software costs, respectively, and during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company capitalized $5.4 million and $5.5 
million, respectively. The Company amortized $1.7 million and $1.4 million of capitalized internal-use software costs during the three months 
ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and $4.8 million and $3.8 million of capitalized internal-use software costs during the nine 
months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

External-Use Software

Costs incurred in researching and developing external-use software are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility is established. 
Once technological feasibility is established, software costs are capitalized until the product is available for general release to customers. 
Judgment is required in determining when technological feasibility of a product is established. Generally, this occurs shortly before the products 
are released to production. No external-use software costs were capitalized during any of the three or nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 
2024.
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Intangible Assets, Net 

The Company’s intangible assets include developed technology, customer relationships, intellectual property, non-compete agreements, 
patents, trademarks, website domain costs, and backlog. Intangible assets with identifiable useful lives are initially valued at acquisition cost and 
are amortized over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are assessed for 
impairment at least annually. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair values assigned to the net assets acquired in a business combination. The 
Company tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis, which it has determined to be the first day of the fourth quarter, and whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Company tests goodwill qualitatively, or 
quantitatively, by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with the unit’s carrying amount. No impairment loss was recognized for any of 
the three or nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024.

Business Combinations

The Company recognizes and measures the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination based on their estimated fair 
values at the acquisition date. Goodwill as of the acquisition date represents the excess of the purchase consideration of an acquired business over 
the fair value of the underlying net tangible and intangible assets acquired net of liabilities assumed. The purchase consideration is determined 
based on the fair value of the assets transferred and liabilities assumed after considering any transactions that are separate from the business 
combination. Any adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement period, not to exceed one year from the date of 
acquisition, are recorded in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are determined. Upon the conclusion of the measurement 
period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and other long-term assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. If circumstances require a long-lived asset or 
asset group be tested for possible impairment, the Company first compares undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by that asset or 
asset group to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow 
basis, an impairment is recognized to the extent the carrying amount of the underlying asset exceeds its fair value. Impairment losses were not 
material for any of the three or nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024. 

Warrant Liabilities 

The Company evaluates its financial instruments to determine if such instruments are derivatives or contain features that qualify as 
embedded derivatives in accordance with ASC Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging.” For derivative financial instruments that are accounted for 
as liabilities, including warrant liabilities, the derivative instrument is initially recorded at its fair value on the issuance date and is then re-valued 
upon exercise or at each reporting date for unexercised warrants, with changes in the fair value reported in the condensed consolidated statements 
of operations. The classification of derivative instruments, including whether such instruments should be recorded as liabilities or as equity, is 
evaluated at the end of each reporting period. Derivative warrant liabilities are classified as non-current liabilities as their liquidation is not 
reasonably expected to require the use of current assets or require the creation of current liabilities. 

Revenue Recognition 

The Company derives revenue from the design, development, construction and sale of specialized quantum computing hardware together 
with related maintenance and support, from the sale of quantum networking products together with related services and maintenance, from 
providing access to its quantum-computing-as-a-service (“QCaaS” or “Platform” services), from consulting services related to co-developing 
algorithms on the quantum computing systems, and from providing satellite imagery and data from its constellation of satellites through its 
online platform. The Company applies the provisions of the FASB Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”), Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (“ASC 606”), and all related applicable guidance. The core principle of ASC 606 is that an entity shall recognize revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services. 

To support this core principle, the Company applies the following five step approach: 

1. Identify the contract with the customer 

2. Identify the performance obligations 
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3. Determine the transaction price 

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations 

5. Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation 

Certain of the Company’s contracts contain multiple performance obligations, most commonly in contracts for the sale of specialized 
quantum computing hardware together with related maintenance and support and the sale of quantum networking products together with related 
services and maintenance. Certain contracts may also include access to the Company’s QCaaS. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each 
distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when or as the performance obligation is satisfied. When there are multiple 
performance obligations in a contract, the Company allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation based on its standalone selling 
price when available. The Company determines standalone selling price based on the observable price of a product or service when it sells the 
products or services separately in similar circumstances and to similar customers. Certain products and services have limited or no history of 
being sold on a standalone basis, requiring the Company to estimate the standalone selling price. The Company estimates the standalone selling 
price based on other contracts for similar products and services adjusted for differing terms than the contract being evaluated, as well as internal 
pricing guidelines and market factors. In addition, the Company takes into consideration the estimated costs to be incurred to satisfy the 
performance obligation plus an appropriate profit margin.  

Performance obligations are satisfied over time if the customer receives the benefits as the Company performs the work, if the customer 
controls the asset as it is being produced (continuous transfer of control), or if the product being produced for the customer has no alternative use 
and the Company has a contractual right to payment for performance to date. For performance obligations related to specialized quantum 
computing hardware and consulting services as well as customer solutions for specialized satellite development capabilities, revenue is 
recognized over time based on the efforts incurred to date relative to the total expected effort, primarily based on a cost-to-cost input measure. 
The Company applies judgment to determine a reasonable method to measure progress and to estimate total expected effort. Factors considered 
in these estimates include the Company’s historical performance, the availability, productivity and cost of labor, the nature and complexity of 
work to be performed, the effect of change orders, availability and cost of materials, and the effect of any delays in performance. For 
performance obligations related to quantum networking products and related services, revenue is recognized at the point in time when control 
passes to the customer, which is generally at the shipping point based on customary incoterms, or upon completion of the required services.

The Company has determined that its QCaaS contracts represent a combined, stand-ready performance obligation to provide access to its 
quantum computing systems together with related maintenance and support. Additionally, the Company has determined that its contracts to 
provide satellite imagery and data also represent a stand-ready performance obligation. The transaction price generally consists of a fixed fee for 
a minimum volume of usage or images to be made available over a defined period of access. Fixed fee arrangements may also include a variable 
component whereby customers pay an amount for usage over contractual minimums contained in the contracts. For performance obligations 
related to providing QCaaS access or satellite imagery and data, fixed fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over the access period. Variable 
usage fees are recognized in the period they occur. The Company has determined that contracts that contain consulting services related to co-
developing quantum computing algorithms and the ability to use its quantum computing systems to run such algorithms represent a combined 
performance obligation that is satisfied over-time.    

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, the majority of revenue was recognized based on transfer of service 
over time. In arrangements with cloud service providers, the cloud service provider is considered the customer and the Company does not have 
any contractual relationships with the cloud service providers’ end users. For these arrangements, revenue is recognized at the amount charged to 
the cloud service provider and does not reflect any mark-up to the end user. 

The Company may enter into multiple contracts with a single counterparty at or near the same time. The Company will combine contracts 
and account for them as a single contract when one or more of the following criteria are met: (i) the contracts are negotiated as a package with a 
single commercial objective; (ii) consideration to be paid in one contract depends on the price or performance of the other contract; and (iii) 
goods or services promised are a single performance obligation. Consideration payable to a customer includes cash amounts that an entity pays, 
or expects to pay, to the customer. For arrangements that contain consideration payable to a customer, the Company uses judgment in 
determining whether such payments are a reduction of the transaction price or a payment to the customer for a distinct good or service. 

The variable fees associated with the QCaaS and satellite imagery and data contracts are generally billed a month in arrears. Customers 
also have the ability to make advance payments. Advance payments are recorded as a contract liability until services are delivered or obligations 
are met and revenue is earned. Contract liabilities to be recognized in the succeeding 12-month period are classified as current and the remaining 
amounts are classified as non-current liabilities in the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets. 

Assets Recognized from Costs to Obtain a Contract 

Sales commissions paid to employees and third parties are considered incremental costs to obtain a contract with a customer. These costs 
are capitalized in the period a customer contract is executed and are amortized as an expense consistent with the transfer of the goods or services 
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to the customer. Capitalized costs are recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets and other noncurrent assets in the condensed 
consolidated balance sheets. Applying the practical expedient, the Company recognizes the incremental costs of obtaining contracts as an 
expense when incurred if the amortization period of the assets is one year or less. As of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, total 
capitalized costs were $2.1 million and $2.4 million, respectively. Amortization expense was $0.4 million for the three months ended September 
30, 2025 and 2024, and $1.1 million and $1.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and is included in 
sales and marketing in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. 

Research and Development 

Research and development expenses consist of personnel-related costs, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation, and 
allocated overhead costs for the Company’s research and development function. Research and development is attributable to the advancing 
technology research, platform and infrastructure development, and the research and development of new product iterations, including quantum 
computing systems and networks and satellites. Design and development efforts continue throughout the useful life of the Company’s quantum 
computing systems and satellites to ensure proper calibration and optimal functionality. Research and development expenses also include 
purchased hardware and software costs related to quantum computing systems constructed for research purposes that are not probable of 
providing future economic benefit and have no alternate future use, as well as costs associated with third-party research and development 
arrangements. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

The Company measures and records the expense related to stock-based awards based on the fair value of those awards as determined on 
the date of grant. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service period of the individual grant, generally 
equal to the vesting period, and uses the straight-line method to recognize stock-based compensation. The Company uses the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model to determine the estimated fair value for stock options. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the use of 
subjective assumptions, which determine the fair value of stock option awards, including the option’s expected term, the price volatility of the 
underlying common stock, risk-free interest rates, and the expected dividend yield of the common stock. The assumptions used to determine the 
fair value of the stock options represent management’s best estimates. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of 
management’s judgment. The Company records forfeitures as they occur. 

Stock-based compensation cost for restricted stock units, performance-based restricted stock units, and restricted common stock is 
measured based on the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. The fair value of performance-based restricted stock units 
with a market condition is estimated on the date of grant using the Monte Carlo simulation model. The Monte Carlo simulation model requires 
the use of subjective assumptions, which determine the fair value of these awards, including price volatility, contractual term, discount rate, risk-
free interest rates, and the expected dividend yield of the common stock. The assumptions used to determine the fair value of the performance-
based restricted stock awards represent management’s best estimates. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of 
management’s judgment. For awards with a performance-based vesting condition, including those with a market condition, the Company records 
stock-based compensation cost if it is probable that the performance conditions will be achieved. Stock-based compensation cost will be 
recognized if the performance condition is satisfied, even if the market condition is not met and the award does not vest. At each reporting 
period, the Company reassesses the probability of the achievement of the performance conditions and any change in expense resulting from an 
adjustment in the estimated shares to be released is treated as a cumulative catch-up in the period of the adjustment.  

The Company records stock-based compensation expense for incentive compensation liabilities based on estimated payments to employees 
for which the Company expects to settle the liability by granting restricted stock units. For these awards, stock-based compensation expense is 
accrued commencing at the service inception date, which generally precedes the grant date, through the end of the requisite service period. 

Income Taxes 

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences in 
recognizing certain income, expense and credit items for financial reporting purposes and tax reporting purposes. Such deferred income taxes 
primarily relate to the difference between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial reporting amounts. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are measured by applying enacted statutory tax rates applicable to the future years in which deferred tax assets or liabilities are 
expected to be settled or realized. 

The Company records a valuation allowance when it determines, based on available positive and negative evidence, that it is not more-
likely-than-not that some portion or all of its deferred tax assets will be realized. 
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Concentrations of Credit Risk 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, 
restricted cash, investments, and trade accounts receivable. The Company maintains the majority of its cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, 
and investments with several high credit quality financial institutions. The Company’s deposits routinely exceed amounts guaranteed by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. 

The Company’s accounts receivable are derived from customers primarily located in the U.S., including the U.S. government. The 
Company performs periodic evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and generally does not require its customers to provide collateral or 
other security to support accounts receivable and maintains an allowance for credit losses. Credit losses historically have not been material. 

Significant customers are those that represent more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue. For the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 2025, the Company had three significant customers that accounted for 61% of total revenue and two significant customers that 
accounted for 54% of total revenue, respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company had two significant 
customers that accounted for 84% and 79% of total revenue, respectively.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock 
outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares of 
common stock during the period, plus common stock equivalents, outstanding during the period. If the Company reports a net loss, the 
computation of diluted loss per share excludes the effect of dilutive common stock equivalents, as their effect would be antidilutive. 

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable to common stockholders (in thousands, 
except share and per share data): 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
Numerator:   2025     2024     2025     2024  

Net loss   $ (1,055,612)  $ (52,496)  $ (1,265,394)  $ (129,649)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests   $ 657   $ —   $ 1,349   $ — 
Net loss attributable to IonQ, Inc. common 
   stockholders for basic and diluted net loss 
   per share   $ (1,054,955)  $ (52,496)  $ (1,264,045)  $ (129,649)

Denominator:                     
Weighted average shares used in computing net loss 
   per share attributable to IonQ, Inc. common 
   stockholders—basic and diluted     294,524,786     214,305,053     258,324,714     211,378,045 
Net loss per share attributable to IonQ, Inc. common 
   stockholders—basic and diluted   $ (3.58)   $ (0.24)   $ (4.89)   $ (0.61)

 
In periods with a reported net loss, the effect of stock options, warrants, unvested restricted stock units, unvested performance-based 

restricted stock units, and unvested common stock (including unvested restricted common stock) are excluded and diluted loss per share is equal 
to basic loss per share. The following is a summary of the weighted average common stock equivalents for the securities outstanding during the 
respective periods that have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per common share:  
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024     2025     2024  

Common stock options outstanding     7,967,193      18,693,271      11,972,668      19,715,840 
Warrants to purchase common stock     35,269,625      13,529,455      13,527,921      13,529,455 
Unvested restricted stock units     14,123,062      16,087,407      14,542,660      16,478,732 
Unvested performance-based restricted stock units     5,118,952      1,918,817      3,025,625      1,970,331 
Unvested restricted stock     4,279,209      —      1,947,801      — 
Unvested early exercised stock options     74,133      283,401      132,290      331,546 

Total     66,832,174      50,512,351      45,148,965      52,025,904 
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted 

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvement to Income Tax Disclosures to enhance the 
transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures. ASU 2023-09 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, 
on a prospective basis, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard update on its 
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement -- Reporting Comprehensive Income -- Expense Disaggregation 
Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, which requires additional expense disclosures by public business 
entities in the notes to the financial statements. ASU 2024-03 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim 
periods beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting 
standard update on its financial statement disclosures.

In July 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-05, Financial Instruments -- Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses for 
Accounts Receivable and Contract Assets, to introduce a practical expedient for all entities, which simplifies the calculation required for 
estimating credit losses and assumes that current conditions as of the balance sheet date do not change for the remaining life of the asset. ASU 
2025-05 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2025, and interim reporting periods within those annual reporting 
periods, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard update to its consolidated 
financial statements and related disclosures.

In September 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-06, Intangibles -- Goodwill and Other -- Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): 
Targeted Improvements to the Accounting for Internal-Use Software, to modernize the capitalization criteria for internal-use software, 
eliminating references to project stages and instead requiring that projects meet completion probability criteria before costs can be capitalized. 
ASU 2025-06 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027, and for interim periods within those annual reporting 
periods, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard update to its consolidated 
financial statements and related disclosures.

3. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

2025 Acquisitions

During 2025, the Company completed five acquisitions, for which each of the purchase price allocations are based on preliminary 
information and subject to change. Upon completion of the final purchase price allocations, the final fair values of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed and resulting goodwill may differ materially from the preliminary assessment. The Company has estimated the preliminary fair values 
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in each acquisition based on information currently available and will continue to adjust those estimates 
as additional information pertaining to events or circumstances present at the acquisition date becomes available during the measurement period.

The Company incurred approximately $28.8 million in transaction costs, which were primarily related to fees associated with financial and 
legal advisors, related to closed and pending acquisitions. Transactions costs were recorded in general and administrative expenses in the 
condensed consolidated statements of operations.

The Company has included the revenue and expenses of each acquisition in its condensed consolidated statements of operations from the 
date of acquisition.

Oxford Ionics Limited

On September 16, 2025, the Company acquired Oxford Ionics Limited (“Oxford Ionics”) for approximately $1,589.7 million of total 
consideration (the “Oxford Ionics Acquisition”). The Oxford Ionics Acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. The Oxford Ionics 
Acquisition accelerates the Company’s technology roadmap for more powerful, high-fidelity quantum computers and supports the Company’s 
global expansion. 

The following table summarizes the components of the purchase consideration to acquire Oxford Ionics (in thousands): 
 
Cash   $ 10,000 
Fair value of common stock issued     1,579,670 

Total purchase consideration   $ 1,589,670 

 
(1) Reflects 25,372,150 shares of the Company’s common stock issued in the acquisition, multiplied by the closing price of the Company’s 

common stock on the closing date. These shares are inclusive of 149,169 shares withheld to cover employee tax obligations. 

(1)
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The following table summarizes the preliminary fair values of Oxford Ionics’s assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition 
date (in thousands):

 
    Preliminary Fair Value  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 8,722 
Accounts receivable     758 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     16,185 
Property and equipment     5,334 
Operating lease right-of-use assets     4,977 
Intangible assets     423,581 
Goodwill     1,261,472 
Accounts payable     (23,339)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     (11,510)
Operating lease liabilities     (4,735)
Unearned revenue     (1,937)
Other noncurrent liabilities     (89,838)

Total fair value of net assets acquired   $ 1,589,670 
 
The goodwill of $1,261.5 million is primarily attributable to specialized assembled workforce and expected future synergies from 

combining operations. The Company does not expect the goodwill from this acquisition to be deductible for income tax purposes. Identifiable 
intangibles recognized primarily consists of $422.9 million in developed technology with an estimated useful life of seven years. Fair values of 
intangible assets were determined using income approaches, including the multi-period excess earnings and the relief from royalty methods.

Capella Space Corporation

On July 11, 2025, the Company acquired Capella Space Corp. (“Capella”) for approximately $424.8 million of total consideration (the 
“Capella Acquisition”). The Capella Acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. The Capella Acquisition supports the Company’s 
mission to develop a space-to-space and space-to-ground satellite quantum key distribution networks to enable quantum-secure global 
communications. 

The following table summarizes the components of the purchase consideration to acquire Capella (in thousands): 
 
Cash   $ 48,349 
Fair value of common stock issued     376,483 

Total purchase consideration   $ 424,832 

 
(1) Reflects 9,004,626 shares of the Company’s common stock issued in the acquisition, multiplied by the closing price of the Company’s 

common stock on the closing date. These shares are inclusive of 1,584,918 shares held in escrow. The escrowed shares are expected to be 
released within 18 months after the close of the Capella Acquisition, subject to reductions for indemnity claims and working capital 
adjustments.

(1)
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The following table summarizes the preliminary fair values of Capella’s assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date 
(in thousands):

 
    Preliminary Fair Value  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 5,019 
Accounts receivable     4,527 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     19,388 
Property and equipment     52,009 
Operating lease right-of-use assets     5,977 
Intangible assets     101,700 
Goodwill     259,490 
Other noncurrent assets     3,220 
Accounts payable     (2,271)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     (13,044)
Operating lease liabilities     (6,136)
Unearned revenue     (3,090)
Other noncurrent liabilities     (1,957)

Total fair value of net assets acquired   $ 424,832 
 
The goodwill of $259.5 million is primarily attributable to growth opportunities from the expansion of the Company’s product offerings. 

The Company does not expect the goodwill from this acquisition to be deductible for income tax purposes. Identifiable intangibles recognized 
consist of $82.9 million in developed technology with an estimated useful life of 7 years, $14.6 million in trademarks with an estimated useful 
life of 10 years, and $4.2 million in customer relationships with an estimated useful life of 10 years. Fair values of intangible assets were 
determined using income approaches, including the relief from royalty and multi-period excess earnings methods.

Capella’s revenue since the acquisition date to September 30, 2025, included in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of 
operations was $9.6 million.

id Quantique SA

On April 30, 2025, the Company acquired a controlling stake in id Quantique SA (“IDQ”) for approximately $116.2 million of total 
consideration (the “IDQ Acquisition”). The IDQ Acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. As of the acquisition date, the 
Company acquired approximately 86% of the outstanding shares of IDQ. A noncontrolling interest was recognized at fair value on the 
acquisition date, which was determined to be the noncontrolling interest’s proportionate share of the acquirees’ identifiable net assets. The 
acquisition supports the Company’s quantum networking capabilities by expanding its quantum networking expertise and technology portfolio, 
including quantum-safe communications and quantum detection systems. 

The following table summarizes the components of the purchase consideration to acquire IDQ (in thousands): 
 
Fair value of common stock issued   $ 113,064 
Fair value of equity awards     3,153 

Total purchase consideration   $ 116,217 

 
(1) Reflects 4,117,439 shares of the Company’s common stock issued in the acquisition, multiplied by the closing price of the Company’s 

common stock on the closing date. These shares are inclusive of 778,564 shares held in escrow. The escrowed shares are expected to be 
released within 18 months after the close of the IDQ Acquisition, subject to reductions for indemnity claims.  

(2) Reflects the conversion and issuance of certain equity awards, including stock options. Refer to Note 14 for further details on the 
Company’s share-based compensation awards, including awards issued in connection with acquisitions.     

(1)

(2)
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The following table summarizes the preliminary fair values of IDQ’s assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including measurement period 
adjustments, as of the acquisition date (in thousands):

 

   
Preliminary Fair 

Value  
 

Measurement 
Period 

Adjustments
 
 

Adjusted Fair 
Value  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 9,963   $ —   $ 9,963 
Accounts receivable     4,616     —     4,616 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     9,759     —     9,759 
Property and equipment     978     —     978 
Operating lease right-of-use assets     2,246     —     2,246 
Intangible assets     42,751     —     42,751 
Goodwill     84,608     (2,700)    81,908 
Other noncurrent assets     972     —     972 
Accounts payable     (2,223)    —     (2,223)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     (3,810)    —     (3,810)
Operating lease liabilities     (2,245)    —     (2,245)
Unearned revenue     (7,150)    —     (7,150)
Other noncurrent liabilities     (4,630)    —     (4,630)
Noncontrolling interest     (16,918)    —     (16,918)

Total fair value of net assets acquired   $ 118,917   $ (2,700)  $ 116,217 
 
The current period measurement period adjustments were $2.7 million, primarily related a reduction in purchase price and goodwill upon 

the settlement of the working capital adjustment.   

The goodwill of $81.9 million is primarily attributable to increased offerings to customers and enhanced opportunities for growth and 
innovation. The Company does not expect the goodwill from this acquisition to be deductible for income tax purposes. Identifiable intangibles 
recognized consist of $23.6 million in developed technology with an estimated useful life of 7 years, $8.5 million in non-compete agreements 
and $8.2 million in customer relationships, each with an estimate useful life of 2 years, and $2.4 million in trademarks with an estimated useful 
life of 5 years. Fair values of intangible assets were determined using income approaches, including the relief from royalty, and the cost 
approach.

IDQ’s revenue since the acquisition date to September 30, 2025, included in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of 
operations was $9.0 million.

In July 2025, the Company acquired additional shares of IDQ, increasing the Company’s total ownership to approximately 91%. The 
acquisition was accounted for as an equity transaction as there was no change in control.

Lightsynq Technologies Inc.

On May 30, 2025, the Company acquired Lightsynq Technologies Inc. (“Lightsynq”) for approximately $306.8 million of total 
consideration (the “Lightsynq Acquisition”). The Lightsynq Acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. The acquisition supports 
the Company’s quantum computing and networking capabilities by expanding its quantum memory and photonic interconnects technology 
portfolio. 

The following table summarizes the components of the purchase consideration to acquire Lightsynq (in thousands): 
 
Cash   $ 100 
Fair value of common stock issued     250,127 
Fair value of equity awards     56,604 

Total purchase consideration   $ 306,831 
 

(1) Reflects 6,200,474 shares of the Company’s common stock issued in the acquisition, multiplied by the closing price of the Company’s 
common stock on the closing date. These shares are inclusive of 646,986 shares held in escrow. The escrowed shares are expected to be 
released within 12 months after the close of the Lightsynq Acquisition, subject to reductions for indemnity claims and working capital 
adjustments.

(1)

(2)
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(2) Reflects the conversion and issuance of certain equity awards, including stock options. Refer to Note 14 for further details on the 
Company’s share-based compensation awards, including awards issued in connection with acquisitions.    

The following table summarizes the preliminary fair values of Lightsynq’s assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including measurement 
period adjustments, as of the acquisition date (in thousands):

 

   
Preliminary Fair 

Value  
 

Measurement 
Period 

Adjustments
 
 

Adjusted Fair 
Value  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 16,854   $ —   $ 16,854 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     123     —     123 
Property and equipment     6,476     —     6,476 
Intangible assets     61,200     6,400     67,600 
Goodwill     242,260     (4,806)    237,454 
Accounts payable     (161)    —     (161)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     (4,621)    6     (4,615)
Deferred tax liabilities     (15,300)     (1,600)    (16,900)

Total fair value of net assets acquired   $ 306,831   $ —   $ 306,831 
 
The current period measurement period adjustments were $4.8 million, primarily related to intangible assets and deferred tax liabilities, 

with an offset to goodwill. 

The goodwill of $237.5 million is primarily attributable to Lightsynq’s specialized assembled workforce and expected future synergies 
from combining operations. The Company does not expect the goodwill from this acquisition to be deductible for income tax purposes. 
Identifiable intangibles recognized consist of $67.6 million in developed technology with an estimated useful life of 5 years. Fair values of 
intangible assets were preliminarily estimated using the cost approach. 

Other Acquisitions

On June 9, 2025, the Company acquired a market intelligence business for total consideration of approximately $40.6 million, including 
$36.2 million of stock consideration and $4.4 million of contingent consideration. The stock consideration is comprised of 903,195 shares of the 
Company’s common stock, of which, 47,750 shares are held in escrow and are expected to be released within 12 months after the close of the 
acquisition, subject to reductions for indemnity claims and working capital adjustments. The fair value of the contingent consideration was 
determined using a Monte Carlo simulation and is recorded within other noncurrent liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. 

The following table summarizes the preliminary fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date (in 
thousands): 

 

   
Preliminary Fair 

Value  
 

Measurement 
Period 

Adjustments
 
 

Adjusted Fair 
Value  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 1,950   $ —   $ 1,950 
Accounts receivable     559     —     559 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     41     —     41 
Intangible assets     13,400     —     13,400 
Goodwill     30,092     203     30,295 
Accounts payable     (769)    —     (769)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     (117)    (203)    (320)
Unearned revenue     (997)     —     (997)
Deferred tax liabilities     (3,550)    —     (3,550)

Total fair value of net assets acquired   $ 40,609    $ —   $ 40,609 

The goodwill of $30.3 million is primarily attributable to expected future synergies from combining operations. The Company does not 
expect the goodwill from this acquisition to be deductible for income tax purposes. Identifiable intangibles recognized consist of $12.2 million in 
customer relationships and $1.2 million in trademarks, each with an estimated useful life of 7 years. Fair values of intangible assets were 
determined using a benchmarking approach based on comparable transactions with the acquired business' industry peer group.
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Pro Forma Results of Operations

The following table summarizes the unaudited pro forma consolidated revenue of the Company as if each of the acquisitions described 
above had been completed on January 1, 2024 (in thousands):

 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024     2025     2024  

Revenue   $ 41,628    $ 30,724    $ 100,661    $ 79,596 
 
The pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that would have occurred had the acquisitions been 

made at the beginning of the periods presented or the future results of the combined operations. Unaudited pro forma consolidated net loss is not 
presented as the impacts are not significant to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

2024 Acquisition

Qubitekk Federal, LLC

On December 27, 2024, the Company acquired Qubitekk Federal, LLC (“Qubitekk”) for total consideration of approximately $22.1 million 
in cash, of which $15.5 million was paid at closing, with the remainder to be paid over the 18 months following the acquisition date, subject to 
reductions for indemnities, working capital adjustments, and certain other conditions that existed at the acquisition date. The holdback liabilities 
are recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The acquisition supports the 
Company’s quantum networking capabilities by expanding its quantum networking expertise and technology portfolio. The Company incurred 
approximately $1.5 million in acquisition costs, which were primarily related to fees associated with financial and legal advisors and were 
recorded in general and administrative expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024. 

The purchase price allocation is preliminary and subject to change. Upon completion of the final purchase price allocation, the final fair 
values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed and resulting goodwill may differ materially from the preliminary assessment. The Company has 
estimated the preliminary fair values of Qubitekk assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on information currently available and will 
continue to adjust those estimates as additional information pertaining to events or circumstances present at the acquisition date becomes 
available during the measurement period. The current period adjustments were $0.8 million, primarily related intangible assets, with an offset to 
goodwill. The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, 
including measurement period adjustments, as of the acquisition date (in thousands):

 

   
Preliminary Fair 

Value  
 

Measurement 
Period 

Adjustments
 
 

Updated 
Preliminary Fair 

Value
 

Accounts receivable   $ 400   $ (24)  $ 376 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     531     340     871 
Intangible assets     11,900     (1,050)    10,850 
Goodwill     9,220     772     9,992 
Other noncurrent assets     3     —     3 
Unearned revenue     —     (25)    (25)

Total fair value of net assets acquired   $ 22,054   $ 13   $ 22,067 
 
The goodwill of $10.0 million is primarily attributable to Qubitekk’s specialized assembled workforce and expected future synergies from 

combining operations. The Company expects the goodwill from this acquisition will be deductible for income tax purposes. Identifiable 
intangibles recognized consist of $5.9 million in customer relationships, $4.0 million in developed technology, and $0.8 million in trademarks, 
each with estimated useful lives of 5 years, and $0.2 million in backlog with an estimated useful life of 1 year. Fair values of intangible assets 
were determined using income approaches, including the relief from royalty and multi-period excess earnings methods.

The Company has included the revenue and expenses of Qubitekk in its condensed consolidated financial statements from the date of 
acquisition. No summarized unaudited pro forma results are provided for the Qubitekk acquisition due to the immateriality of this acquisition 
relative to the Company’s condensed consolidated financial position and results of operations.
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4. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED CASH, AND INVESTMENTS 

The following table summarizes the Company’s unrealized gains and losses and estimated fair value of cash, cash equivalents, restricted 
cash, and investments in available-for-sale securities recorded in the condensed consolidated balance sheets (in thousands): 
 

   As of September 30, 2025     As of December 31, 2024  

  
Amortized

Cost    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    

Estimated
Fair

Value    
Amortized

Cost    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    

Estimated
Fair

Value  
Cash and money market funds   $ 301,408    $ —    $ —    $ 301,408    $ 33,204    $ —    $ —    $ 33,204 
Corporate notes and bonds     3,479      4      —      3,483      45,823      22      (53)     45,792 
U.S. government and agency     1,185,012      1,454      (99)     1,186,367      287,084      319      (118)     287,285 

Total cash, cash
   equivalents, restricted
   cash and investments   $ 1,489,899    $ 1,458    $ (99)   $ 1,491,258    $ 366,111    $ 341    $ (171)   $ 366,281 

 
Unrealized losses related to investments were primarily a result of interest rate fluctuations. The following tables present information about 

the Company’s investments in available-for-sale securities with gross unrealized losses and the length of time that individual securities have been 
in a continuous unrealized loss position (in thousands):
 

   As of September 30, 2025  
   Less than 12 Months     12 Months or Longer     Total  

   Fair Value    

Gross 
Unrealized

Losses     Fair Value    

Gross 
Unrealized

Losses     Fair Value    

Gross 
Unrealized

Loses  
U.S. government and agency   $ 148,664    $ (96)   $ 13,696    $ (3)   $ 162,360    $ (99)

Total   $ 148,664    $ (96)   $ 13,696    $ (3)   $ 162,360    $ (99)
 

   As of December 31, 2024  
   Less than 12 Months     12 Months or Longer     Total  

   Fair Value    

Gross 
Unrealized

Losses     Fair Value    

Gross 
Unrealized

Losses     Fair Value    

Gross 
Unrealized

Loses  
Corporate notes and bonds   $ —    $ —    $ 24,396    $ (53)   $ 24,396    $ (53)
U.S. government and agency     67,600      (111)     3,987      (7)     71,587      (118)

Total   $ 67,600    $ (111)   $ 28,383    $ (60)   $ 95,983    $ (171)
 
The Company did not have any allowance for credit losses as of either September 30, 2025 or December 31, 2024. The Company neither 

intends to, nor believes that it is more likely than not that it will be required to, sell its investments in an unrealized loss position before the 
recovery of the associated amortized cost basis. 

The estimated fair value of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and investments in available-for-sale securities as of 
September 30, 2025, aggregated by investment category and classified by contractual maturity date, is as follows (in thousands): 
 

  
1 Year
or Less    

Greater than 
1 Year     Total  

Cash and money market funds   $ 295,621    $ 5,787    $ 301,408 
Corporate notes and bonds     3,483      —      3,483 
U.S. government and agency     783,764      402,603      1,186,367 

Total   $ 1,082,868    $ 408,390    $ 1,491,258 
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5. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis and the level of inputs used for such 
measurements were as follows (in thousands): 
 

   Fair Value Measured as of  
    September 30, 2025  
   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  

Assets                     
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:                     

Cash and money market funds   $ 301,408    $ —    $ —    $ 301,408 
U.S. government and agency     —      50,914      —      50,914 

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   $ 301,408    $ 50,914    $ —    $ 352,322 
Short-term investments:                     

Corporate notes and bonds     —      3,483      —      3,483 
U.S. government and agency     —      732,850      —      732,850 

Total short-term investments   $ —    $ 736,333    $ —    $ 736,333 
Long-term investments:                     

U.S. government and agency     —      402,603      —      402,603 
Total long-term investments   $ —    $ 402,603    $ —    $ 402,603 
Total assets   $ 301,408    $ 1,189,850    $ —    $ 1,491,258 

Liabilities                     
Warrant liabilities   $ 86,299    $ —    $ 1,681,933    $ 1,768,232 
 

   Fair Value Measured as of  
    December 31, 2024  
   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  

Assets                     
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:                     

Cash and money market funds   $ 33,204    $ —    $ —    $ 33,204 
U.S. government and agency     —      23,636      —      23,636 

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   $ 33,204    $ 23,636    $ —    $ 56,840 
Short-term investments:                     

Corporate notes and bonds     —      43,868      —      43,868 
U.S. government and agency     —      242,028      —      242,028 

Total short-term investments   $ —    $ 285,896    $ —    $ 285,896 
Long-term investments:                     

Corporate notes and bonds     —      1,924      —      1,924 
U.S. government and agency     —      21,621      —      21,621 

Total long-term investments   $ —    $ 23,545    $ —    $ 23,545 
Total assets   $ 33,204    $ 333,077    $ —    $ 366,281 

Liabilities                     
Warrant liabilities   $ 70,688    $ —    $ —    $ 70,688 
 
(1) Includes money market funds associated with the Company’s overnight investment sweep account and cash collateralizing the Company’s 

financial guarantees and certain other obligations.  

The Company’s warrant liabilities are comprised of the public warrants and Series A private warrants. The Series A prefunded warrants 
were fully exercised as of September 30, 2025. Refer to Note 11 for further details. Transfers to/from Levels 1, 2, and 3 are recognized at the 
beginning of the reporting period. There were no transfers between levels during the current period.

The fair value of the Series A prefunded warrants and Series A private warrants (together, the “Series A Warrants”) was determined using 
Level 3 inputs. Management determined the fair value of the Series A Warrants using unobservable inputs in the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model. Inherent in the valuation were assumptions related to the expected stock-price volatility, expected term, risk-free interest rate, and 
dividend yield. The Company estimated the expected volatility based on the Company’s historical and implied stock price volatility. The 
expected term was assumed to be equivalent to the Series A Warrants’ remaining contractual term. The risk-free interest rate was estimated using 

(1)

(1)
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the yield on actively traded non-inflation-indexed U.S. treasury securities with contract maturities equal to the expected term. The dividend yield 
was based on the historical rate, which the Company anticipates remaining at zero.

The assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the Series A Warrants during the period are as follows: 
 

    September 30, 2025     July 9, 2025    
Risk-free interest rate     3.87%    4.07% 
Expected term (in years)   6.78      7.00   
Expected volatility     95.00%    95.00% 
Dividend yield     —%    —% 

Privately-Held Securities

During fiscal year 2025, the Company entered into certain agreements (“Investment Agreements”) to purchase convertible debt securities 
and SAFE investments of privately-held companies (each, an “Investee”). As of September 30, 2025, the total amount of privately-held securities 
included in other noncurrent assets on the condensed consolidated balance sheet was $28.0 million, including $23.0 million of convertible debt 
securities classified as available-for-sale investments and $5.0 million of SAFE investments. The Company did not record any material 
adjustments or impairments for the privately-held securities held as of September 30, 2025. The fair value of convertible debt securities is based 
on unobservable inputs and is classified as Level 3 in the hierarchy.

In connection with the Investment Agreements, each Investee and the Company entered into a commercial contract for access to the 
Company’s products and services. The Company assessed the commercial contracts under the guidance within ASC 606, Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers, as well as the commercial substance of the arrangement considering the customer’s ability and intention to pay as well 
as the Company’s obligation to perform under the contract. Based on its assessment, the Company concluded the commercial contracts are within 
the scope of ASC 606 and the Company will apply the principles within ASC 606 to measure and recognize revenue. During the three and nine 
months ended September 30, 2025, the Company recognized $0.9 million of revenue from the commercial contracts. 
 

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 

Property and equipment, net is composed of the following (in thousands): 
 

   September 30,     December 31,  
   2025     2024  

Quantum computing systems   $ 43,516    $ 38,374 
Satellites     54,755      — 
Leasehold improvements     25,051      17,921 
Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures     32,237      16,683 
Computer equipment and acquired computer software     10,227      7,395 

Gross property and equipment     165,786      80,373 
Less: accumulated depreciation     (46,222)     (27,612)

Total property and equipment, net   $ 119,564    $ 52,761 
 
Depreciation expense for the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, was $9.3 million and $3.5 million, respectively. 

Depreciation expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, was $18.9 million and $9.1 million, respectively.
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET 

Intangible assets, net is composed of the following (in thousands): 
 

   September 30,     December 31,  
   2025     2024  

Developed technology   $ 596,041    $ 4,293 
Customer relationships     30,830      7,700 
Internal-use software     26,670      21,301 
Trademark     19,960      377 
Non-compete agreements     8,781      — 
Patents     7,344      7,112 
Website and other     377      227 

Gross intangible assets     690,003      41,010 
Less: accumulated amortization     (34,094)     (11,541)

Total intangible assets, net   $ 655,909    $ 29,469 
 
Amortization expense for the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, was $14.9 million and $1.4 million, respectively. 

Amortization expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, was $22.5 million and $4.1 million, respectively.

8. OTHER BALANCE SHEET ACCOUNTS 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets are composed of the following (in thousands): 
 

   September 30,     December 31,  
   2025     2024  

Materials and supplies, net   $ 48,761    $ 18,658 
Inventories, net     8,661      — 
Prepaid expenses     8,791      4,890 
Accrued interest receivable     9,495      2,221 
Other current assets     20,317      2,556 

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets   $ 96,025    $ 28,325 
 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities are composed of the following (in thousands): 
 

   September 30,     December 31,  
   2025     2024  

Accrued salaries and other payroll liabilities   $ 39,150    $ 10,368 
Accrued professional services and transaction costs     26,464     936 
Acquisition holdback liabilities     5,600      3,300 
Accrued equipment and facilities liabilities     12,137      534 
Accrued expenses—other     8,505      1,673 

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities   $ 91,856    $ 16,811 
 

9. INVENTORIES, NET

Inventories, net is composed of the following (in thousands):
 

   September 30,  
   2025  

Raw materials   $ 7,300 
Work-in-process     7 
Finished goods     1,354 

Total inventories, net   $ 8,661 
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10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

From time to time, the Company may become subject to litigation and other legal or administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary 
course of business. When the Company becomes aware of a claim or potential claim, it assesses the likelihood of any loss or exposure. In 
accordance with authoritative guidance, the Company records loss contingencies in its financial statements only for matters with respect to which 
losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated. If the loss is not probable or the amount of loss cannot be reasonably estimated, the 
Company discloses the nature of the specific claim if the likelihood of a potential loss is reasonably possible and the amount involved is material. 
The Company continuously assesses the potential liability related to its pending litigation and revises its estimates when additional information 
becomes available. While it is not possible to predict the outcome of any such matter, based on its assessment of the facts and circumstances, the 
Company does not believe that any such matter, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on its balance sheet, results 
of operations or cash flows in a future period, and there were no legal proceedings pending other than those for which we have determined that 
the possibility of a material outflow is remote.

Warranties

The Company’s commercial services are typically warranted to perform in a manner consistent with general industry standards that are 
reasonably applicable and materially in accordance with the Company’s documentation under normal use and circumstances.

The Company’s arrangements generally include certain provisions for indemnifying customers against liabilities if its products or services 
infringe third-party intellectual property rights. To date, the Company has not incurred any material costs as a result of such obligations and has 
not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

Indemnities

In the ordinary course of business, the Company may provide indemnities of varying scope and terms to customers, vendors, lessors, 
investors, directors, officers, employees and other parties with respect to certain matters, including, but not limited to, losses arising out of the 
Company’s breach of such agreements, services to be provided by the Company or intellectual property infringement claims made by third 
parties. While the Company’s future obligations under certain of these agreements may contain limitations on liability for indemnification, other 
agreements do not contain such limitations and under such agreements it is not possible to predict the maximum potential amount of future 
payments due to the conditional nature of the Company’s obligations and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular 
agreement. Historically, payments made by the Company under such indemnities have not had a material effect on the Company’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. Additionally, the Company does not believe that any amounts that it may be required to 
pay under these indemnities in the future will be material to the Company’s business, financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. 

11. WARRANTS

In July 2025, the Company issued 3,855,557 Series A prefunded warrants and 36,042,530 Series A private warrants. Each Series A 
prefunded warrant and Series A private warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of common stock at a price of $0.0001 per share and 
$99.88 per share, respectively. As of September 30, 2025, there were no Series A prefunded warrants outstanding and there were 36,042,530 
Series A private warrants outstanding. The Series A private warrants are classified as liabilities and remeasured at each reporting period. Refer to 
Note 12 for further details.

In September 2021, the Company assumed 7,500,000 public warrants. As of September 30, 2025, there were 1,737,441 public warrants to 
purchase the Company’s common stock outstanding. Each warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one share of common stock at a price 
of $11.50 per share. The public warrants are classified as liabilities and remeasured at each reporting period. No public warrants have been 
redeemed by the Company as of September 30, 2025.

In November 2019, contemporaneously with a revenue arrangement, the Company entered into a contract, pursuant to which the Company 
agreed to issue warrants to a customer (the "Warrant Shares"), subject to certain vesting events. In August 2020, 543,152 of the Warrant Shares 
vested and became immediately exercisable. The exercise price for the vested Warrant Shares is $1.38 per share and the warrant is exercisable 
through November 2029. Effective November 2024, no additional Warrant Shares can vest pursuant to the terms of the warrant agreement.

12. EQUITY OFFERINGS

In February 2025, in connection with the commencement of an “at the market” offering program, the Company entered into an Equity 
Distribution Agreement (the “Equity Distribution Agreement”) with Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC and Needham & Company, LLC, as sales 
agents (the “Sales Agents”), pursuant to which the Company could offer and sell, from time to time, through or to the Sales Agents, shares of the 
Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, having an aggregate gross offering price of up to $500 million (the “2025 ATM 
Offering Program”). The Sales Agents were entitled to a commission of up to 3.25% of the gross proceeds of all shares sold under the Equity 
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Distribution Agreement. On March 10, 2025, the Company terminated the Equity Distribution Agreement, after which no further shares could be 
sold through the 2025 ATM Offering Program. Prior to its termination on March 10, 2025, the Company sold a total of 16,038,460 shares of 
common stock through the 2025 ATM Offering Program for an aggregate purchase price of $358.3 million, net of issuance costs of $14.3 
million. 

On July 7, 2025, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement with J.P. Morgan Securities LLC providing for the offer and sale of 
14,165,708 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, at a price of $55.49 per share; 3,855,557 Series A prefunded 
warrants, at a price of $55.49 less the Series A prefunded warrants exercise price; and 36,042,530 Series A private warrants at no additional 
consideration. The Warrants are exercisable immediately upon issuance and from time to time thereafter through and including July 9, 2032. 
Refer to Note 11 for further details. The offering closed on July 9, 2025 for aggregate proceeds of $977.2 million, net of issuance costs of $22.8 
million. Issuance costs were allocated to the liability-classified Series A Warrants and expensed upon completion of the equity offering. 

13. REVENUE

Disaggregated Revenue

The Company’s revenue disaggregated by revenue source is as follows (in thousands):
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024     2025     2024  

Quantum computing and networking hardware   $ 21,584    $ 6,345    $ 39,673    $ 17,301 
Platform, consulting and support services     18,282      6,055      28,453      14,062 

Total revenue   $ 39,866    $ 12,400    $ 68,126    $ 31,363 
 

The Company’s revenue disaggregated by customer location is as follows (in thousands):
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024     2025     2024  

United States   $ 28,742    $ 11,895    $ 49,748    $ 29,910 
International     11,124      505      18,378      1,453 

Total revenue   $ 39,866    $ 12,400    $ 68,126    $ 31,363 

Remaining Performance Obligations

As of September 30, 2025, approximately $141.1 million of revenue is expected to be recognized from remaining performance obligations 
that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied), including both funded (firm orders for which funding has been both authorized and appropriated by 
the customer) and unfunded (firm orders for which funding has not been appropriated) orders. Unexercised contract options are not included in 
remaining performance obligations until the time the option is exercised. The Company expects approximately 55% of the remaining 
performance obligations to be recognized as revenue within the next twelve months. 

Unearned Revenue

The following table summarizes the changes in unearned revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 (in thousands):
 

   Total  
Balance as of December 31, 2024   $ 10,678 
Revenue recognized     (10,214)
New deferrals, net     24,775 

Balance as of September 30, 2025   $ 25,239 
 

14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 

Equity Incentive Plans 

The Company sponsors the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”), which provided for the grant of share-based compensation to 
certain officers, directors, employees, consultants, and advisors. Subsequent to September 2021, no further awards were made pursuant to the 
2015 Plan. For awards granted under the 2015 Plan, vesting generally occurs over four to five years from the date of grant. 
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The Company also sponsors the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”), which provides for the grant of stock options, stock 
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit (“RSU”) awards, performance awards and other forms of awards to employees, 
directors, and consultants. The number of shares of the Company’s common stock reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan automatically 
increases on January 1 of each year, through and including January 1, 2031, by 5% of the fully diluted number of shares of common stock (as 
defined in the 2021 Plan) outstanding on December 31 of the preceding year, or a lesser number of shares determined by the Company’s board of 
directors prior to such increase. As of January 1, 2025, the number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan increased by 14,532,010. 
For awards granted under the 2021 Plan, vesting terms range from less than one year to four years from the date of grant. As of September 30, 
2025, the Company had 28,460,721 shares available for grant under the 2021 Plan. 

In May 2025, in connection with the Lightsynq Acquisition, the Company assumed the Lightsynq Technologies Inc. 2024 Equity Incentive 
Plan (the “Lightsynq Plan”). Upon closing of the Lightsynq Acquisition, no further awards were made pursuant to the Lightsynq Plan and certain 
outstanding Lightsynq stock options under the Lightsynq Plan were assumed by the Company. Such stock options granted under the Lightsynq 
Plan will continue to be governed by the terms of the Lightsynq Plan and the stock option agreements thereunder, until such outstanding options 
are exercised or until they terminate or expire. For awards granted under the Lightsynq Plan, vesting generally occurs over four years from the 
date of grant. As of September 30, 2025, the Company had no shares available for grant under the Lightsynq Plan.

Under each equity incentive plan, all options granted have a contractual term of 10 years. 

Stock Options 

The Company estimates the fair value of stock options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Black-
Scholes option-pricing model requires estimates of highly subjective assumptions, which affect the fair value of each stock option. The 
assumptions used to estimate the fair value of stock options are as follows:

 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024     2025     2024  

Risk-free interest rate     —%    —%    4.07%    4.31%
Expected term (in years)     —     —      5.89      6.00 
Expected volatility     —%    —%    86.79%    79.33%
Dividend yield     —%    —%    —%    —%

 
The stock option activity is summarized in the following table: 

 

   

Number of
Option
Shares    

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price    

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (Years)    

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(in millions)  

Outstanding as of December 31, 2024     16,687,129    $ 2.40             
Replacement awards     1,747,622      4.36             
Exercised     (10,272,027)     1.20            
Cancelled/ Forfeited     (432,952)     2.66            

Outstanding as of September 30, 2025     7,729,772    $ 4.42      5.85    $ 441.20 
Exercisable as of September 30, 2025     5,550,278    $ 5.21      4.78    $ 312.42 
Exercisable and expected to vest as of September 30, 2025     7,729,772    $ 4.42     5.85    $ 441.20 
 
(1) In connection with certain acquisitions, the Company converted certain outstanding stock options of the acquirees into stock options to 

acquire common stock of the Company, for which $11.3 million of the fair value was attributed to pre-combination services and was 
allocated to purchase consideration.  

(1)
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Restricted Stock Units 

The Company’s RSU activity is summarized in the following table: 
 

   
Number of

RSUs    

Weighted
Average
Grant

Date Fair
Value    

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (Years)  
Outstanding as of December 31, 2024     14,509,717    $ 9.54       
Granted     6,409,003      36.92       
Vested     (5,952,489)     12.04       
Forfeited     (1,138,230)     11.77       

Outstanding as of September 30, 2025     13,828,001    $ 20.96      2.46 
Expected to vest after September 30, 2025     13,828,001    $ 20.96      2.46 

 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company released 206,316 and 1,064,518 RSUs, respectively, related to 

the settlement of an accrued bonus liability.

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units

From fiscal year 2023 to fiscal year 2025, the Company granted performance-based restricted stock unit awards (“PSUs”) to certain 
officers, employees, and consultants, which vest over approximately two to four years. The number of shares that can be earned will range from 
0% to 300% of the target number of shares, based on the Company’s achievement of certain financial and technical goals, as well as a stock price 
hurdle requirement for a portion of the awards. In the event that the stock price hurdle is not met at the time the PSUs vest, the maximum PSU 
opportunity shall be limited to target (100%) performance. 

During fiscal year 2025, the Company granted PSU awards to certain officers and employees, which vest over three years. The number of 
shares that can be earned will range from 0% to 200% of the target number of shares based on the Company’s achievement of certain 
performance goals.

The number of PSUs expected to vest and for which compensation cost has been recognized is based on the number of awards that the 
Company believes are probable of vesting as of September 30, 2025.   

For those PSUs subject to the stock price hurdle, the fair value was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The Monte Carlo 
simulation model requires estimates of subjective assumptions, which affect the fair value of each PSU. The assumptions used to estimate the fair 
value of PSUs subject to the stock price hurdle are as follows:

 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024     2025     2024  

Risk-free interest rate     —%    —%    3.79%    4.86%
Contractual term (in years)     —     —      1.72      2.69 
Expected volatility     —%    —%    104.32%    85.00%
Dividend yield     —%    —%    —%    —%

 
The PSU activity is summarized in the following table, based on awards at target:
 

   
Number of

PSUs    

Weighted
Average
Grant

Date Fair
Value    

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (Years)  
Outstanding as of December 31, 2024     3,972,257    $ 16.17       
Granted     2,757,511      36.48       
Vested     (619,874)     16.77       
Forfeited     (456,445)     15.08       

Outstanding as of September 30, 2025     5,653,449    $ 26.10      1.84 
Expected to vest after September 30, 2025     12,929,029    $ 24.27      1.79 

 
(1)
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(1) Represents the number of PSUs expected to vest, which may exceed the target number of shares, based on the Company’s probability 

assessment of expected performance during the performance period.  

Restricted Stock

The restricted stock activity is summarized in the following table:
 

   
Number of

Restricted Stock    

Weighted
Average
Grant

Date Fair
Value    

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (Years)  
Outstanding as of December 31, 2024     —    $ —       
Replacement awards     6,176,959      40.34       
Vested     (1,927,662)     40.34       

Outstanding as of September 30, 2025     4,249,297      40.34      4.51 
Expected to vest after September 30, 2025     4,249,297    $ 40.34      4.51 

 
(1) In connection with certain acquisitions, the Company converted certain outstanding restricted stock of the acquirees into restricted stock of 

the Company, for which $48.1 million of the fair value was attributed to pre-combination services and was allocated to purchase 
consideration.  

Stock-Based Compensation Expense 

Total stock-based compensation expense for stock option awards, RSUs, PSUs, and restricted stock which are included in the condensed 
consolidated financial statements, is as follows (in thousands): 
 

   
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024     2025     2024  

Cost of revenue   $ 4,247   $ 1,332    $ 7,125    $ 3,392 
Research and development     31,766     13,907      125,392      37,840 
Sales and marketing     6,560     2,929      16,488      8,157 
General and administrative     30,372     6,399      56,361      18,218 

Stock-based compensation, net of amounts capitalized     72,945     24,567      205,366     67,607 
Capitalized stock-based compensation—Property and equipment, net 
    and Intangible assets, net     1,678     1,468      3,681      4,214 

Total stock-based compensation   $ 74,623   $ 26,035    $ 209,047    $ 71,821 

Unrecognized Stock-Based Compensation 

A summary of the Company’s remaining unrecognized compensation expense and the weighted-average remaining amortization period as 
of September 30, 2025, related to its non-vested RSUs, PSUs, restricted stock, and stock option awards is presented below (in millions, except 
time period amounts):

 

   
Unrecognized

Expense    

Weighted-
Average

Amortization
Period (Years)  

Restricted stock units   $ 274.3      2.9 
Performance-based restricted stock units     237.9      2.1 
Restricted stock     142.6      4.5 
Stock options     47.5      3.0 

 

15. INCOME TAXES 

An income tax benefit of $4.4 million and $19.7 million was recognized for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, 
respectively, resulting from a partial release of U.S. federal and state valuation allowances, which was recorded as a discrete item due to the 

(1)
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deferred tax liabilities related to identifiable intangibles from the Lightsynq Acquisition and Capella Acquisition. Income tax expense, due to the 
Company’s international operations, was less than $0.1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024. The effective tax rate 
for each period differs from the statutory rate primarily as a result of not recognizing a deferred tax asset for losses due to having a valuation 
allowance against deferred tax assets. 

The realization of tax benefits of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future levels of taxable income, of an appropriate character, in the 
periods the items are expected to be deductible or taxable. Based on the available objective evidence, the Company does not believe it is more 
likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will be realizable. Accordingly, the Company has provided a valuation allowance against the net 
deferred tax assets as of September 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024. The Company intends to maintain the remaining valuation allowance until 
sufficient positive evidence exists to support a reversal of, or decrease in, the valuation allowance. 

On July 4, 2025, the One Big Beautiful Bill Act was signed into law. The legislation did not have a material impact on our income tax 
expense the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, and we do not expect it to materially change our effective income tax rate for 
2025.

16. LEASES 

The Company has operating leases for its various facilities. As of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company’s weighted-
average remaining lease term was 4.7 years and 5.2 years, respectively. As of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the weighted-average 
discount rate was 7.6% and 8.2%, respectively.    

The components of lease cost were as follows (in thousands): 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024     2025     2024  

Operating lease cost                     
Fixed lease cost   $ 1,614    $ 672    $ 3,273    $ 1,846 
Short-term cost     818      67      1,049      147 

Total operating lease cost   $ 2,432    $ 739    $ 4,322    $ 1,993 
 
(1) The lease costs are reflected in the condensed consolidated statements of operations as follows (in thousands): 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024     2025     2024  

Cost of revenue   $ 520    $ 64    $ 785    $ 187 
Research and development     614      461      1,793      1,198 
Sales and marketing     55      60      290      116 
General and administrative     1,243      154      1,454      492 

Total operating lease cost   $ 2,432    $ 739    $ 4,322    $ 1,993 
 
Supplemental cash flow and other information related to operating leases was as follows (in thousands): 

 
   

Three Months Ended
September 30,    

Nine Months Ended
September 30,  

   2025     2024     2025     2024  
Cash payments (receipts) included in the measurement of 
   operating lease liabilities, net of lease incentives   $ 1,940    $ (835)   $ 3,483    $ (2,932)

 

(1)
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As of September 30, 2025, maturities of operating lease liabilities are as follows (in thousands): 

 
   Amount  

Year Ending December 31,      
2025   $ 2,313 
2026     8,872 
2027     7,576 
2028     5,864 
2029     4,578 
Thereafter     4,879 

Total lease payments   $ 34,082 
Less: imputed interest     (5,566)

Present value of operating lease liabilities   $ 28,516 
 

17. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company operates as one operating segment as its Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, who is the chief operating decision maker, 
reviews financial information on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating decisions, allocating resources, and evaluating financial 
performance. Consolidated net loss as reported on the condensed consolidated statements of operations is used to evaluate performance and 
allocate resources. The following table presents revenue, significant expenses, and segment profit and loss (in thousands):  

 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024     2025     2024  

Revenue   $ 39,866   $ 12,400    $ 68,126   $ 31,363 
Less:                       

Operating costs and expenses excluding stock-based 
compensation:                       

Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)     17,006     5,183      26,770     12,160 
Research and development     34,532     19,271      84,218     58,910 
Sales and marketing     7,881     3,701      17,440     11,311 
General and administrative     52,133     7,923      98,057     23,177 

Stock-based compensation     72,945     24,567      205,366     67,607 
Depreciation and amortization     24,182     4,890      41,359     13,150 
Other segment items:                       

(Gain) loss on change in fair value of warrant liabilities     881,847     3,868      882,930     (11,398)
Interest income, net     (14,437)    (4,508)     (26,469)    (14,108)
Offering costs associated with warrants     22,847     —      22,847     — 
Other (income) expense, net     980     (15)     697     164 
Income tax (benefit) expense     (4,438)    16      (19,695)    39 

Net loss   $ (1,055,612)  $ (52,496)   $ (1,265,394)  $ (129,649)
 

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On October 2, 2025, the Company completed the acquisition of Vector Atomic, Inc., a leading quantum sensing company based in 
California, for 6,080,379 shares of common stock, subject to customary post-closing adjustments. Due to the limited time between the acquisition 
date and the Company’s filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the initial accounting for the business combination is incomplete and the 
Company is not yet able to disclose the preliminary amounts to be recognized as of the acquisition date for assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed.

On October 10, 2025, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement with J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, providing for the offer and 
sale of 16,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, at a price of $93.00 per share; 5,005,400 pre-funded 
warrants to purchase an aggregate of 5,005,400 shares of common stock at a price to the public of $93.00 less the pre-funded warrant exercise 
price; and 43,010,800 Series B warrants to purchase 43,010,800 shares of the Company’s common stock at no additional consideration. The 
offering closed on October 14, 2025, for aggregate proceeds of approximately $1,980.0 million, net of certain issuance costs.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains statements that may constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 
“Exchange Act”), that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q other than 
statements of historical fact, including statements regarding our future results of operations and financial position, our business strategy and 
plans, and our objectives for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “believes,” “expects,” “intends,” “estimates,” 
“projects,” “anticipates,” “will,” “plan,” “may,” “should,” or similar language are intended to identify forward-looking statements. 

It is routine for our internal projections and expectations to change throughout the year, and any forward-looking statements based upon 
these projections or expectations may change prior to the end of the next quarter or year. Readers of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are 
cautioned not to place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements. As a result of a number of known and unknown risks and 
uncertainties, our actual results or performance may be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking 
statements. Risks and uncertainties are identified under “Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A herein and in our other filings with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). All forward-looking statements included herein are made only as of the date hereof. Unless otherwise 
required by law, we do not undertake, and specifically disclaim, any obligation to update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of 
new information, future events, or otherwise after the date of such statement. 

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our unaudited 
condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and our audited 
consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2024, filed with the SEC on February 26, 2025.  

Overview 

We are developing quantum computers and networks designed to solve some of the world’s most complex problems, and transform 
business, society and the planet for the better. We also offer satellite-based data capabilities and satellite solutions intended to enable quantum-
secure global communications. We believe that our proprietary technology, our architecture, and the technology exclusively available to us 
through license agreements will offer us advantages both in terms of research and development, as well as the commercial value of our intended 
product offerings. 

Today, we sell specialized quantum computing and networking hardware together with related maintenance and support. We also sell 
access to several quantum computers of various qubit capacities and are in the process of researching and developing technologies for quantum 
computers with increasing computational capabilities. We currently make access to our quantum computers available via three major cloud 
platforms, Amazon Web Services’ (“AWS”) Amazon Braket, Microsoft’s Azure Quantum and Google’s Cloud Marketplace, and also to select 
customers via our own cloud service. This cloud-based approach enables the broad availability of quantum-computing-as-a-service (“QCaaS”). 

We supplement our offerings with professional services focused on assisting our customers in applying quantum computing and 
networking to their businesses. We also sell and expect to sell full quantum computing systems to customers, either over the cloud or for local 
access. We also offer quantum networking products which offer customers secure communication networks and enable networked quantum 
computing. 

We also offer satellite imagery and data from our constellation of satellites through a self-service platform as well as customer solutions for 
specialized satellite development capabilities.

We are still in the early stages of commercial growth. Since our inception we have incurred significant operating losses. Our ability to 
generate revenue sufficient to achieve profitability will depend heavily on the successful development and further commercialization of our 
quantum computing systems and networks. Our net losses attributable to IonQ, Inc. were $1,264.0 million and $129.6 million for the nine 
months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. As of September 30, 2025, we had an accumulated deficit of $1,947.8 million. We 
expect to continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future as we prioritize reaching the technical milestones necessary to achieve an 
increasingly higher number of stable qubits and higher levels of fidelity than presently exists—prerequisites for quantum computing to reach 
broad quantum advantage. 

From time to time, we have acquired or invested in complementary businesses, and intend to continue to consider making such acquisitions 
and investments. For more information on recent acquisitions and investments and their impact on our business, refer to Note 3, Business 
Combinations, Note 5, Fair Value Measurements, and Note 18, Subsequent Events, in the notes to our condensed consolidated financial 
statements included in Part I, Item I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Impact of the Macroeconomic Climate on Our Business 

Inflationary factors, interest rates and overhead costs may adversely affect our operating results. High interest and inflation rates also 
present a challenge impacting the U.S. economy and could make it more difficult for us to obtain traditional financing on acceptable terms, if at 
all, in the future. These inflationary effects may be exacerbated by new tariffs and evolving trade policy. Although we do not believe that 
inflation has had a material impact on our financial position or results of operations to date, we may experience increases in the future on our 
operating costs, including due to supply chain constraints, consequences associated with bank failures, trade wars and the effect of recently 
heightened, scheduled, and threatened tariffs by the U.S. or its trading partners, geopolitical tensions in and around Ukraine, Israel and other 
areas of the world, and employee availability and wage increases, which may result in additional stress on our working capital resources. 

Key Components of Results of Operations 

Revenue 

We derive revenue from contracts associated with the design, development, construction and sale of specialized quantum computing 
hardware together with related maintenance and support, from the sale of quantum networking products together with related services and 
maintenance, from contracts providing access to QCaaS, from consulting services related to co-developing algorithms on quantum computing 
systems, and from providing satellite imagery and data from our constellation of satellites through our online platform. 

Certain of our contracts contain multiple performance obligations, most commonly in contracts for the sale of specialized quantum 
computing hardware together with related maintenance and support and the sale of quantum networking products together with related services 
and maintenance. Certain contracts may also include access to our QCaaS. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance 
obligation and recognized as revenue when or as the performance obligation is satisfied. When there are multiple performance obligations in a 
contract, we allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation based on its standalone selling price when available. We determine 
standalone selling price based on the observable price of a product or service when we sell the products or services separately in similar 
circumstances and to similar customers. Certain products and services have limited or no history of being sold on a standalone basis, requiring us 
to estimate the standalone selling price. We estimate the standalone selling price based on other contracts for similar products and services 
adjusted for differing terms than the contract being evaluated, as well as internal pricing guidelines and market factors. In addition, we take into 
consideration the estimated costs to be incurred to satisfy the performance obligation plus an appropriate profit margin.

Performance obligations are satisfied over time if the customer receives the benefits as we perform the work, if the customer controls the 
asset as it is being produced (continuous transfer of control), or if the product being produced for the customer has no alternative use and we have 
a contractual right to payment for performance to date. For performance obligations related to specialized quantum computing hardware and 
consulting services, as well as customer solutions for specialized satellite development capabilities, revenue is recognized over time based on the 
efforts incurred to date relative to the total expected effort, primarily based on a cost-to-cost input measure. We apply judgment to determine a 
reasonable method to measure progress and to estimate total expected effort. Factors considered in these estimates include our historical 
performance, the availability, productivity and cost of labor, the nature and complexity of work to be performed, the effect of change orders, 
availability and cost of materials, and the effect of any delays in performance. For performance obligations related to quantum networking 
products and related services, revenue is recognized at the point in time when control passes to the customer, which is generally at the shipping 
point based on customary incoterms, or upon completion of the required services.

We have determined that our QCaaS contracts represent a combined, stand-ready performance obligation to provide access to our quantum 
computing systems together with related maintenance and support. Additionally, we have determined that contracts to provide satellite imagery 
and data also represent a stand-ready performance obligation. The transaction price generally consists of a fixed fee for a minimum volume of 
usage or images to be made available over a defined period of access. Fixed fee arrangements may also include a variable component whereby 
customers pay an amount for usage over contractual minimums contained in the contracts. For performance obligations related to providing 
QCaaS access or satellite imagery and data, fixed fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over the access period. Variable usage fees are 
recognized in the period they occur. We have determined that contracts that contain consulting services related to co-developing quantum 
computing algorithms and the ability to use our quantum computing systems to run such algorithms represent a combined performance obligation 
that is satisfied over-time. 

Operating Costs and Expenses 

Cost of revenue 

Cost of revenue primarily consists of expenses related to construction of specialized quantum computing and networking hardware as well 
as customer solutions for specialized satellite development capabilities and delivery of our services, including personnel-related expenses, 
hardware costs, allocated overhead costs for customer facing functions, and costs associated with maintaining our in-service quantum computing 
systems and satellites to ensure proper calibration as well as costs incurred for maintaining the cloud on which we deliver our services. Cost of 
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revenue also includes product costs for quantum networking hardware. Personnel-related expenses include salaries, benefits, and stock-based 
compensation. Cost of revenue excludes depreciation and amortization related to our quantum computing systems, satellites and related software. 

Research and development 

Research and development expenses consist of personnel-related expenses, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation, and 
allocated overhead costs for our research and development functions. Research and development is attributable to the advancing technology 
research, platform and infrastructure development, and the research and development of new product iterations, including quantum computing 
systems and networks and satellites. Design and development efforts continue throughout the useful life of our quantum computing systems and 
satellites to ensure proper calibration and optimal functionality. Research and development expenses also include purchased hardware and 
software costs for research purposes that are not probable of providing a future economic benefit and have no alternate future use as well as costs 
associated with third-party research and development arrangements. 

Sales and marketing 

Sales and marketing expenses consist of personnel-related expenses, including salaries, commissions, benefits and stock-based 
compensation, costs for direct advertising, marketing and promotional expenditures and allocated overhead costs for our sales and marketing 
functions. We expect to continue to make the necessary sales and marketing investments to enable us to increase our market penetration and 
expand our customer base. 

General and administrative 

General and administrative expenses consist of personnel-related expenses, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation, and 
allocated overhead costs for our corporate, executive, finance, and other administrative functions. General and administrative expenses also 
include expenses for outside professional services, including legal, auditing and accounting services, recruitment expenses, information 
technology, travel expenses, certain non-income taxes, insurance, and other administrative expenses. We expect our general and administrative 
expenses to increase for the foreseeable future as we scale our support functions with the growth of our business. 

Depreciation and amortization 

Depreciation and amortization expense results from depreciation and amortization of our property and equipment, including our quantum 
computing systems and satellites, and intangible assets that are recognized over their estimated lives. 

Nonoperating Costs and Expenses 

Gain (loss) on change in fair value of warrant liabilities 

The gain (loss) on change in fair value of warrant liabilities consists of mark-to-market fair value adjustments recorded associated with the 
public warrants and Series A prefunded and private warrants. 

Interest income, net 

Interest income, net consists of income earned on our money market funds and other available-for-sale investments. 

Other income (expense), net 

Other income (expense), net consists of gains and losses that arise from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and certain other 
nonoperating expenses. 

Offering costs associated with warrants

Offering costs associated with warrants consist of transaction costs that have been allocated to the Series A prefunded and private warrants 
and were expensed upon completion of the equity offering based on the relative fair value of the equity issued and the liability-classified 
warrants.

Income tax benefit (expense)

Income tax benefit (expense) consists of income tax benefits related to discrete deferred tax items and income tax expense related to 
foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business.
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Results of Operations 

The following table sets forth our condensed consolidated statements of operations for the periods indicated: 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024     2025     2024  
    (in thousands)     (in thousands)  

Revenue   $ 39,866   $ 12,400   $ 68,126   $ 31,363 
Costs and expenses:                     

Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)     21,253     6,515     33,895     15,552 
Research and development     66,298     33,178     209,610     96,750 
Sales and marketing     14,441     6,630     33,928     19,468 
General and administrative     82,505     14,322     154,418     41,395 
Depreciation and amortization     24,182     4,890      41,359     13,150 

Total operating costs and expenses     208,679      65,535      473,210      186,315 
Loss from operations     (168,813)    (53,135)    (405,084)    (154,952)

Gain (loss) on change in fair value of warrant liabilities     (881,847)    (3,868)    (882,930)    11,398 
Interest income, net     14,437     4,508     26,469     14,108 
Offering costs associated with warrants     (22,847)    —     (22,847)    — 
Other income (expense), net     (980)     15      (697)     (164)

Loss before income tax expense     (1,060,050)     (52,480)     (1,285,089)     (129,610)
Income tax benefit (expense)     4,438      (16)     19,695      (39)
Net loss   $ (1,055,612)   $ (52,496)   $ (1,265,394)   $ (129,649)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests     (657)     —      (1,349)     — 
Net loss attributable to IonQ, Inc.   $ (1,054,955)   $ (52,496)   $ (1,264,045)   $ (129,649)
 
(1) Cost of revenue, research and development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative expenses for the periods include stock-

based compensation expense as follows: 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024     2025     2024  
    (in thousands)     (in thousands)  

Cost of revenue   $ 4,247   $ 1,332   $ 7,125   $ 3,392 
Research and development     31,766     13,907     125,392     37,840 
Sales and marketing     6,560     2,929     16,488     8,157 
General and administrative     30,372     6,399     56,361     18,218 

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 

Revenue 
 

   
Three Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)              
Revenue   $ 39,866   $ 12,400    $ 27,466      222%

 
Revenue increased by $27.5 million, or 222%, to $39.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2025, from $12.4 million for the 

three months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was primarily driven by progress on arrangements to build specialized quantum 
computing hardware, as well as increased revenue as a result of acquisitions.  

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Cost of revenue 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)              
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)   $ 21,253   $ 6,515    $ 14,738      226%

 
Cost of revenue increased by $14.7 million, or 226%, to $21.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2025, from $6.5 million 

for the three months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was driven primarily by an increase in labor costs to service contracts for the three 
months ended September 30, 2025, as well as an increase in materials costs related to quantum networking products. 

Research and development 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)             
Research and development   $ 66,298   $ 33,178    $ 33,120      100%

 
Research and development expense increased by $33.1 million, or 100%, to $66.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2025, 

from $33.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was primarily driven by an increase of $27.0 million in payroll-
related expenses, including an increase in stock-based compensation of $17.9 million, as a result of increased headcount and new equity grants, 
and a $3.1 million increase in materials, supplies and equipment costs. The remaining increase is due to an increase in costs to support research 
and development initiatives, including a $2.5 million increase in professional service fees and allocated overhead costs.

Sales and marketing 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)              

Sales and marketing   $ 14,441   $ 6,630    $ 7,811      118%
 
Sales and marketing expense increased by $7.8 million, or 118%, to $14.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2025, from 

$6.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was primarily driven by an increase of $5.9 million of payroll-related 
expenses, including an increase in stock-based compensation of $3.6 million, as a result of increased headcount and new equity grants, as well as 
increased costs to promote our products and services and other marketing initiatives. 

General and administrative 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)              
General and administrative   $ 82,505   $ 14,322    $ 68,183      476%

 
General and administrative expenses increased by $68.2 million, or 476%, to $82.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 

2025, from $14.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was primarily driven by an increase of $39.2 million of 
payroll-related expenses, including an increase in stock-based compensation of $24.0 million, as a result of increased headcount and new equity 
grants, and an increase of $27.0 million professional service fees and allocated overhead costs, including a $16.4 million increase in acquisition 
transaction and integration costs. 
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Depreciation and amortization 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)              
Depreciation and amortization   $ 24,182   $ 4,890    $ 19,292      395%

 
Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $19.3 million, or 395%, to $24.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 

2025, from $4.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was primarily driven by an increase of $13.0 million in 
amortization expense associated with acquired intangible assets, and increases of $4.0 million in depreciation expense associated with capitalized 
quantum computing system costs and satellites.

Gain (loss) on change in fair value of warrant liabilities 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,     $     %
   2025     2024     Change     Change
   (in thousands)            
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of warrant liabilities   $ (881,847)  $ (3,868)   $ (877,979)   NM

NM—Not Meaningful
 
The change in the fair value of the warrant liabilities was primarily due to the loss recognized for the Series A warrants issued in the third 

quarter of 2025.

Interest income, net 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)              
Interest income, net   $ 14,437   $ 4,508    $ 9,929      220%

 
Interest income, net increased by $9.9 million, or 220%, to $14.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2025, from $4.5 

million for the three months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was primarily driven by an increase in the available-for-sale investments 
balance.  

Offering costs associated with warrants 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,     $     %
   2024     2023     Change     Change
   (in thousands)            
Offering costs associated with warrants   $ (22,847)  $ —    $ (22,847)   NM

NM—Not Meaningful
 

In connection with the issuance of the Series A prefunded and private warrants, $22.8 million of transaction costs were allocated and 
expensed related to the warrants for the three months ended September 30, 2025. 

Income tax benefit (expense)
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,     $     %
   2025     2024     Change     Change
   (in thousands)            
Income tax benefit (expense)   $ 4,438   $ (16)   $ 4,454    NM

NM—Not Meaningful
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Income tax benefit (expense) increased by $4.5 million to a benefit of $4.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2025, from 

an expense of less than $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was primarily driven by a partial release of 
U.S. federal and state valuation allowances. 

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 

Revenue 
 

   
Nine Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)              
Revenue   $ 68,126   $ 31,363    $ 36,763      117%

 
Revenue increased by $36.8 million, or 117%, to $68.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2025, from $31.4 million for the 

nine months ended September 30, 2025. The increase was primarily driven by progress on arrangements to build specialized quantum computing 
hardware, as well as increased revenue as a result of acquisitions.  

Cost of revenue 
 

  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)              
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)   $ 33,895   $ 15,552    $ 18,343      118%

 
Cost of revenue increased by $18.3 million, or 118%, to $33.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2025, from $15.6 million 

for the nine months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was driven primarily by an increase in labor costs to service contracts for the nine 
months ended September 30, 2025, as well as an increase materials costs related to quantum networking products. 

Research and development 
 

  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)              
Research and development   $ 209,610   $ 96,750    $ 112,860      117%

 
Research and development expense increased by $112.9 million, or 117%, to $209.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 

2025, from $96.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was primarily driven by an increase of $102.9 million in 
payroll-related expenses, including an increase in stock-based compensation of $82.6 million, as a result of increased headcount and new equity 
grants, including the replacement awards issued in connection with acquisitions. 

Sales and marketing 
 

  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)              

Sales and marketing   $ 33,928   $ 19,468    $ 14,460      74%
 
Sales and marketing expense increased by $14.5 million, or 74%, to $33.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2025, from 

$19.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was primarily driven by an increase of $11.9 million of payroll-
related expenses, including an increase in stock-based compensation of $8.3 million, as a result of increased headcount and new equity grants, as 
well as increased costs to promote our products and services and other marketing initiatives. 
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General and administrative 
 

  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)              
General and administrative   $ 154,418   $ 41,395    $ 113,023      273%

 
General and administrative expenses increased by $113.0 million, or 273%, to $154.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 

2025, from $41.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was primarily driven by an increase of $61.1 million of 
payroll-related expenses, including an increase in stock-based compensation of $38.1 million, as well as an increase of $49.5 million in 
professional service fees and allocated overhead costs, including $32.3 million in acquisition transaction and integration costs.  

Depreciation and amortization 
 

  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)              
Depreciation and amortization   $ 41,359   $ 13,150    $ 28,209      215%

 
Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $28.2 million, or 215%, to $41.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 

2025, from $13.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was primarily driven by an increase $17.3 million in 
amortization expense associated with acquired intangible assets, and increases of $6.2 million in depreciation expense associated with capitalized 
quantum computing system costs and satellites.

Gain (loss) on change in fair value of warrant liabilities 
 

  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,     $     %
   2025     2024     Change     Change
   (in thousands)            
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of warrant liabilities   $ (882,930)  $ 11,398    $ (894,328)   NM

NM—Not Meaningful
 

The change in the fair value of the warrant liabilities was primarily due to the loss recognized for the Series A warrants issued in the third 
quarter of 2025.

Interest income, net 
 

  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,     $     %  
   2025     2024     Change     Change  
   (in thousands)              
Interest income, net   $ 26,469   $ 14,108    $ 12,361      88%

 
Interest income, net increased by $12.4 million, or 88%, to $26.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2025, from $14.1 

million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was primarily driven by an increase in the available-for-sale investments 
balance.  

Offering costs associated with warrants 
 

  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,     $     %
   September 30,     September 30,     Change     Change
   (in thousands)            
Offering costs associated with warrants   $ (22,847)  $ —    $ (22,847)   NM
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NM—Not Meaningful
 

In connection with the issuance of the Series A prefunded and private warrants, $22.8 million of transaction costs were allocated and 
expensed related to the warrants for the nine months ended September 30, 2025. 

Income tax benefit (expense)
 

  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,     $     %
   2025     2024     Change     Change
   (in thousands)            
Income tax benefit (expense)   $ 19,695   $ (39)   $ 19,734    NM

NM—Not Meaningful
 
Income tax benefit (expense) increased by $19.7 million to a benefit of $19.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2025, from 

an expense of less than $0.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024. The increase was primarily driven by a partial release of 
U.S. federal and state valuation allowances.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of September 30, 2025, we had cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities of $1,485.0 million. Excluded from our available 
liquidity is $6.3 million of restricted cash, which is primarily recorded in other noncurrent assets in our condensed consolidated balance sheets. 
We believe that our cash, cash equivalents and investments as of September 30, 2025, will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital 
expenditure needs for the next 12 months. We believe we will meet longer term expected future cash requirements and obligations through a 
combination of available funds from our cash, cash equivalents and investment balances and cash flows from operating activities. However, this 
determination is based upon internal projections and is subject to changes in market and business conditions. Additionally, in October 2025, we 
completed an equity offering for aggregate proceeds of $1,980.0 million. We have incurred significant losses since our inception and as of 
September 30, 2025, we had an accumulated deficit of $1,947.8 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, we incurred net 
losses of $1,264.0 million. We expect to incur significant losses and higher operating expenses for the foreseeable future. 

Future Funding Requirements 

We expect our principal sources of liquidity will continue to be our cash, cash equivalents and investments and any additional capital we 
may obtain through additional equity or debt financings. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including investments in 
growth and technology. We may, in the future, enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, services, and 
technologies, which may require us to seek additional equity or debt financing. 

Our primary uses of cash and investments are to fund our operations as we continue to grow our business and our investing activities, 
including capital expenditures, potential acquisitions, and strategic investments. We require a significant amount of cash for expenditures as we 
invest in ongoing research and development and commercialization of our products. Until such time as we can generate significant revenue from 
commercializing our quantum computing, networking, and sensing technology, if ever, we expect to finance our liquidity needs through our cash, 
cash equivalents and investments, as well as equity or debt financings or other capital sources, including potential collaborations and other 
similar arrangements. However, we may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into such other arrangements when needed on favorable 
terms or at all. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interest of our 
stockholders could be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our 
stockholders. Debt financing and equity financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability 
to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures, or declaring dividends. If we raise funds through 
collaborations, or other similar arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our quantum computing and 
networking technology on terms that may not be favorable to us and/or may reduce the value of our common stock. If we are unable to raise 
additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our quantum computing 
and networking development efforts. Our future capital requirements and the adequacy of available funds will depend on many factors, including 
those set forth in the section titled “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and other our other filings with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. 

Our material contractual commitments as of September 30, 2025, primarily relate to operating lease commitments. As of September 30, 
2025, we have total operating lease obligations of $34.1 million, with $9.0 million payable within 12 months. Other than operating lease 
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commitments, cash requirements for the next 12 months are expected to consist primarily of operating expenses and continued investment in our 
quantum computers and technology.

Cash flows 

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated: 
 

  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2025     2024  
   (in thousands)  

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   $ (208,677)   $ (66,255)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     (873,632)     58,366 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     1,377,416     2,414 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Our cash flows from operating activities are significantly affected by the growth of our business, primarily related to research and 
development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative activities. Our operating cash flows are also affected by our working capital 
needs to support growth in personnel-related expenditures and fluctuations in accounts payable and other current assets and liabilities. 

Net cash used in operating activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2025, was $208.7 million, resulting primarily from a net 
loss of $1,265.4 million, adjusted for non-cash activity, primarily related to stock-based compensation, depreciation and amortization, deferred 
income taxes, the loss recorded as a result of mark-to-market activity for our warrants, and other working capital activities. The increase in net 
cash used in operations from the prior year period was primarily related to increased compensation costs and costs for materials and supplies to 
support the production of quantum computing systems, customer contracts, and other research and development activities. 

Net cash used in operating activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, was $66.3 million, resulting primarily from a net 
loss of $129.6 million, adjusted for non-cash activity, primarily related to stock-based compensation, and other working capital activities. 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Net cash used in investing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2025, was $873.6 million, primarily resulting from 
purchases of available-for-sale securities of $1,252.4 million, cash paid for acquired businesses, net of cash acquired, of $13.1 million, and 
additions of $7.6 million of property and equipment, offset by cash received from maturities of available-for-sale securities of $407.7 million. 

Net cash provided by investing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, was $58.4 million, primarily resulting from 
cash received from maturities of available-for-sale securities of $318.2 million, offset by purchases of available-for-sale securities of $241.2 
million, additions of $14.4 million to property and equipment primarily related to leasehold improvements and the development of our quantum 
computing systems, and additions of $3.1 million related to capitalized software development costs.

Cash flows from financing activities 

Net cash provided by financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2025, was $1,377.4 million, primarily resulting 
from proceeds from the issuance of common stock and warrants, stock options exercised, and warrants exercised. 

Net cash provided by financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, was $2.4 million, primarily resulting from 
proceeds from stock options exercised.

Critical Accounting Estimates 

This discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon the Company’s condensed consolidated financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We also 
make estimates and assumptions on revenue generated and reported expenses incurred during the reporting periods. Our estimates are based on 
our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. The results of these estimates form 
the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 
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Critical accounting estimates are defined as those reflective of significant judgments, estimates and uncertainties, which may result in 
materially different results under different assumptions and conditions. Within our Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have disclosed our critical 
accounting estimates that we believe to have the greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial statements. Historically, our assumptions, 
judgments and estimates relative to our critical accounting estimates have not differed materially from actual results. 

There have been no material changes to our critical accounting estimates from those described under “Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, except as set forth below:

Business Combinations

We account for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires that once control is obtained, all the 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their respective fair values as of the acquisition date. The determination of fair values of 
identifiable assets and liabilities requires estimates and the use of valuation techniques when fair value is not readily available and requires a 
significant amount of management judgment. 

Determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires significant judgment and estimates, including the selection of 
valuation methodologies, estimates of future revenue, costs and cash flows, discount rates, royalty rates, and selection of comparable companies. 
The resulting fair values and useful lives assigned to acquisition-related intangible assets impact the amount and timing of future amortization 
expense.

These estimates are inherently uncertain as they pertain to forward-looking views of our business and market conditions. Changes in these 
estimates can have a significant impact on the determination of fair values of identifiable intangible assets acquired, which could result in 
material changes to reported intangible assets, goodwill, and amortization expense.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Standards 

See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part 
I, Item I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements. 

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates and concentration of credit. For a discussion of quantitative and 
qualitative disclosures about market risk, see Item 7A of Part II of our Annual Report on Form 10-K. No material changes related to our market 
risks have occurred since December 31, 2024. 

Item 4. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit 
under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and 
(2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely 
decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, 
can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-
benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. 

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by 
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as 
of September 30, 2025, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange 
Act) during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, 
our internal control over financial reporting. 
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Item 1. Legal Proceedings. 

The information required to be set forth under this heading is incorporated by reference from Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies, to 
the condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 
 

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Other than as set forth below, there have been no material changes to the risk factors described in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ended September 30, 2025:

We have experienced significant turnover in our top management, and our business could be adversely affected by these and other 
transitions in our senior management team.

In 2025, and in particular during the third quarter, as we began to bring on the talent that we believe is necessary to guide us through our 
next stage of rapid and transformative growth, we experienced significant turnover in our executive ranks and on our Board of Directors.

Management transition, even where initiated by the company, is often difficult and inherently causes some loss of institutional knowledge 
and a learning curve for new executives, which could negatively affect our results of operations and financial condition. Our ability to execute 
our business strategies may be adversely affected by the uncertainty associated with any such transition, and the time and attention from the 
board and management needed to train new employees and those of newly acquired and integrated companies could disrupt our business.

Further, we expect to continue to acquire and integrate new businesses, and we cannot guarantee that we will not face turnover in the 
future. Although we generally enter into employment agreements with our executives, the agreements have no specific duration and our 
executive officers are at-will employees. As a result, they may terminate their employment relationship with us at any time, and we cannot ensure 
that we will be able to retain the services of any of them. Our senior management’s knowledge of our business and industry would be difficult to 
replace, and any further turnover could negatively affect our business, growth, financial conditions, results of operations and cash flows.
 

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Executive Officers

None of the Company’s directors or officers adopted, modified or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or a non-Rule 10b5-1 
trading arrangement during the three months ended September 30, 2025, as such terms are defined under Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K, except 
as follows:

On August 21, 2025, Rima Alameddine, our Chief Revenue Officer, modified a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement previously entered into 
on March 14, 2025. As so modified, the arrangement provides for the potential sale of up to 239,280 shares of our common stock, subject to 
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certain conditions, and has an expiration date of November 27, 2026. Sales under the modified trading arrangement will not commence until 
completion of the required cooling off period under Rule 10b5-1.

On September 11, 2025, Kathryn Chou, one of our directors, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement for the potential sale of up to 
27,757 shares of our common stock, subject to certain conditions. The arrangement’s expiration date is December 18, 2026. Sales under the 
trading arrangement will not commence until completion of the required cooling off period under Rule 10b5-1.

On September 11, 2025, Gabrielle Toledano, one of our directors, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement for the potential sale of up to 
3,373 shares of our common stock, subject to certain conditions. The arrangement’s expiration date is November 27, 2026. Sales under the 
trading arrangement will not commence until completion of the required cooling off period under Rule 10b5-1.
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Item 6. Exhibits. 

(a) Exhibits. 

The exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 
 

Exhibit Description Form
Filed 

Herewith
 Incorporated 
by Reference Form Exhibit Filing Date

         

2.1^ Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 7, 2025, by and among IonQ, 
Inc., Oxford Ionics Limited, the Sellers (as defined therein), and Oxford 
Science Enterprises plc, solely in its capacity as the representative of the 
Sellers.  

X 8-K 2.1 June 9, 2025

           

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of IonQ, Inc.   X 8-K 3.1 October 4, 2021
             

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of IonQ, Inc.   X 8-K 3.1 April 22, 2025
             

4.1 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 16, 2025, by and 
among IonQ, Inc. and Oxford Science Enterprises plc.   X 8-K 10.1 September 17, 2025

             

4.2 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 11, 2025, by and between 
IonQ, Inc. and Shareholder Representative Services LLC.  

X 8-K 10.1 July 15, 2025
             

4.3 Series A Warrant Agreement, dated as of July 9, 2025, by and between IonQ, 
Inc. and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent.  

X 8-K 4.1 July 9, 2025
             

4.4 Form of Series A Warrant (included in Exhibit 4.3 hereto).   X 8-K 4.2 July 9, 2025
             

10.1+ Offer Letter, dated September 2, 2025, by and between IonQ, Inc. and Inder 
M. Singh. X        

             

10.2+ Offer Letter, dated July 9, 2025, by and between IonQ, Inc. and Paul T. 
Dacier. X        

             

10.3+ Offer Letter, dated September 3, 2025, by and between IonQ, Inc. and Dean 
Acosta. X        

             

10.4+ Offer Letter, dated September 4, 2025, by and between IonQ, Inc. and Robert 
Cardillo. X        

             

10.5+ Separation Agreement, dated August 5, 2025, by and between IonQ, Inc. and 
Peter Chapman. X        

             

10.6+ Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy. X        
             

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange 
Act Rules 13a- 14(a) and 15(d)-14(a), as adopted Pursuant to Section  302 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

X
       

           

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial and Accounting Officer Pursuant to 
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15(d)-14(a), as adopted 
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 

X
       

           

32.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer 
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

X
       

           

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document—the instance document does not appear in 
the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the 
Inline XBRL Document. 

X
       

            

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbase 
Documents.

X        
           

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL with applicable 
taxonomy extension information contained in Exhibit 101). X        

 

https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-25-137398.html?hash=9f772314d6193af973a697f5d310efb726e26c7425e5d73fcdc20a4d39f185a2&dest=d17095dex21_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-25-137398.html?hash=9f772314d6193af973a697f5d310efb726e26c7425e5d73fcdc20a4d39f185a2&dest=d17095dex21_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-25-137398.html?hash=9f772314d6193af973a697f5d310efb726e26c7425e5d73fcdc20a4d39f185a2&dest=d17095dex21_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-25-137398.html?hash=9f772314d6193af973a697f5d310efb726e26c7425e5d73fcdc20a4d39f185a2&dest=d17095dex21_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-21-290624.html?hash=1546c6c02989e13b9eb62901edc104bf1b51fb0f740373ecd267031d26002e6b&dest=d234711dex31_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-25-089187.html?hash=126f1f21cee045ae135c68fdccac1ddb1d1ea1f93be9582603589d5dbf783f69&dest=d939254dex31_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-25-205489.html?hash=0c1352decb44f0b981bd24b502d41699b3a27ce7b2f532f2d2833e2774766841&dest=d41803dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-25-205489.html?hash=0c1352decb44f0b981bd24b502d41699b3a27ce7b2f532f2d2833e2774766841&dest=d41803dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-25-159021.html?hash=e0699d87bd4c601df4fd27cb4e2851fa556971560750978e996985cfcf067a75&dest=d926237dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-25-159021.html?hash=e0699d87bd4c601df4fd27cb4e2851fa556971560750978e996985cfcf067a75&dest=d926237dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-25-156889.html?hash=470f2c9b77ae18d0f025b0aeb14caa1ccb2d6bf99cf960d0219220e306fde0c1&dest=d35359dex41_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-25-156889.html?hash=470f2c9b77ae18d0f025b0aeb14caa1ccb2d6bf99cf960d0219220e306fde0c1&dest=d35359dex41_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-25-156889.html?hash=470f2c9b77ae18d0f025b0aeb14caa1ccb2d6bf99cf960d0219220e306fde0c1&dest=d35359dex41_htm
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^ Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601. The Registrant 
agrees to furnish a copy of all omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.
* Furnished herewith and not deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act and shall not be deemed to be 

incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act (whether made before or after the date of this 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

 



 

 

SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by 
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 

  IonQ, Inc.
   
Date: November 5, 2025  /s/ Niccolo de Masi

  Name: Niccolo de Masi
  Title: Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
   (Principal Executive Officer)

   
Date: November 5, 2025  /s/ Inder M. Singh

  Name: Inder M. Singh
  Title: Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer
   (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

 



Exhibit 10.1
 

 
September 2, 2025 
 
Inder M. Singh
 
Re: Employment Offer 
 
Dear Inder:

On behalf of IonQ, Inc. (the “Company”), we are excited to offer you the positions of Chief Financial Officer and Chief 
Operating Officer of the Company (such combined roles, the “Position”), reporting to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. 
Your anticipated start date is September 4, 2025 (the date of your commencement of employment with us, the “Start Date”), 
subject to your reporting for work on such date and the other terms and conditions of this letter. Your principal work location will 
be in New Jersey, subject to required travel to Company offices and other locations as requested by the Company from time to 
time.
 
You agree to devote your full business time and best efforts to the performance of the Position. However, you may (i) engage in 
civic, charitable, educational, and non-profit activities, and manage your personal investments, and (ii) with the prior consent of 
the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”), engage in other activities, including, but not limited to, sitting on outside 
boards of directors (or similar governing bodies) of the for-profit entities as shown on Exhibit C attached hereto, which boards 
and other activities on Exhibit C shall be considered pre-approved by the Board for this purpose, provided that none of the 
foregoing activities in (i) or (ii) shall (a) violate any written Company policy made available to you or your restrictive covenants 
under the CIIA (as described below), (b) create a conflict with the Company or its business or your fiduciary duties to the 
Company, or (c) otherwise materially interfere with your performance of your duties and responsibilities to the Company. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing beginning on the first anniversary of the Start Date you will only be permitted to sit on the board 
of directors of one publicly traded company and one privately-held company, and you will take such actions as necessary, 
including a resignation from a current Board role, to be in compliance by the first anniversary of the Start Date.
 
Your position is considered an exempt, salaried position for purposes of federal wage and hour law. Your employment is subject 
to the Company’s personnel policies and procedures as they may be interpreted, adopted, revised, or deleted from time to time in 
the Company’s sole discretion. Other terms of your employment are set forth below. All compensation amounts hereunder are 
subject to applicable taxes and other applicable withholdings.

Compensation
 
Base Salary: Your base salary will be $500,000 on an annualized basis (the “Base Salary”), subject to applicable tax and other 
deductions and withholdings (as are all compensation and benefits payable or provided to you by the Company or its subsidiaries) 
and payable at the frequency and in accordance with the Company’s regularly established policies. Your Base Salary may be 
increased from time to time in the Board’s discretion but shall not be decreased (unless part of an “across-the-board,” 
proportionate, one-time reduction in compensation of all similarly situated executive officers of the Company, not to exceed 
15%).

Bonus Incentives: You will be eligible to receive a performance-based annual bonus. The target annual bonus will be one 
hundred percent (100%) of your Base Salary (the “Target Bonus”), and your eligibility to receive any such annual bonus will be 
based on meeting a defined set of executive team performance goals and metrics set annually by the Board or an authorized 
committee of the Board, as determined by the Board or an authorized committee of the Board in its sole discretion (and, in respect 
of calendar year 2025, your annual bonus, subject to the remainder of this paragraph, will be equal to no less than a prorated 
portion of the Target Bonus based on the Start Date. To be eligible to receive any such annual bonus, you must, except as 
otherwise expressly set forth in the Company’s Executive Severance Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Severance Plan”), 
remain employed through the date of payment of such annual bonus, and annual bonuses will be paid no later than March 15th of 
the calendar year following the calendar year to which they relate, and otherwise in compliance with the Company’s then-current 
annual incentive policy or program.

Regular Equity Awards: On or as soon as reasonably practicable following the Start Date, you will receive (i) a restricted stock 
unit (“RSU”) award, for a number of RSUs equal to $6,750,000, divided by the closing price of a share of the Company’s 
common stock on the Start Date, rounded to the nearest whole number, pursuant to the Company’s form of RSU award agreement 
(the “RSU Award Agreement”) and (ii) a performance-based RSU (“PSU”) award, with respect to an aggregate target number of 
PSUs equal to eighteen million dollars ($18,000,000) divided by the closing price of a share of the Company’s common stock on 
the Start Date, rounded to the nearest whole number (the “Target PSUs”), with the opportunity to vest in up to two hundred 
percent (200%) of the Target PSUs, with vesting based on the Company’s achievement against performance metrics established 
by the Board for the three (3)-year performance period covering the 2025, 2026, and 2027 calendar years which shall be more 
fully set forth in a PSU award 



agreement and grant notice (the “PSU Award Agreement”). The terms and conditions of your RSU and PSU awards, including 
the vesting schedule, expiration date, and other material terms will be set forth in the RSU Award Agreement or the PSU Award 
Agreement, as applicable, and the IonQ, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended from time to time, the “Equity Plan”). To 
accept the awards, you must execute the RSU Award Agreement and the PSU Award Agreement.

Equity Make-Whole Award: Following your submission of satisfactory evidence regarding your rights to certain contingent 
compensation from your prior service recipient that you are forfeiting as a result of commencing employment with the Company, 
you will receive a restricted stock unit (“RSU”) award, for a number of RSUs equal to the dollar amount of such forfeited 
compensation, divided by the closing price of a share of the Company’s common stock on the Start Date, rounded to the nearest 
whole number, which will cliff-vest on the second (2nd) anniversary of the Start Date, subject to your continued employment (the 
“Make Whole Award”). This RSU award will be subject to the other terms and conditions set forth in an RSU award agreement 
and grant notice substantially in the Company’s standard form (the “Make-Whole Award Agreement”) and the Equity Plan. To 
accept the award, you must execute the Make-Whole Award Agreement. The Make Whole Award will be subject to clawback by 
the Company in its entirety in the event that you violate any of the restrictive covenants in the CIIA.
 
Benefits and Paid Time Off
 
You will be eligible to participate on the same basis as similarly situated senior executives of the Company in the Company’s 
benefit plans as in effect from time to time during your employment. All matters of eligibility for coverage or benefits under any 
benefit plan shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of such plan. The Company reserves the right to change, alter, 
or terminate any benefit plan in its sole discretion.
 
You will additionally be eligible to participate in the Company’s paid time off policies as in effect from time to time, on the same 
basis applicable to other senior executives of the Company and on terms no less favorable than the Company’s other senior 
executives.

Expense Reimbursements
 
You will be eligible for reimbursement for reasonable out-of-pocket costs incurred by and associated with your duties (excluding, 
for the avoidance of doubt, commuting costs or expenses from your principal residence to your principal work location), subject 
to compliance with the Company’s guidelines and policies, necessary approvals for items of particular amounts or character, and 
required documentation. For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent that any reimbursements payable to you pursuant to this letter 
are subject to the provisions of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (a) any such reimbursements will be paid no 
later than December 31 of the year following the year in which the expense was incurred, (b) the amount of expenses reimbursed 
in one year will not affect the amount eligible for reimbursement in any subsequent year, and (c) the right to reimbursement under 
this letter will not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

In addition, you will be up reimbursed for your reasonable, out-of-pocket, and documented legal fees incurred by you in 
connection with negotiating and entering into this letter and the related documents, subject to your submission of an invoice 
regarding such legal fees to the Company within sixty (60) days following the Start Date, except that such reimbursement shall 
not exceed $25,000 in the aggregate (and which will not, for the avoidance of doubt, be “grossed up” for any taxes that may be 
imposed on such reimbursement (including if such reimbursement is reportable as income, which the Company shall determine in 
good faith)).

Severance Plan
 
You will be eligible to participate in the Severance Plan under the terms and conditions provided in the Severance Plan and the 
Participation Agreement attached as Exhibit A to this letter, to be executed by you on the Start Date.

Indemnification
 
You will be provided with indemnification pursuant to the Company’s standard form of indemnification agreement for its directors 
and executive officers in accordance with its terms (the “Indemnification Agreement”).

At Will Employment
 
Your employment with the Company will be “at will”; in other words, either you or the Company will have the right to terminate 
your employment with the Company at any time, with or without cause, in your or the Company’s discretion.
 
Authorization to Work
 
The offer is contingent upon your meeting the eligibility requirements for employment in the United States. For purposes of 
federal immigration law, you must provide the Company sufficient documentary evidence of your identity and eligibility for 
employment 



in the United States. Such documentation must be provided to us within three business days of the Start Date, or the Company’s 
employment relationship with you may be terminated.

No Breach of Obligations to Prior Employers
 
By signing this letter, you are representing that you have full authority to accept this position and perform the duties and 
responsibilities of the position without conflict with any other obligations and that you are not involved in any situation that might 
create, or appear to create, a conflict of interest with respect to your loyalty to or duties and responsibilities for the Company. You 
specifically represent and warrant that you are not subject to any employment agreement, restrictive covenants, or any other 
agreement or arrangement preventing the performance of your duties or responsibilities to the Company. You agree not to bring to 
the Company or use in the performance of your duties or responsibilities to the Company any trade secrets, materials, or 
documents of a former employer or other service recipient that are not generally available to the public other than as a result of 
our actions or inactions, unless you have obtained express written authorization from the former employer or other services 
recipient for their possession and use. You also agree to honor all obligations to former employers and service recipients during 
your employment with the Company.

Other Contingencies
 
This offer is contingent on your execution of the Company’s Employee Confidential Information, Inventions, Non-Solicitation 
and Non-Competition Agreement (“CIIA”), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit B, and return to the Company with your 
executed offer letter. Unless and until all such steps have been completed, this offer of employment may be withdrawn.

Governing Law and Arbitration
 
This letter will be governed by the substantive laws of the State of New Jersey. In the unlikely event of a dispute between the 
Company and you arising out of your employment or the termination of your employment, we each agree to submit our dispute to 
binding arbitration pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act. This means that there will be no court or jury trial of disputes between 
us concerning your employment or the termination of your employment and that any claims brought hereunder must be brought in 
an individual capacity (i.e., not as part of a class action or representative proceeding). Arbitration will be held in New Jersey, in 
front of a single arbitrator in accordance with the Employment Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association. While 
this agreement to arbitrate is intended to be broad (and covers, for example, claims under state and federal laws prohibiting 
discrimination on the basis of race, sex, age, disability, family leave, etc.), it is not applicable to claims that are not subject to 
arbitration under applicable law (to the extent such law is not preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act or otherwise invalid), 
your rights under applicable workers’ compensation laws, or claims related to enforcement of the CIIA. The Company will pay 
the costs of the arbitrator in any such arbitration. The arbitrator shall (a) have the authority to compel adequate discovery and 
award such relief as would otherwise be permitted by law and (b) issue a signed written statement regarding the disposition of 
each claim and any relief awarded, the reasons for the award, and the essential findings and conclusions on which the award is 
based. Nothing in this letter is intended to prevent either you or the Company from obtaining injunctive relief in court to prevent 
irreparable harm pending the conclusion of any such arbitration. Any arbitration award or order may be entered and enforced as a 
judgment in the federal and state courts of any competent jurisdiction.

Entire Agreement
 
By signing this letter, you acknowledge that the terms described in this letter, together with the attachments hereto, the Severance 
Plan, the Equity Plan, the RSU Award Agreement, the PSU Award Agreement, the Make-Whole Award Agreement and the 
Indemnification Agreement, set forth the entire understanding between us and supersedes any prior representations or agreements, 
whether written or oral (including, without limitation, any term sheet related hereto or thereto), and there are no terms, conditions, 
representations, warranties or covenants other than those contained herein. No term or provision of this letter may be amended 
waived, released, discharged, or modified except in writing, signed by you and an authorized officer of the Company, except that 
the Company may, in its sole discretion but subject to the terms and conditions of this letter, the attachments hereto, the Severance 
Plan, the Equity Plan, the RSU Award Agreement, the PSU Award Agreement and the Make-Whole Award Agreement, adjust 
your Base Salary, incentive compensation, equity and equity-based plans, benefits, job title, locations, duties, responsibilities, and 
reporting relationships.
 

* * * * * 
[Signature Page Follows]



Acceptance

The Company’s offer of employment will remain open until September 4, 2025, and it will expire on that date if not accepted. 
Please indicate your acceptance of this offer by signing below and returning to me this letter along with the executed CIIA. We 
look forward to welcoming you to the Company and working together with you to foster Company growth and success, 
professional development, and personal satisfaction and achievement.
 

Sincerely, 
IonQ, Inc.
 
/s/ Paul T. Dacier
Name: Paul T. Dacier
Title: Chief Legal Officer 
and Corporate Secretary

 
 
 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO 

Date: 9/2/2025 | 4:50 PM EDT
 
/s/ Inder M. Singh
Inder M. Singh 
 
 

 



EXHIBIT A

Participation Agreement
 

IonQ, Inc. (the “Company”) is pleased to inform you, Inder M. Singh, that you have been selected to
participate in the Company’s Executive Severance Plan (the “Plan”) as a Covered Employee. A copy of the Plan was delivered to 
you with this Participation Agreement. Your participation in the Plan is subject to all of the terms and conditions of the Plan. The 
capitalized terms used but not defined herein will have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan.
 

In order to become a Covered Employee under the Plan, you must complete and sign this Participation Agreement and return 
it to the Company no later than September 4, 2025.
 

The Plan describes in detail certain circumstances under which you may become eligible for Severance Benefits and the 
amount of those benefits. As described more fully in the Plan, you may become eligible for certain Severance Benefits if you 
experience a Covered Termination.
 

If you become eligible for Standard Severance Benefits under Section 4.1 of the Plan, then subject to the terms and 
conditions of the Plan, you will receive:
 
Cash Severance Benefits 9 months
Target Annual Bonus Entitlement 100%
Prorated Target Annual Bonus Entitlement As set forth in Section 4.1.3.
Accelerated Equity Vesting As set forth in Section 4.1.5.
COBRA Premiums 9 months
 

If you become eligible for CIC Severance Benefits under Section 4.2 of the Plan, then subject to the terms and conditions of 
the Plan, you will receive:
 
Cash Severance Benefits 12 months
Target Annual Bonus Entitlement 100%
Prorated Target Annual Bonus Entitlement As set forth in Section 4.2.3.
Accelerated Equity Vesting As set forth in Section 4.2.5.
COBRA Premiums 12 months
 

In order to receive any Severance Benefits for which you otherwise become eligible under the Plan, you must sign and 
deliver to the Company the Release, which must have become effective and irrevocable, and otherwise comply with the 
requirements under Section 5 of the Plan.
 

In accordance with Section 6 of the Plan, the benefits, if any, provided under the Plan are intended to be the exclusive 
benefits for you related to your termination of employment with the Company and will supersede and replace any severance 
benefits to which you otherwise would eligible to participate in any other Company severance policy, plan, agreement or other 
arrangement (whether or not subject to ERISA), provided that, any accelerated satisfaction of performance criteria with respect to 
any outstanding equity award that is to vest and/or the amount of the Equity Award to vest is to be determined based on the 
achievement of performance criteria, will be set forth and governed by the award agreement with respect to such equity award (the 
“Performance Award Carveout”).
 

[Signature Page Follows]



 
By your signature below, you and the Company agree that your participation in the Plan is governed by this Participation 

Agreement and the provisions of the Plan. Your signature below confirms that: (i) you have received a copy of the Plan; (ii) you 
have carefully read this Participation Agreement and the Plan and you acknowledge and agree to its terms, including, but not 
limited to, Section 6 of the Plan; (iii) you agree that this Participation Agreement and the provisions of the Plan supersede any 
individual agreement between you and the Company and any other plan, policy or practice, whether written or unwritten, 
maintained by the Company with respect to equity acceleration or severance benefits upon your separation from the Company, 
subject to the Performance Award Carveout; and (iv) decisions and determinations by the Administrator under the Plan will be 
final and binding on you and your successors.

 
IONQ, INC. COVERED EMPLOYEE
 
/s/ Paul T. Dacier /s/ Inder M. Singh

Signature Signature
 

Name: Paul T. Dacier Name: Inder M. Singh
Title: Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary Title: Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer
Date: September 2, 2025 Date: September 2, 2025
 
 

 
Attachment: IonQ, Inc. Executive Severance Plan
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO IONQ, INC. EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE PLAN]

 
 
 

 



EXHIBIT B

CIIA
 

[See attached.]

 
 
 

 



EXHIBIT C

Outside Roles
 



Exhibit 10.2
 
 
July 9, 2025 
 
Paul T. Dacier
 
Re: Employment Offer 
 
Dear Paul:

On behalf of lonQ, Inc. (the “Company”), we are excited to offer you the position of Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary of 
the Company, reporting to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. Your anticipated start date is on or about July 14, 2025 (the date 
of your commencement of employment with us, the “Start Date”), subject to your reporting for work on such date and the other terms 
and conditions of this letter. Your principal work location will be in Boston, Massachusetts, subject to required travel to Company 
offices and other locations as requested by the Company from time to time.

In your role as Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary, you agree to devote your full business time and reasonable best efforts to 
the performance of your job for the Company. However, you may (i) engage in civic, charitable, educational, and non-profit activities, 
and manage your personal investments, and (ii) with the prior consent of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), engage in other 
activities, including, but not limited to, sitting on outside boards of directors (or similar governing bodies) of the for-profit entities as 
shown on Exhibit C attached hereto, which boards and other activities on Exhibit C shall be considered pre-approved by the Board for 
this purpose, provided that none of the foregoing activities in (i) or (ii) shall (a) violate any written Company policy made available to 
you or your restrictive covenants under the CHA (as described below), (b) create a conflict with the Company or its business or your 
fiduciary duties to the Company, or (c) otherwise materially interfere with your performance of your duties and responsibilities to the 
Company. You will confer with the Company’s Chief Executive Officer who will periodically review such outside activities with you 
to ensure compliance with the preceding clauses (a), (b) and (c), and you agree to cooperate and to take necessary actions to ensure 
such compliance.
 
Your position is considered an exempt, salaried position for purposes of federal wage and hour law. Your employment is subject 
to the Company’s personnel policies and procedures as they may be interpreted, adopted, revised, or deleted from time to time in 
the Company’s sole discretion. Other terms of your employment are set forth below.
 
Compensation
 
Base Salary: Your base salary will be $550,000 on an annualized basis (the “Base Salary”), subject to applicable tax and other 
deductions and withholdings (as are all compensation and benefits payable or provided to you by the Company or its subsidiaries) 
and payable at the frequency and in accordance with the Company’s regularly established policies. Your Base Salary may be 
increased from time to time in the Board’s discretion but shall not be decreased (unless part of an “across-the-board,” 
proportionate, one-time reduction in compensation of all similarly situated executive officers of the Company, not to exceed 
15%).

Bonus Incentives: You will be eligible to receive a performance-based annual bonus. The target annual bonus will be Seventy-
Five Percent (75%) of your Base Salary (the “Target Bonus”), and your eligibility to receive any such annual bonus will be based 
on meeting a defined set of executive team performance goals and metrics set annually by the Board or an authorized committee 
of the Board, as determined by the Board or an authorized committee of the Board in its sole discretion (and, in respect of 
calendar year 2025, your annual bonus, subject to the remainder of this paragraph, will be equal to no less than a prorated portion 
of the Target Bonus based on the Start Date. To be eligible to receive any such annual bonus, you must, except as otherwise 
expressly set forth in the Company’s Executive Severance Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Severance Plan”), remain 
employed through the date of payment of such annual bonus, and annual bonuses will be paid no later than March 15thof the 
calendar year following the calendar year to which they relate, and otherwise in compliance with the Company’s then-current 
annual incentive policy or program.

Performance Equity: On the Start Date, you will receive a performance-based restricted stock unit (“PSU”) award, with respect to 
an aggregate target number of PSUs equal to twelve million dollars ($12,000,000) divided by the closing price of a share of the 
Company’s common stock on the Start Date, rounded to the nearest whole number (the “Target PSUs”), with the opportunity to 
vest in up to two hundred percent (200%) of the Target PSUs, with vesting based on the Company’s achievement against 
performance metrics established by the Board or its Compensation Committee for the three (3)-year performance period covering 
the 2025, 2026, and 2027 calendar years. The terms shall be more fully set forth in a PSU award agreement and grant notice on 
the same form as the PSU award granted to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer on February 26, 2025 (the “CEO Grant”), 
and with metrics consistent with those contained in the CEO Grant, as may be adjusted after the date hereof (the “PSU Award 
Agreement”). The terms and conditions of your PSU award, including the vesting schedule, expiration date, and other material 
terms will be set forth in the PSU Award Agreement and the IonQ, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended from time to 
time, the “Equity 



Plan”). To accept the awards, you must execute the PSU Award Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, such terms will include 
accelerated vesting on the same terms as set forth in the CEO Grant in connection with a termination of employment under 
specified circumstances (including involuntary termination without "cause," termination for "good reason," death or disability).
 
Equity Make-Whole Award: On the Start Date, you will receive a restricted stock unit (“RSU”) award, for a number of RSUs 
equal to $400,000, divided by the closing price of a share of the Company’s common stock on the Start Date, rounded to the 
nearest whole number, which will cliff-vest on the second (2nd

) anniversary of the Start Date, subject to your continued 
employment. This award is made in respect of your rights to certain contingent compensation from your prior employer or service 
recipient that you are forfeiting as a result of commencing employment with the Company (the “Make Whole Award”). This 
Make Whole Award will be subject to the other terms and conditions set forth in an RSU award agreement and grant notice 
substantially in the Company’s standard form (the “RSU Award Agreement”) and the Equity Plan, in each case, to the extent not 
inconsistent with the terms hereof. For the avoidance of doubt, such terms will include accelerated vesting on the same terms as 
set forth in the CEO’s make whole RSU award agreement, dated as of February 26, 2025, in connection with a termination of 
employment under specified circumstances (including involuntary termination without “cause,” termination for “good reason,” 
death or disability). To accept the award, you must execute the RSU Award Agreement. The Make Whole Award will be subject 
to clawback by the Company in its entirety in the event that you violate any of the restrictive covenants in the CIIA.
 
You will not be eligible for new grants of equity or equity-based awards until calendar year 2028, unless otherwise determined by 
the independent members of the Board or an authorized committee of the Board.
 
Benefits and Paid Time Off
 
You will be eligible to participate on the same basis as similarly situated senior executives of the Company in the Company’s 
benefit plans as in effect from time to time during your employment. All matters of eligibility for coverage or benefits under any 
benefit plan shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of such plan. The Company reserves the right to change, alter, 
or terminate any benefit plan in its sole discretion. We have attached a summary of the Company’s current benefits package for 
you to review.

You will additionally be eligible to participate in the Company’s paid time off policies as in effect from time to time, on the same 
basis applicable to other senior executives of the Company and on terms no less favorable than the Company’s other senior 
executives.
 
Expense Reimbursements
 
You will be eligible for reimbursement for reasonable out-of-pocket costs incurred by and associated with your duties, including 
any required business travel (but excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, commuting costs or expenses from your principal 
residence to your principal work location), subject to compliance with the Company’s guidelines and policies, necessary 
approvals for items of particular amounts or character, and required documentation. For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent that 
any reimbursements payable to you pursuant to this letter are subject to the provisions of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986 (a) any such reimbursements will be paid no later than December 31 of the year following the year in which the 
expense was incurred, (b) the amount of expenses reimbursed in one year will not affect the amount eligible for reimbursement in 
any subsequent year, and (c) the right to reimbursement under this letter will not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another 
benefit.

In addition, you will be up reimbursed for your reasonable, out-of-pocket, and documented legal fees incurred by you in 
connection with negotiating and entering into this letter and the related documents, subject to your submission of an invoice 
regarding such legal fees to the Company within sixty (60) days following the Start Date, except that such reimbursement shall 
not exceed $50,000 in the aggregate (and which will not, for the avoidance of doubt, be "grossed up" for any taxes that may be 
imposed on such reimbursement (including if such reimbursement is reportable as income, which the Company shall determine in 
good faith)).
 
Severance Plan
 
You will be eligible to participate in the Severance Plan under the terms and conditions provided in the Severance Plan and the 
Participation Agreement attached as Exhibit A to this letter, to be executed by you on the Start Date. Without limitation of Section 
5.3 of the Severance Plan, in the event of a “change in ownership or control” of the Company (within the meaning of Section 
280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder), the Company shall request 
that the provider engaged to make the calculations described in Section 5.3 of the Severance Plan also make recommendations to 
mitigate the value of the Payments (as defined in the Severance Plan) to reduce the amount of the Excise Tax (as defined in the 
Severance Plan) and/or the size of the reduction required to reach the applicable “Higher Amount” (as defined in the Severance 
Plan), and the Company will consider any such recommendations in good faith prior to applying Section 5.3 of the Severance Plan 
to any Payments to you.
 
Indemnification



 
You will be provided with indemnification pursuant to the Company’s standard form of indemnification agreement for its 
directors and executive officers in accordance with its terms (the “Indemnification Agreement”).
 
At Will Employment
 
Your employment with the Company will be “at will”; in other words, either you or the Company will have the right to terminate 
your employment with the Company at any time, with or without cause, in your or the Company’s discretion.
 
Authorization to Work
 
The offer is contingent upon your meeting the eligibility requirements for employment in the United States. For purposes of 
federal immigration law, you must provide the Company sufficient documentary evidence of your identity and eligibility for 
employment in the United States. Such documentation must be provided to us within three business days of the Start Date, or the 
Company’s employment relationship with you may be terminated.
 
No Breach of Obligations to Prior Employers
 
By signing this letter, you are representing that you have full authority to accept this position and perform the duties and 
responsibilities of the position without conflict with any other obligations and that you are not involved in any situation that might 
create, or appear to create, a conflict of interest with respect to your loyalty to or duties and responsibilities for the Company. You 
specifically represent and warrant that you are not subject to any employment agreement, restrictive covenants, or any other 
agreement or arrangement preventing the performance of your duties or responsibilities to the Company. You agree not to bring to 
the Company or use in the performance of your duties or responsibilities to the Company any trade secrets, materials, or 
documents of a former employer or other service recipient that are not generally available to the public other than as a result of 
our actions or inactions, unless you have obtained express written authorization from the former employer or other services 
recipient for their possession and use. You also agree to honor all obligations to former employers and service recipients during 
your employment with the Company.
 
Other Contingencies
 
This offer is contingent on your execution of the Company’s Employee Confidential Information, Inventions, Non-Solicitation 
and Non-Competition Agreement (“CHA”), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit B, and return to the Company with your 
executed offer letter. Unless and until all such steps have been completed, this offer of employment may be withdrawn.
 
Governing Law and Arbitration
 
This letter will be governed by the substantive laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. In the unlikely event of a dispute 
between the Company and you arising out of your employment or the termination of your employment, we each agree to submit 
our dispute to binding arbitration pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act. This means that there will be no court or jury trial of 
disputes between us concerning your employment or the termination of your employment and that any claims brought hereunder 
must be brought in an individual capacity (i.e., not as part of a class action or representative proceeding). Arbitration will be held 
in Boston, Massachusetts, in front of a single arbitrator in accordance with the Employment Arbitration Rules of the American 
Arbitration Association. While this agreement to arbitrate is intended to be broad (and covers, for example, claims under state and 
federal laws prohibiting discrimination on the basis of race, sex, age, disability, family leave, etc.), it is not applicable to claims 
that are not subject to arbitration under applicable law (to the extent such law is not preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act or 
otherwise invalid), your rights under applicable workers’ compensation laws, or claims related to enforcement of the CIIA. The 
Company will pay the costs of the arbitrator in any such arbitration. The arbitrator shall (a) have the authority to compel adequate 
discovery and award such relief as would otherwise be permitted by law and (b) issue a signed written statement regarding the 
disposition of each claim and any relief awarded, the reasons for the award, and the essential findings and conclusions on which 
the award is based. Nothing in this letter is intended to prevent either you or the Company from obtaining injunctive relief in court 
to prevent irreparable harm pending the conclusion of any such arbitration. Any arbitration award or order may be entered and 
enforced as a judgment in the federal and state courts of any competent jurisdiction.
 
Entire Agreement
 
By signing this letter, you acknowledge that the terms described in this letter, together with the attachments hereto, the Severance 
Plan, the Equity Plan, the PSU Award Agreement, the RSU Award Agreement and the Indemnification Agreement, set forth the 
entire understanding between us and supersedes any prior representations or agreements, whether written or oral (including, 
without limitation, any term sheet related hereto or thereto), and there are no terms, conditions, representations, warranties or 
covenants other than those contained herein. No term or provision of this letter may be amended waived, released, discharged, or 
modified except in writing, signed by you and an authorized officer of the Company, except that the Company may, in its sole 
discretion but 



subject to the terms and conditions of this letter, the attachments hereto, the Severance Plan, the Equity Plan, the PSU Award 
Agreement and the RSU Award Agreement adjust your Base Salary, incentive compensation, equity and equity-based plans, 
benefits, job title, locations, duties, responsibilities, and reporting relationships.

*  * * * *
 
 

[Signature Page Follows]
 



Acceptance
 
The Company’s offer of employment will remain open until July 14, 2025, and it will expire on that date if not accepted. Please indicate 
your acceptance of this offer by signing below and returning to me this letter along with the executed CIIA. We look forward to 
welcoming you to the Company and working together with you to foster Company growth and success, professional development, and 
personal satisfaction and achievement.
 

Sincerely,
 
IonQ, Inc.
 
 
/s/ Niccolo de Masi
Name: Niccolo de Masi
Title: Chief Executive Officer

 
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO
 
Date: 7/9/2025 | 9:28 PM EDT
 
 
/s/ Paul T. Dacier
Paul T. Dacier
 
Enclosures and Notices

- Confidentiality Agreement
- PFML Workforce Notification: https://www.mass.gov/lists/pfml-workforce-notifications-and-rate-sheets-for-
massachusetts-employers
- PFML Notice of Benefits: https://www.mass.gov/doc/2022-paid-family-and-medical-leave-mandatory-workplace-
poster/download
- Earned Sick Time Notice of Employee Rights: https://www.mass.gov/doc/earned-sick-time-notice-of-employee-
rights-english/download
- Pregnant Workers Fairness Act Notice:

https://www.mass.gov/files/documents/2018/01/24/Guidance%20on%20Pregnant%20Workers%20Fairness
%20Act%20%202018-01-23.pdf

- Other Employee Notices: https://www.mass.gov/service-details/massachusetts-workplace-poster-requirements.
 
 

 



EXHIBIT A

Participation Agreement
 

IonQ, Inc. (the “Company”) is pleased to inform you, Paul T. Dacier, that you have been selected to participate in the 
Company’s Executive Severance Plan (the “Plan”) as a Covered Employee. A copy of the Plan was delivered to you with this 
Participation Agreement. Your participation in the Plan is subject to all of the terms and conditions of the Plan. The capitalized terms 
used but not defined herein will have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan.
 

In order to become a Covered Employee under the Plan, you must complete and sign this Participation Agreement and return it 
to the Company no later than July 14, 2025.
 

The Plan describes in detail certain circumstances under which you may become eligible for Severance Benefits and the 
amount of those benefits. As described more fully in the Plan, you will become eligible for certain Severance Benefits if you experience 
a Covered Termination.
 

If you become eligible for Standard Severance Benefits under Section 4.1 of the Plan, then subject to the terms and conditions 
of the Plan, you will receive:
 
Cash Severance Benefits 9 months
Target Annual Bonus Entitlement 1x
Prorated Target Annual Bonus Entitlement As set forth in Section 4.1.3.
Accelerated Equity Vesting As set forth in Section 4.1.5.
COBRA Premiums 9 months

If you become eligible for CIC Severance Benefits under Section 4.2 of the Plan, then subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, 
you will receive:
 
Cash Severance Benefits 12 months
Target Annual Bonus Entitlement 1x
Prorated Target Annual Bonus Entitlement As set fort.h in Section 4.2.3
Accelerated Equity Vesting As set forth in Section 4.2.5.
COBRA Premiums 12 months

In order to receive any Severance Benefits for which you otherwise become eligible under the Plan, you must sign and deliver to the 
Company the Release, which must have become effective and irrevocable, and otherwise comply with the requirements under Section 5 of 
the Plan.
 

In accordance with Section 6 of the Plan, the benefits, if any, provided under the Plan are intended to be the exclusive benefits for 
you related to your termination of employment with the Company and will supersede and replace any severance benefits to which you 
otherwise would eligible to participate in any other Company severance policy, plan, agreement or other arrangement (whether or not subject 
to ERISA), provided that, any accelerated satisfaction of performance criteria with respect to any outstanding equity award that is to vest 
and/or the amount of the Equity Award to vest is to be determined based on the achievement of performance criteria, will be set forth and 
governed by the award agreement with respect to such equity award not inconsistent with the terms hereof (the “Performance Award 
Carveout”).
 

[Signature Page Follows]

 



By your signature below, you and the Company agree that your participation in the Plan is governed by this 
Participation Agreement and the provisions of the Plan. Your signature below confirms that: (i) you have received a copy of the 
Plan; (ii) you have carefully read this Participation Agreement and the Plan and you acknowledge and agree to its terms, 
including, but not limited to, Section 6 of the Plan; (iii) you agree that this Participation Agreement and the provisions of the 
Plan supersede any individual agreement between you and the Company and any other plan, policy or practice, whether written 
or unwritten, maintained by the Company with respect to equity acceleration or severance benefits upon your separation from 
the Company, subject to the Performance Award Carveout; and (iv) decisions and determinations by the Administrator under 
the Plan will be final and binding on you and your successors.

 
IONQ, INC. COVERED EMPLOYEE
 
 
/s/ Niccolo de Masi /s/ Paul T. Dacier

Signature Signature
 
 

Name: Niccolo de Masi Name: Paul T. Dacier
Title: Chief Executive Officer Title: Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary
Date: July 9, 2025 Date: July 9, 2025
 
 
Attachment: IonQ, Inc. Executive Severance Plan
 

  
 

 



EXHIBIT B 
CHA

[See attached]

 
 
 
 

 



EXHIBIT C
 

Outside Roles
 

1. Non-Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors at AerCap Holdings, N.V.
 
2. Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors at Progress Software

 



Exhibit 10.3
 

 
September 3, 2025 
 
Dean Acosta
 
Re: Employment Offer
 
Dear Dean:
 
On behalf of IonQ, Inc. (the “Company”), we are excited to offer you the position of Chief Corporate Affairs and Government 
Relations Officer of the Company, reporting to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. Your anticipated start date is October 6, 
2025 (the date of your commencement of employment with us, the “Start Date”), subject to your reporting for work on such date 
and the other terms and conditions of this letter. Your principal work location will be in Austin, Texas, subject to required travel 
to Company offices and other locations as requested by the Company from time to time.
 
In your role as Chief Corporate Affairs and Government Relations Officer, you agree to devote your full business time and best 
efforts to the performance of your job for the Company. However, you may (i) engage in civic, charitable, educational, and non-
profit activities, and manage your personal investments, and (ii) with the prior consent of the Company’s Board of Directors (the 
“Board”), engage in other activities, including, but not limited to, sitting on outside boards of directors (or similar governing 
bodies) of the for-profit entities as shown on Exhibit C attached hereto, which boards and other activities on Exhibit C shall be 
considered pre-approved by the Board for this purpose, provided that none of the foregoing activities in (i) or (ii) shall (a) violate 
any written Company policy made available to you or your restrictive covenants under the CIIA (as described below), (b) create a 
conflict with the Company or its business or your fiduciary duties to the Company, or (c) otherwise materially interfere with your 
performance of your duties and responsibilities to the Company.
 
Your position is considered an exempt, salaried position for purposes of federal wage and hour law. Your employment is subject 
to the Company’s personnel policies and procedures as they may be interpreted, adopted, revised, or deleted from time to time in 
the Company’s sole discretion. Other terms of your employment are set forth below. All compensation amounts hereunder are 
subject to applicable taxes and other applicable withholdings.

Compensation
 
Base Salary: Your base salary will be $500,000 on an annualized basis (the “Base Salary”), subject to applicable tax and other 
deductions and withholdings (as are all compensation and benefits payable or provided to you by the Company or its subsidiaries) 
and payable at the frequency and in accordance with the Company’s regularly established policies. Your Base Salary may be 
increased from time to time in the Board’s discretion but shall not be decreased (unless part of an “across-the-board,” 
proportionate, one-time reduction in compensation of all similarly situated executive officers of the Company, not to exceed 
15%).
 
Bonus Incentives: You will be eligible to receive a performance-based annual bonus. The target annual bonus will be seventy-
five percent (75%) of your Base Salary (the “Target Bonus”), and your eligibility to receive any such annual bonus will be based 
on meeting a defined set of executive team performance goals and metrics set annually by the Board or an authorized committee 
of the Board, as determined by the Board or an authorized committee of the Board in its sole discretion (and, in respect of 
calendar year 2025, your annual bonus, subject to the remainder of this paragraph, will be equal to no less than a prorated portion 
of the Target Bonus based on the Start Date. To be eligible to receive any such annual bonus, you must, except as otherwise 
expressly set forth in the Company’s Executive Severance Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Severance Plan”), remain 
employed through the date of payment of such annual bonus, and annual bonuses will be paid no later than March 15th of the 
calendar year following the calendar year to which they relate, and otherwise in compliance with the Company’s then-current 
annual incentive policy or program.

Signing Bonus: You will receive a sign-on bonus of $1,500,000 (the “Sign-On Bonus”), which shall be payable on the first 
payroll date following January 2, 2026. If your employment is terminated for any reason other than for a Covered Termination (as 
defined in the Severance Plan) prior to the first anniversary of the Start Date, you shall be obligated to repay to the Company, 
within ten (10) days of such termination of employment, the Sign-On Bonus previously paid to you.
 
Regular Equity Awards: On or as soon as reasonably practicable following the Start Date, you will receive (i) a restricted stock 
unit (“RSU”) award, for a number of RSUs equal to $6,000,000, divided by the closing price of a share of the Company’s 
common stock on the Start Date, rounded to the nearest whole number, pursuant to the Company’s form of RSU award agreement 
(the “RSU Award Agreement”) and (ii) a performance-based RSU (“PSU”) award, with respect to an aggregate target number of 
PSUs equal to seven and one-half million dollars ($7,500,000) divided by the closing price of a share of the Company’s common 
stock on the 



Start Date, rounded to the nearest whole number (the “Target PSUs”), with the opportunity to vest in up to two hundred percent 
(200%) of the Target PSUs, with vesting based on the Company’s achievement against performance metrics established by the 
Board for the three (3)-year performance period covering the 2025, 2026, and 2027 calendar years which shall be more fully set 
forth in a PSU award agreement and grant notice (the “PSU Award Agreement”). The terms and conditions of your RSU and 
PSU awards, including the vesting schedule, expiration date, and other material terms will be set forth in the RSU Award 
Agreement or the PSU Award Agreement, as applicable, and the IonQ, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended from time to 
time, the “Equity Plan”). To accept the awards, you must execute the RSU Award Agreement and the PSU Award Agreement.
 
Benefits and Paid Time Off

You will be eligible to participate on the same basis as similarly situated senior executives of the Company in the Company’s 
benefit plans as in effect from time to time during your employment. All matters of eligibility for coverage or benefits under any 
benefit plan shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of such plan. The Company reserves the right to change, alter, 
or terminate any benefit plan in its sole discretion.
 
You will additionally be eligible to participate in the Company’s paid time off policies as in effect from time to time, on the same 
basis applicable to other senior executives of the Company and on terms no less favorable than the Company’s other senior 
executives.
 
Expense Reimbursements

You will be eligible for reimbursement for reasonable out-of-pocket costs incurred by and associated with your duties (excluding, 
for the avoidance of doubt, commuting costs or expenses from your principal residence to your principal work location), subject 
to compliance with the Company’s guidelines and policies, necessary approvals for items of particular amounts or character, and 
required documentation. For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent that any reimbursements payable to you pursuant to this letter 
are subject to the provisions of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (a) any such reimbursements will be paid no 
later than December 31 of the year following the year in which the expense was incurred, (b) the amount of expenses reimbursed 
in one year will not affect the amount eligible for reimbursement in any subsequent year, and (c) the right to reimbursement under 
this letter will not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.
 
Severance Plan

You will be eligible to participate in the Severance Plan under the terms and conditions provided in the Severance Plan and the 
Participation Agreement attached as Exhibit A to this letter, to be executed by you on the Start Date.
 
Indemnification

You will be provided with indemnification pursuant to the Company’s standard form of indemnification agreement for its directors 
and executive officers in accordance with its terms (the “Indemnification Agreement”).
 
At Will Employment

Your employment with the Company will be “at will”; in other words, either you or the Company will have the right to terminate 
your employment with the Company at any time, with or without cause, in your or the Company’s discretion.
 
Authorization to Work

The offer is contingent upon your meeting the eligibility requirements for employment in the United States. For purposes of 
federal immigration law, you must provide the Company sufficient documentary evidence of your identity and eligibility for 
employment in the United States. Such documentation must be provided to us within three business days of the Start Date, or the 
Company’s employment relationship with you may be terminated.

No Breach of Obligations to Prior Employers
 
By signing this letter, you are representing that you have full authority to accept this position and perform the duties and 
responsibilities of the position without conflict with any other obligations and that you are not involved in any situation that might 
create, or appear to create, a conflict of interest with respect to your loyalty to or duties and responsibilities for the Company. You 
specifically represent and warrant that you are not subject to any employment agreement, restrictive covenants, or any other 
agreement or arrangement preventing the performance of your duties or responsibilities to the Company. You agree not to bring to 
the Company or use in the performance of your duties or responsibilities to the Company any trade secrets, materials, or 
documents of a former employer or other service recipient that are not generally available to the public other than as a result of 
our actions or inactions, unless you have obtained express written authorization from the former employer or other services 
recipient for their 



possession and use. You also agree to honor all obligations to former employers and service recipients during your employment 
with the Company.
 
Other Contingencies
 
This offer is contingent on your execution of the Company’s Employee Confidential Information, Inventions, Non-Solicitation 
and Non-Competition Agreement (“CIIA”), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit B, and return to the Company with your 
executed offer letter. Unless and until all such steps have been completed, this offer of employment may be withdrawn.
 
Governing Law and Arbitration

This letter will be governed by the substantive laws of the State of Texas. In the unlikely event of a dispute between the Company 
and you arising out of your employment or the termination of your employment, we each agree to submit our dispute to binding 
arbitration pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act. This means that there will be no court or jury trial of disputes between us 
concerning your employment or the termination of your employment and that any claims brought hereunder must be brought in an 
individual capacity (i.e., not as part of a class action or representative proceeding). Arbitration will be held in Austin, Texas, in 
front of a single arbitrator in accordance with the Employment Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association. While 
this agreement to arbitrate is intended to be broad (and covers, for example, claims under state and federal laws prohibiting 
discrimination on the basis of race, sex, age, disability, family leave, etc.), it is not applicable to claims that are not subject to 
arbitration under applicable law (to the extent such law is not preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act or otherwise invalid), your 
rights under applicable workers’ compensation laws, or claims related to enforcement of the CIIA. The Company will pay the 
costs of the arbitrator in any such arbitration. The arbitrator shall (a) have the authority to compel adequate discovery and award 
such relief as would otherwise be permitted by law and (b) issue a signed written statement regarding the disposition of each 
claim and any relief awarded, the reasons for the award, and the essential findings and conclusions on which the award is based. 
Nothing in this letter is intended to prevent either you or the Company from obtaining injunctive relief in court to prevent 
irreparable harm pending the conclusion of any such arbitration. Any arbitration award or order may be entered and enforced as a 
judgment in the federal and state courts of any competent jurisdiction.
 
Entire Agreement

By signing this letter, you acknowledge that the terms described in this letter, together with the attachments hereto, the Severance 
Plan, the Equity Plan, the RSU Award Agreement, the PSU Award Agreement and the Indemnification Agreement, set forth the 
entire understanding between us and supersedes any prior representations or agreements, whether written or oral (including, 
without limitation, any term sheet related hereto or thereto), and there are no terms, conditions, representations, warranties or 
covenants other than those contained herein. No term or provision of this letter may be amended waived, released, discharged, or 
modified except in writing, signed by you and an authorized officer of the Company, except that the Company may, in its sole 
discretion but subject to the terms and conditions of this letter, the attachments hereto, the Severance Plan, the Equity Plan, the 
RSU Award Agreement and the PSU Award Agreement, adjust your Base Salary, incentive compensation, equity and equity-
based plans, benefits, job title, locations, duties, responsibilities, and reporting relationships.
 

* * * * * 
[Signature Page Follows] 



Acceptance

The Company’s offer of employment will remain open until September 9, 2025, and it will expire on that date if not accepted. 
Please indicate your acceptance of this offer by signing below and returning to me this letter along with the executed CIIA. We 
look forward to welcoming you to the Company and working together with you to foster Company growth and success, 
professional development, and personal satisfaction and achievement.
 

Sincerely, 
 
IonQ, Inc.
 
 
/s/ Paul T. Dacier
Name: Paul T. Dacier
Title: Chief Legal Officer 
and Corporate Secretary

 
  
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO 
Date: 9/3/2025 | 8:37 AM PDT
 
 
/s/ Dean Acosta
Dean Acosta 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 



 
EXHIBIT A

Participation Agreement
 

IonQ, Inc. (the “Company”) is pleased to inform you, Dean Acosta, that you have been selected to participate in the 
Company’s Executive Severance Plan (the “Plan”) as a Covered Employee. A copy of the Plan was delivered to you with this 
Participation Agreement. Your participation in the Plan is subject to all of the terms and conditions of the Plan. The capitalized 
terms used but not defined herein will have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan.
 

In order to become a Covered Employee under the Plan, you must complete and sign this Participation Agreement and return 
it to the Company no later than September 9, 2025.
 

The Plan describes in detail certain circumstances under which you may become eligible for Severance Benefits and the 
amount of those benefits. As described more fully in the Plan, you may become eligible for certain Severance Benefits if you 
experience a Covered Termination.
 

If you become eligible for Standard Severance Benefits under Section 4.1 of the Plan, then subject to the terms and 
conditions of the Plan, you will receive:
 
Cash Severance Benefits 9 months
Target Annual Bonus Entitlement 75%
Prorated Target Annual Bonus Entitlement As set forth in Section 4.1.3.
Accelerated Equity Vesting As set forth in Section 4.1.5.
COBRA Premiums 9 months
 

If you become eligible for CIC Severance Benefits under Section 4.2 of the Plan, then subject to the terms and conditions of 
the Plan, you will receive:
 
Cash Severance Benefits 12 months
Target Annual Bonus Entitlement 75%
Prorated Target Annual Bonus Entitlement As set forth in Section 4.2.3.
Accelerated Equity Vesting As set forth in Section 4.2.5.
COBRA Premiums 12 months
 

In order to receive any Severance Benefits for which you otherwise become eligible under the Plan, you must sign and 
deliver to the Company the Release, which must have become effective and irrevocable, and otherwise comply with the 
requirements under Section 5 of the Plan.
 

In accordance with Section 6 of the Plan, the benefits, if any, provided under the Plan are intended to be the exclusive 
benefits for you related to your termination of employment with the Company and will supersede and replace any severance 
benefits to which you otherwise would eligible to participate in any other Company severance policy, plan, agreement or other 
arrangement (whether or not subject to ERISA), provided that, any accelerated satisfaction of performance criteria with respect to 
any outstanding equity award that is to vest and/or the amount of the Equity Award to vest is to be determined based on the 
achievement of performance criteria, will be set forth and governed by the award agreement with respect to such equity award (the 
“Performance Award Carveout”).
 

[Signature Page Follows]

 
 
 
 

 



By your signature below, you and the Company agree that your participation in the Plan is governed by this Participation 
Agreement and the provisions of the Plan. Your signature below confirms that: (i) you have received a copy of the Plan; (ii) you 
have carefully read this Participation Agreement and the Plan and you acknowledge and agree to its terms, including, but not 
limited to, Section 6 of the Plan; (iii) you agree that this Participation Agreement and the provisions of the Plan supersede any 
individual agreement between you and the Company and any other plan, policy or practice, whether written or unwritten, 
maintained by the Company with respect to equity acceleration or severance benefits upon your separation from the Company, 
subject to the Performance Award Carveout; and (iv) decisions and determinations by the Administrator under the Plan will be 
final and binding on you and your successors.
 
IONQ, INC. COVERED EMPLOYEE
 
/s/ Paul T. Dacier /s/ Dean Acosta

Signature Signature
 
Name: Paul T. Dacier Name: Dean Acosta
Title: Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary Title: Senior Vice President of Government Relations and 
Communications
Date: September 3, 2025 Date: September 3, 2025
 
 
Attachment: IonQ, Inc. Executive Severance Plan
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 



EXHIBIT B

CIIA
 

[See attached.]
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Outside Roles
 



Exhibit 10.4
 
September 4, 2025 
 
Robert Cardillo
 
Re: Employment Offer 
 
Dear Robert:
 
On behalf of IonQ, Inc. (the “Company”), we are excited to offer you the position of Executive Chairman of IonQ Federal (the 
“Subsidiary”), reporting to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. Your start date will be mutually agreed upon by you and the 
Company (the date of your commencement of employment with us, the “Start Date”), subject to your reporting for work on such date 
and the other terms and conditions of this letter. You will be permitted to work remotely, subject to required travel to Company offices 
and other locations as requested by the Company from time to time.
 
In your roles as Executive Chairman of the Subsidiary, you agree to devote a majority of your business time and best efforts to the 
performance of your job for the Company. However, you may (i) engage in civic, charitable, educational, and non-profit activities, and 
manage your personal investments, and (ii) with the prior consent of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”), engage in 
other activities, including, but not limited to, sitting on outside boards of directors (or similar governing bodies) of the for-profit 
entities as shown on Exhibit C attached hereto, which boards and other activities on Exhibit C shall be considered pre-approved by the 
Board for this purpose, provided that none of the foregoing activities in (i) or (ii) shall (a) violate any written Company policy made 
available to you or your restrictive covenants under the CIIA (as described below), (b) create a conflict with the Company or its 
business or your fiduciary duties to the Company, or (c) otherwise materially interfere with your performance of your duties and 
responsibilities to the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, you agree that you will (i) remain in your current Board role through 
the Company’s 2026 annual meeting but will not be up for reelection and (ii) serve on the Subsidiary’s Board of Directors.
 
Your position is considered an exempt, salaried position for purposes of federal wage and hour law. Your employment is subject to the 
Company’s personnel policies and procedures as they may be interpreted, adopted, revised, or deleted from time to time in the 
Company’s sole discretion. Other terms of your employment are set forth below. All compensation amounts hereunder are subject to 
applicable taxes and other applicable withholdings.
 
Compensation
 
Base Salary: Your base salary will be $400,000 on an annualized basis (the “Base Salary”), subject to applicable tax and other 
deductions and withholdings (as are all compensation and benefits payable or provided to you by the Company or its subsidiaries) 
and payable at the frequency and in accordance with the Company’s regularly established policies. Your Base Salary may be 
increased from time to time in the Board’s discretion but shall not be decreased (unless part of an “across-the-board,” 
proportionate, one-time reduction in compensation of all similarly situated executive officers of the Company, not to exceed 
15%).

Bonus Incentives: You will be eligible to receive a performance-based annual bonus. The target annual bonus will be fifty 
percent (50%) of your Base Salary (the “Target Bonus”), and your eligibility to receive any such annual bonus will be based on 
meeting the same set of performance goals and metrics set annually by the Board or an authorized committee of the Board for the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, as determined by the Board or an authorized committee of the Board in its sole discretion 
(and, in respect of calendar year 2025, your annual bonus, subject to the remainder of this paragraph, will be equal to no less than 
a prorated portion of the Target Bonus based on the Start Date. To be eligible to receive any such annual bonus, you must, except 
as otherwise expressly set forth in the Company’s Executive Severance Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Severance 
Plan”), remain employed through the date of payment of such annual bonus, and annual bonuses will be paid no later than March 
15th of the calendar year following the calendar year to which they relate, and otherwise in compliance with the Company’s then-
current annual incentive policy or program.
 
Signing Bonus: You will receive a sign-on bonus of $200,000 (the “Sign-On Bonus”), which shall be payable within thirty (30) days 
following the Effective Date. If your employment is terminated for any reason other than for a Covered Termination (as defined in the 
Severance Plan) prior to the first anniversary of the Start Date, you shall be obligated to repay to the Company, within ten (10) days of 
such termination of employment, the Sign-On Bonus previously paid to you.
 
Regular Equity Awards: On or as soon as reasonably practicable following the Start Date, you will receive (i) a restricted stock unit 
(“RSU”) award, for a number of RSUs equal to $2,000,000, divided by the closing price of a share of the Company’s common stock 
on the Start Date, rounded to the nearest whole number, which will vest over four (4) years pursuant to the Company’s form of RSU 
award agreement (the “RSU Award Agreement”) and (ii) a performance-based RSU (“PSU”) award, with respect to an aggregate 
target number of PSUs equal to four million dollars ($4,000,000) divided by the closing price of a share of the Company’s common 
stock on the Start Date, rounded to the nearest whole number (the “Target PSUs”), with the opportunity to vest in up to two hundred 
percent 



(200%) of the Target PSUs, with vesting based on the Company’s achievement against performance metrics established by the Board 
for the three (3)-year performance period covering the 2025, 2026, and 2027 calendar years which shall be more fully set forth in a 
PSU award agreement and grant notice (the “PSU Award Agreement”). The terms and conditions of your RSU and PSU awards, 
including the vesting schedule, expiration date, and other material terms will be set forth in the RSU Award Agreement or the PSU 
Award Agreement, as applicable, and the IonQ, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended from time to time, the “Equity Plan”). 
To accept the awards, you must execute the RSU Award Agreement and the PSU Award Agreement.
 
Equity Make-Whole Award: On the Start Date, subject to approval by the compensation committee of the Board, you will receive a 
restricted stock unit (“RSU”) award, for a number of RSUs equal to $1,400,000, divided by the closing price of a share of the 
Company’s common stock on the Start Date, rounded to the nearest whole number, which will cliff-vest on the second (2nd) 
anniversary of the Start Date, subject to your continued employment. This award is made in respect of your rights to certain contingent 
compensation from your prior employer or service recipient that you are forfeiting as a result of commencing employment with the 
Company (the “Make Whole Award”). This RSU award will be subject to the other terms and conditions set forth in an RSU award 
agreement and grant notice substantially in the Company’s standard form (the “Make-Whole Award Agreement”) and the Equity 
Plan. To accept the award, you must execute the Make-Whole Award Agreement. The Make Whole Award will be subject to your 
submission of satisfactory evidence regarding such forfeited compensation to the Company within sixty (60) days following the Start 
Date and will be subject to clawback by the Company in its entirety in the event that you violate any of the restrictive covenants in the 
CIIA.

Benefits and Paid Time Off
 
You will be eligible to participate on the same basis as similarly situated senior executives of the Company in the  as in effect 
from time to time during your employment. All matters of eligibility for coverage or benefits under any benefit plan shall be 
determined in accordance with the provisions of such plan. The Company reserves the right to change, alter, or terminate any 
benefit plan in its sole discretion.

You will additionally  on the same basis applicable to other senior executives of the Company and on terms no less favorable than 
the  other senior executives.
 
Executive Assistant
 
You will be permitted to hire or engage an executive assistant to help assist you with your role at the Company, at the Company’s 
expense, for up to $90,000 per annum.

Expense Reimbursements
 

You will be eligible for reimbursement for reasonable out-of-pocket costs incurred by and associated with your duties (excluding, for 
the avoidance of doubt, commuting costs or expenses from your principal residence to your principal work location), subject to 
compliance with the Company’s guidelines and policies, necessary approvals for items of particular amounts or character, and 
required documentation. For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent that any reimbursements payable to you pursuant to this letter are 
subject to the provisions of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (a) any such reimbursements will be paid no later than 
December 31 of the year following the year in which the expense was incurred, (b) the amount of expenses reimbursed in one year 
will not affect the amount eligible for reimbursement in any subsequent year, and (c) the right to reimbursement under this letter will 
not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

In addition, you will be up reimbursed for your reasonable, out-of-pocket, and documented legal fees incurred by you in connection 
with negotiating and entering into this letter and the related documents, subject to your submission of an invoice regarding such legal 
fees to the Company within sixty (60) days following the Start Date, except that such reimbursement shall not exceed $25,000 in the 
aggregate (and which will not, for the avoidance of doubt, be “grossed up” for any taxes that may be imposed on such reimbursement 
(including if such reimbursement is reportable as income, which the Company shall determine in good faith)).
 
Severance Plan

You will be eligible to participate in the Severance Plan under the terms and conditions provided in the Severance Plan and the 
Participation Agreement attached as Exhibit A to this letter, to be executed by you on the Start Date.
 
Indemnification

You will be provided with indemnification pursuant to the Company’s  standard form of indemnification agreement for its directors 
and executive officers in accordance with its terms (the “Indemnification Agreement”).
 
At Will Employment
 



Your employment with the Company will be “at will”; in other words, either you or the Company will have the right to terminate your 
employment with the Company at any time, with or without cause, in your or the Company’s discretion.
 
Authorization to Work
 
The offer is contingent upon your meeting the eligibility requirements for employment in the United States. For purposes of 
federal immigration law, you must provide the Company sufficient documentary evidence of your identity and eligibility for 
employment in the United States. Such documentation must be provided to us within three business days of the Start Date, or  
employment relationship with you may be terminated.
 
No Breach of Obligations to Prior Employers

By signing this letter, you are representing that you have full authority to accept this position and perform the duties and 
responsibilities of the position without conflict with any other obligations and that you are not involved in any situation that might 
create, or appear to create, a conflict of interest with respect to your loyalty to or duties and responsibilities for the Company. You 
specifically represent and warrant that you are not subject to any employment agreement, restrictive covenants, or any other 
agreement or arrangement preventing the performance of your duties or responsibilities to the Company. You agree not to bring to 
the Company or use in the performance of your duties or responsibilities to the Company any trade secrets, materials, or 
documents of a former employer or other service recipient that are not generally available to the public other than as a result of 
our actions or inactions, unless you have obtained express written authorization from the former employer or other services 
recipient for their possession and use. You also agree to honor all obligations to former employers and service recipients during 
your employment with the Company.
 
Other Contingencies
 
This offer is contingent on your execution of the Company’s Confidential Information, Inventions, Non-Solicitation and Non-
Competition Agreement (“CIIA”), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit B, and return to the Company with your executed offer 
letter. Unless and until all such steps have been completed, this offer of employment may be withdrawn.
 
Governing Law and Arbitration

This letter will be governed by the substantive laws of the State of Maryland. In the unlikely event of a dispute between the 
Company and you arising out of your employment or the termination of your employment, we each agree to submit our dispute to 
binding arbitration pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act. This means that there will be no court or jury trial of disputes between 
us concerning your employment or the termination of your employment and that any claims brought hereunder must be brought in 
an individual capacity (i.e., not as part of a class action or representative proceeding). Arbitration will be held in College Park, 
Maryland, in front of a single arbitrator in accordance with the Employment Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration 
Association. While this agreement to arbitrate is intended to be broad (and covers, for example, claims under state and federal 
laws prohibiting discrimination on the basis of race, sex, age, disability, family leave, etc.), it is not applicable to claims that are 
not subject to arbitration under applicable law (to the extent such law is not preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act or otherwise 
invalid), your rights under applicable workers’ compensation laws, or claims related to enforcement of the CIIA. The Company 
will pay the costs of the arbitrator in any such arbitration. The arbitrator shall (a) have the authority to compel adequate discovery 
and award such relief as would otherwise be permitted by law and (b) issue a signed written statement regarding the disposition of 
each claim and any relief awarded, the reasons for the award, and the essential findings and conclusions on which the award is 
based. Nothing in this letter is intended to prevent either you or the Company from obtaining injunctive relief in court to prevent 
irreparable harm pending the conclusion of any such arbitration. Any arbitration award or order may be entered and enforced as a 
judgment in the federal and state courts of any competent jurisdiction.

Entire Agreement
 
By signing this letter, you acknowledge that the terms described in this letter, together with the attachments hereto, the Severance 
Plan, the Equity Plan, the RSU Award Agreement, the PSU Award Agreement, the Make-Whole Award Agreement and the 
Indemnification Agreement, set forth the entire understanding between us and supersedes any prior representations or agreements, 
whether written or oral (including, without limitation, any term sheet related hereto or thereto), and there are no terms, conditions, 
representations, warranties or covenants other than those contained herein. No term or provision of this letter may be amended 
waived, released, discharged, or modified except in writing, signed by you and an authorized officer of the Company, except that 
the Company may, in its sole discretion but subject to the terms and conditions of this letter, the attachments hereto, the Severance 
Plan, the Equity Plan, the RSU Award Agreement, the PSU Award Agreement and the Make-Whole Award Agreement, adjust 
your Base Salary, incentive compensation, equity and equity-based plans, benefits, job title, locations, duties, responsibilities, and 
reporting relationships.
 

* * * * * 



 
[Signature Page Follows]

 



Acceptance

Please indicate your acceptance of this offer by signing below and returning to me this letter along with the executed CIIA. We 
look forward to welcoming you to the Company and working together with you to foster Company growth and success, 
professional development, and personal satisfaction and achievement.
 

Sincerely, 
 
IonQ, Inc.
 
 
/s/ Paul T. Dacier
Name: Paul T. Dacier
Title: Chief Legal 
Officer and Corporate 
Secretary

 
 

 
 

 ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO
 
Date: September 4, 2025
 
 
/s/ Robert Cardillo
Robert Cardillo

 



EXHIBIT A

Participation Agreement
 

IonQ, Inc. (the “Company”) is pleased to inform you, Robert Cardillo, that you have been selected to participate in the 
Company’s Executive Severance Plan (the “Plan”) as a Covered Employee. A copy of the Plan was delivered to you with this 
Participation Agreement. Your participation in the Plan is subject to all of the terms and conditions of the Plan. The capitalized terms 
used but not defined herein will have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan.
 

In order to become a Covered Employee under the Plan, you must complete and sign this Participation Agreement and 
return it to the Company no later than September 11 , 2025.
 

The Plan describes in detail certain circumstances under which you may become eligible for Severance Benefits and the 
amount of those benefits. As described more fully in the Plan, you may become eligible for certain Severance Benefits if you 
experience a Covered Termination.
 

If you become eligible for Standard Severance Benefits under Section 4.1 of the Plan, then subject to the terms and 
conditions of the Plan, you will receive:
 
Cash Severance Benefits 9 months
Target Annual Bonus Entitlement 50%
Prorated Target Annual Bonus Entitlement As set forth in Section 4.1.3.
Accelerated Equity Vesting As set forth in Section 4.1.5.
COBRA Premiums 9 months
 

If you become eligible for CIC Severance Benefits under Section 4.2 of the Plan, then subject to the terms and conditions of 
the Plan, you will receive:
 
Cash Severance Benefits 12 months
Target Annual Bonus Entitlement 50%
Prorated Target Annual Bonus Entitlement As set forth in Section 4.2.3.
Accelerated Equity Vesting As set forth in Section 4.2.5.
COBRA Premiums 12 months
 

In order to receive any Severance Benefits for which you otherwise become eligible under the Plan, you must sign and 
deliver to the Company the Release, which must have become effective and irrevocable, and otherwise comply with the 
requirements under Section 5 of the Plan.
 

In accordance with Section 6 of the Plan, the benefits, if any, provided under the Plan are intended to be the exclusive 
benefits for you related to your termination of employment with the Company and will supersede and replace any severance 
benefits to which you otherwise would eligible to participate in any other Company severance policy, plan, agreement or other 
arrangement (whether or not subject to ERISA), provided that, any accelerated satisfaction of performance criteria with respect to 
any outstanding equity award that is to vest and/or the amount of the Equity Award to vest is to be determined based on the 
achievement of performance criteria, will be set forth and governed by the award agreement with respect to such equity award (the 
“Performance Award Carveout”).

 
[Signature Page Follows]

\

 



By your signature below, you and the Company agree that your participation in the Plan is governed by this Participation 
Agreement and the provisions of the Plan. Your signature below confirms that: (i) you have received a copy of the Plan; (ii) you have 
carefully read this Participation Agreement and the Plan and you acknowledge and agree to its terms, including, but not limited to, 
Section 6 of the Plan; (iii) you agree that this Participation Agreement and the provisions of the Plan supersede any individual 
agreement between you and the Company and any other plan, policy or practice, whether written or unwritten, maintained by the 
Company with respect to equity acceleration or severance benefits upon your separation from the Company, subject to the 
Performance Award Carveout; and (iv) decisions and determinations by the Administrator under the Plan will be final and binding on 
you and your successors.
 
IONQ, INC. COVERED EMPLOYEE
 
 
/s/ Paul T. Dacier /s/ Robert Cardillo

Signature Signature

Name: Paul T. Dacier Name: Robert Cardillo
Title: Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary Title: Executive Chairman of IonQ Federal 
Date: September 4, 2025 Date: September 4, 2025
 
 
 Attachment: IonQ, Inc. Executive Severance Plan
 
 
 

 
 
 

 



EXHIBIT B

CIIA
 

[See attached.]

 
 
 

 



EXHIBIT C

Outside Roles
 



Exhibit 10.5 

August 5, 2025 

Peter Chapman
Via email
 

Re: Separation Agreement
 
Dear Peter:
 
This letter (the “Agreement”) sets forth the substance and terms of the separation arrangements which IonQ, Inc. (the “Company”) is 
offering to you to aid in your employment transition.
 

1. Transition. Your last day as Executive Chairman and your last day of employment with the Company was 
August 1, 2025 (the “Transition Date”). As you have advised, you are resigning from the Board of Directors of the Company, 
with the effective date no later than the date you sign this Agreement.

 
2. Consideration. In reliance on such voluntary representations and the promises and releases contained in this 

Agreement, the Company will provide you with the following pay and benefits, subject to you signing and not revoking the 
Release as set forth herein, and complying with the terms hereof:

 
2.1. Cash Severance. Following the Transition Date, upon your executing this Agreement, the 

Company agrees to pay you a gross amount, less all applicable withholdings and deductions, equal to twelve (12) 
months’ of your base salary as in effect immediately prior to the Transition Date (the “Severance Payment”), 
pursuant to Section 4.1.1 of the Company’s Executive Severance Plan and your participation agreement thereunder 
(the “Executive Severance Plan”) for a Covered Termination (as defined in the Executive Severance Plan). The 
Severance Payment will be made in equal installments on the Company’s regular payroll schedule, with the first 
installment paid on the first payroll date following the Release Effective Date, subject to any payment timing 
provisions of the Executive Severance Plan.

 
2.2. Target Annual Bonus. Following the Transition Date, upon your executing this Agreement, 

the Company agrees to pay you a gross amount equal to the product of (i) an amount representing $700,000 (the 
“Target Bonus”), which amount shall be paid less all applicable withholdings and deductions (the “Target Bonus 
Payment”), pursuant to Section 4.1.2 of the Executive Severance Plan and your participation agreement thereunder 
for a Covered Termination (as defined in the Executive Severance Plan). The Target Bonus Payment will be made in 
equal installments on the Company’s regular payroll schedule, with the first installment paid on the first payroll date 
following the Release Effective Date, subject to any payment timing provisions of the Executive Severance Plan.

 
2.3. Prorated Target Annual Bonus. Following the Transition Date, upon your executing this 

Agreement, the Company agrees to pay you a gross amount equal to the portion of your Target Bonus, prorated for 
time worked by you during 2025 (the “Prorated Bonus”), pursuant to Section 4.1.3 of the Executive Severance Plan 
and your participation agreement thereunder for a Covered Termination (as defined in the Executive Severance 
Plan). The Prorated Bonus shall be in an amount equal to: (i) the Target Bonus (ii) divided by 365, and (iii) 
multiplied by the number of days you were employed during calendar year 2025. The Prorated Bonus will be paid, 
less all applicable withholdings and deductions, in equal installments on the Company’s regular payroll schedule, 
with the first installment paid on the first payroll date following the Release Effective Date, subject to any payment 
timing provisions of the Executive Severance Plan.

 
2.4. Equity Vesting. In 2022, you were granted restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and stock options 

(“Options”) and in 2024 you were granted performance-based restricted stock units (“PSUs”) pursuant to the 
Company’s 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). Pursuant to Section 4.1.5 of the Executive Severance Plan, your 
RSUs and Options will accelerate and become vested in full upon your termination, subject to your execution and 
non-revocation of this Agreement. In addition, under your PSU award agreement, your separation from the Company 
will be treated as an Involuntary Termination (as defined in your PSU award agreement) and as a result you will vest 
in the target number of PSUs granted to you, multiplied by a fraction, as determined pursuant to your PSU award 
agreement. Any other portions of such equity award shall be immediately forfeited. The RSUs and PSUs in which 
you vest pursuant to this Section 2(b) will be settled as soon as reasonably practicable following the Release 
Effective Date, but in no event later than December 31, 2025.

 
2.5. COBRA Benefits. If you are currently participating in the Company’s group health insurance 

plans, your participation as an employee will end on August 31, 2025. Thereafter, to the extent provided by the 



Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (“COBRA”) or, if applicable, state insurance laws, and by 
the Company’s current group health insurance policies, you will be eligible to continue your group health insurance 
benefits for yourself and your dependents. Pursuant to Section 4.1.4 of the Executive Severance Plan, the Company 
will pay the applicable premiums for such continuation coverage until the earlier of (x) twelve (12) months following 
the Transition Date and (y) the date upon which you become eligible for coverage under a health, dental or vision 
insurance plan of a subsequent employer (the “COBRA Reimbursement Period”). For the avoidance of doubt, if, 
following the COBRA Reimbursement Period, you remain eligible for COBRA continuation coverage under 
applicable law, such continuation coverage will be at your sole cost and expense. You will be receiving additional 
COBRA information from the Company’s COBRA administrator to your mailing address following the termination 
of your benefits. Later, you may be able to convert to an individual policy through the provider of the Company’s 
health insurance, if you wish.

 
2.6. Retention Bonus. In December 2024, pursuant to an agreement with the Company (the 

“Bonus Agreement”) you received a $20,000,000 retention bonus, 50% of which was payable in lump-sum if you 
remained employed through December 31, 2024 and 50% of which was payable in lump-sum if you remained 
employed through December 31, 2025 (the “Retention Bonus”). In connection with your termination of employment 
with the Company, the Company will pay you the full unpaid portion of your Retention Bonus, in accordance with 
the terms of the Bonus Agreement (the “Retention Bonus Payment”). For the avoidance of doubt, the Retention 
Bonus Payment shall be in the amount of $10,000,000, less applicable withholdings. The Retention Bonus Payment 
will be made in a single lump sum as soon as reasonably practicable following the Release Effective Date, but in no 
event later than December 31, 2025.

 
2.7. This Agreement, all of its terms, and all of the obligations of the Company contained herein 

are expressly contingent upon the condition that you do not exercise your right of revocation as described in Section 
13 below.

 
3. Accrued Salary. On or as soon as reasonably practicable following the Transition Date, the Company will pay 

you all of the accrued salary earned through the Transition Date, subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings. You 
will receive these payments regardless of whether or not you sign this Agreement. You acknowledge that the Company 
maintains a non-accrual PTO policy and as a result, you have no accrued but unused PTO that the Company is obligated to 
pay you upon your separation from employment.

 
4. Benefit Plans. Your participation in Employer-Sponsored Group Life Insurance and Short- and Long-Term 

Disability Insurance, if applicable, will end on the Transition Date. Deductions for the 401(k) Plan will end with your last 
regular employee paycheck. Your right to vesting with respect to any Company contributions in your 401(k) Plan account will 
be as set forth in the 401(k) Plan. You will receive information by mail concerning 401(k) rollover procedures should you be 
a participant in this program.

 
5. No Other Compensation or Benefits. You acknowledge that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, 

you will not receive any additional compensation, severance or benefits after the Transition Date.
 

6. Expense Reimbursements. You agree that, within ten (10) days of the Transition Date, you will submit your 
final documented expense reimbursement statement reflecting all business expenses you incurred through the Transition Date, 
if any, for which you seek reimbursement. The Company will reimburse you for reasonable business expenses pursuant to its 
regular business practice.

 
7. Return of Company Property. Within ten (10) days of the Transition Date, you agree to return to the 

Company all Company documents (and all copies thereof) and other Company property that you have had in your possession 
at any time, including, but not limited to, your Company-issued phone, Company files, notes, drawings, records, business 
plans and forecasts, financial information, specifications, computer-recorded information, tangible property (including, but 
not limited to, computers), credit cards, entry cards, identification badges and keys; and, any materials of any kind that 
contain or embody any proprietary or confidential information of the Company (and all reproductions thereof). You may, 
however, keep any personnel records related to your employment, such as your offer letter or employment agreement. 
Receipt of the severance benefits under this Agreement is expressly conditioned upon return of all Company property.

 
8. Proprietary Information and Post-Termination Obligations. Both during and after your employment you 

acknowledge your continuing obligations under your Employee Confidential Information, Inventions, Non-Solicitation and 
Non-Competition Agreement (“CIIA”) not to use or disclose any confidential or proprietary information of the Company and 
to refrain from certain solicitation and competitive activities, subject to applicable law. If you have any doubts as to the scope 
of the restrictions in your agreement, you should contact the Company immediately to assess your compliance. As you know, 
the Company will enforce its contractual rights. Please familiarize yourself with the CIIA which you signed. Confidential 
information that is also a “trade secret,” as defined by law, may be disclosed



(A) if it is made (i) in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney 
and (ii) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other 
document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. In addition, in the event that you file a 
lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of law, you may disclose the trade secret to your 
attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if you: (A) file any document containing the trade secret 
under seal; and (B) do not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order. You will continue to be subject to 
Company policies which may be applicable to former executives and directors, compliance with securities laws and your 
fiduciary obligations, as applicable.
 

9. Confidentiality. If and to the extent this Agreement is not publicly filed, summarized or the material terms 
otherwise publicly disclosed by the Company, the provisions and circumstances of this Agreement will be held in strictest 
confidence by you and will not be publicized or disclosed in any manner whatsoever; provided, however, that: (a) you may 
disclose this Agreement to your immediate family; (b) you may disclose this Agreement in confidence to your attorney, 
accountant, auditor, tax preparer, and financial advisor; and (c) this Agreement will be disclosed as may be required by law. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement shall limit your right to voluntarily communicate with the Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission, United States Department of Labor, the National Labor Relations Board, the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, other federal government agency or similar state or local agency or to discuss the terms 
and conditions of your employment with others to the extent expressly permitted by Section 7 of the National Labor Relations 
Act.

 
10. Non-Disparagement. You agree not to disparage the Company, the Company Parties or their products, 

employment practices, business practices, services, or management (whether orally, in written statements, via electronic 
writings, anonymously, via the internet, or otherwise). You specifically agree that you will not post or make any reference to 
the Company or Company Parties on any internet website or through any other social media source without the Company’s 
consent. The Company agrees to instruct its current executive officers (known within the Company as the S-team) and 
members of its Board of Directors not to disparage you (whether orally, in written statements, via electronic writings, 
anonymously, via the internet, or otherwise). The foregoing shall not preclude any party from testifying truthfully in response 
to a legally-imposed subpoena or otherwise as required by law, including the Company’s obligations under applicable 
securities laws.

 
11. Cooperation after Termination. In exchange for the payments and benefits provided under this Agreement, 

without further consideration, you agree to reasonably cooperate with the Company and any of the other Company Parties 
with respect to matters on which you worked during you employment and to assist with pending or future legal investigations, 
proceedings, or litigation, public or private, involving the Company or any of the other Company Parties on matters about 
which you have personal knowledge. This includes your obligation to promptly meet with representatives of the Company or 
the other Company Parties, either personally or by telephone, at reasonable times upon their request and without unreasonable 
interference with your employment or personal activities, and providing information and, where applicable, testimony, that is 
truthful, accurate, and complete according to information known to you. Reasonable assistance includes, but is not limited to, 
being available by telephone to answer questions, provide guidance, or discuss matters as needed; providing information and 
materials to the Company’s counsel; providing truthful testimony, if necessary; maintaining the confidentiality of the 
Company’s and all Company Parties’ privileged or confidential information, including without limitation, attorney-client 
privileged communications and work product, unless disclosure is expressly authorized by the Company’s legal department; 
and notifying the Company’s Chief Executive Officer promptly of any requests made for information related to any pending 
or potential legal claim or litigation involving the Company or any Company Party, reviewing any such requests with a 
designated representative of the Company prior to disclosing such information, and permitting a representative of the 
Company to be present during any communication of such information. The Company will use its best efforts to ensure that 
any assistance requested will be arranged so that it does not unreasonably interfere with your other work or personal 
commitments. You acknowledge that you will not receive any additional pay for your assistance beyond that provided in 
Section 2 of this Agreement, but will be reimbursed for any reasonable travel or related costs incurred for services provided 
under this paragraph.

 
12. Release. In exchange for the consideration under this Agreement, to which you would not otherwise be entitled, and 

except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, you, on behalf of yourself and, to the extent permitted by law, on behalf of 
your spouse, heirs, executors, administrators, assigns, insurers, attorneys and other persons or entities, acting or purporting to 
act on your behalf (collectively, the “Employee Parties”), hereby generally and completely release, acquit and forever 
discharge the Company, its parents and subsidiaries, and its and their current and former officers, directors, managers, 
partners, agents, representatives, employees, attorneys, shareholders, predecessors, successors, assigns, insurers and affiliates 
(the “Company Parties”) of and from any and all claims, liabilities, demands, contentions, actions, causes of action, suits, 
costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, damages, indemnities, debts, judgments, levies, executions and obligations of every kind and 
nature, in law, equity, or otherwise, both known and unknown, suspected and unsuspected, disclosed and undisclosed, arising 
out of or in any way related to agreements, events, acts or conduct at any time prior to and including the execution date of this 
Agreement, including but not limited to: all such claims and demands directly or indirectly arising out of or in any way 
connected with your employment with the Company or your resignation of that employment; claims or demands related to 
salary, bonuses, commissions, stock, stock options, or any other ownership interests in the Company, vacation pay, fringe 
benefits, expense reimbursements, severance pay, or any other form of compensation; claims pursuant to any federal, state or 
local law, statute, or 



cause of action; tort law; or contract law (individually a “Claim” and collectively “Claims”). The Claims you are releasing and 
waiving in this Agreement include, but are not limited to, any and all Claims that any of the Company Parties:

 
• has violated its personnel policies, handbooks, contracts of employment, or covenants of good faith and 

fair dealing;
 

• has discriminated against you on the basis of age, race, color, sex (including sexual harassment), national origin, 
ancestry, disability, religion, sexual orientation, marital status, parental status, source of income, entitlement to 
benefits, any union activities or other protected category in violation of any local, state or federal law, constitution, 
ordinance, or regulation, including but not limited to: Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; the 
Civil Rights Act of 1991; 42 U.S.C. § 1981, as amended; the Equal Pay Act; the Americans With Disabilities Act; 
the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act; the Family and Medical Leave Act; the Fair Employment Practice 
Act of Maryland, Md. Code Ann., State Government, tit. 20; the Employee Retirement Income Security Act; the 
Employee Polygraph Protection Act; the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act; the Older Workers 
Benefit Protection Act; the anti-retaliation provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Washington Law Against 
Discrimination, Rev. Code Wash. §§ 49.44.090, 49.60.040, 49.60.172, 49.60.180, 49.60.190, 49.60.200, or any 
other federal or state law regarding whistleblower retaliation; the Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act; the Uniformed 
Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act; and the Fair Credit Reporting Act;;

 
• has violated any statute, public policy or common law (including but not limited to Claims for retaliatory discharge; 

negligent hiring, retention or supervision; defamation; intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress and/or 
mental anguish; intentional interference with contract; negligence; detrimental reliance; loss of consortium to you or 
any member of your family and/or promissory estoppel).

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, other than events expressly contemplated by this Agreement you do not waive or release 
rights or Claims that may arise from events that occur after the date you sign this Agreement including, but not limited to, 
your rights to payments and benefits provided under this Agreement and your right to enforce the Agreement. Further, and 
notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement of the releases herein waives, limits, or amends (i) your right to any 
protection or benefits set forth in any Indemnification Agreement between you and the Company (the “Indemnification 
Agreement”), (ii) any other indemnification rights you may have in accordance with the Company’s governance instruments, 
insurance contracts, including coverage under any D&O insurance policies covering the period during which you served as a 
Company officer and/or director, or state law. Also excluded from this Agreement are any Claims which cannot be waived by 
law, including, without limitation, any rights you may have under applicable workers’ compensation laws and your right, if 
applicable, to file or participate in an investigative proceeding of any federal, state or local governmental agency. Nothing in 
this Agreement shall prevent you from filing, cooperating with, or participating in any proceeding or investigation before the 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, United States Department of Labor, the National Labor Relations Board, the 
Occupational Safety and Health Administration, the Securities and Exchange Commission or any other federal government 
agency, or similar state or local agency (“Government Agencies”), or exercising any rights pursuant to Section 7 of the National 
Labor Relations Act. You further understand this Agreement does not limit your ability to voluntarily communicate with any 
Government Agencies or otherwise participate in any investigation or proceeding that may be conducted by any Government 
Agency, including providing documents or other information, without notice to the Company. While this Agreement does not 
limit your right to receive an award for information provided to the Securities and Exchange Commission, you understand and 
agree that, you are otherwise waiving, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any and all rights you may have to individual 
relief based on any Claims that you have released and any rights you have waived by signing this Agreement. If any Claim is 
not subject to release, to the extent permitted by law, you waive any right or ability to be a class or collective action 
representative or to otherwise participate in any putative or certified class, collective or multi-party action or proceeding based 
on such a Claim in which any of the Company Parties is a party. This Agreement does not abrogate your existing rights under 
any Company benefit plan or any plan or agreement related to equity ownership in the Company; however, it does waive, 
release and forever discharge Claims existing as of the date you execute this Agreement pursuant to any such plan or 
agreement.
 

13. Waiver of Claims under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act. You recognize that, in signing this release 
of Claims (the “Release”), you are waiving your right to pursue any and all claims under the Age Discrimination in 
Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq. (“ADEA”) arising prior to the date that each time you execute this Release. You 
understand that you may take twenty-one (21) days from the date this Release is presented to consider whether to execute this 
Release. You are advised through this Agreement that you may wish to consult with an attorney prior to execution of this 
Release. Once you have executed this Release, you may revoke the Release at any time during the seven (7) day period 
following your execution of the Release. After seven (7) days have passed following your execution of this Release, your 
execution of this Release shall be final and irrevocable (such date, the “Release Effective Date”).

 
14. Your Acknowledgments and Affirmations. You acknowledge and agree that (i) the consideration given to you in 

exchange for the waiver and release in this Agreement is in addition to anything of value to which you were already entitled; 
(ii) that (except for any amounts owed to you pursuant to this Agreement and as set forth at Sections 2, 3, and 6 of this 



Agreement) you have been paid for all time worked, have received all the leave, leaves of absence and leave benefits and 
protections for which you are eligible, and have not suffered any on-the-job injury for which you have not already filed a 
Claim; (iii) you have been given sufficient time to consider this Agreement and to consult an attorney or advisor of your 
choosing; and (iv) you are knowingly and voluntarily executing this Agreement waiving and releasing any Claims you may 
have as of the date you execute it. You affirm that all of the decisions of the Company Parties regarding your pay and benefits 
through the date of your execution of this Agreement were not discriminatory based on age, disability, race, color, sex, 
religion, national origin or any other classification protected by law. You affirm that you have not filed or caused to be filed, 
and are not presently a party to, a Claim against any of the Company Parties. You further affirm that you have no known 
workplace injuries or occupational diseases. You acknowledge and affirm that you have not been retaliated against for 
reporting any allegation of corporate fraud or other wrongdoing by any of the Company Parties, or for exercising any rights 
protected by law, including any rights protected by the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Family Medical Leave Act, or any 
related statute or local leave or disability accommodation laws, or any applicable state workers’ compensation law.

 
15. No Admission. This Agreement does not constitute an admission by the Company of any wrongful action or 

violation of any federal, state, or local statute, or common law rights, including those relating to the provisions of any law or 
statute concerning employment actions, or of any other possible or claimed violation of law or rights.

 
16. Breach. You agree that upon any finding by a court of competent jurisdiction or arbitrator of any material breach by 

you of this Agreement or the CIIA, you will forfeit the consideration provided to you under this Agreement and any 
continuing payments or benefits pursuant to Section 2 hereof shall cease immediately. Further, you acknowledge that it may 
be impossible to assess the damages caused by your violation of the terms of Sections 8, 9, 10, 12 and 13 of this Agreement 
and further agree that any threatened or actual violation or breach of those Sections of this Agreement may constitute 
immediate and irreparable injury to the Company. You therefore agree that any such breach of this Agreement is a material 
breach of this Agreement and, in addition to any and all other damages and remedies available to the Company upon your 
material breach of this Agreement, the Company shall be entitled to an injunction to prevent you from violating or breaching 
this Agreement. You agree that if the Company is successful in whole or part in any legal or equitable action against you 
under this Agreement, you agree to pay all of the costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Company in 
enforcing the terms of this Agreement.

 
17, Miscellaneous. This Agreement constitutes the complete, final and exclusive embodiment of the entire agreement 

between you and the Company with regard to this subject matter. It is entered into without reliance on any promise or 
representation, written or oral, other than those expressly contained herein, and it supersedes any other such promises, 
warranties or representations. This Agreement may not be modified or amended except in a writing signed by both you and a 
duly authorized officer of the Company. This Agreement will bind the heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns 
of both you and the Company, and inure to the benefit of both you and the Company, their heirs, successors and assigns. If 
any provision of this Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, this determination will not 
affect any other provision of this Agreement and the provision in question will be modified by the court so as to be rendered 
enforceable. This Agreement will be deemed to have been entered into and will be construed and enforced in accordance with 
the laws of the State of Maryland as applied to contracts made and to be performed entirely within Maryland. All amounts 
hereunder shall be subject to reduction for applicable tax withholdings. The payment timing of severance benefits hereunder 
shall remain subject to Section 8 of the Executive Severance Plan with respect to Section 409A (as defined in the Executive 
Severance Plan).

 
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

 



If this Agreement is acceptable to you, please sign below. The Company’s offer contained herein will automatically expire if you do 
not sign and return the fully signed Agreement within this timeframe.
 
I wish you good luck in your future endeavors.
 
 
 
 
Sincerely,
 
 
/s/ Inder M. Singh
Inder M. Singh
Lead Independent Director
IONQ, INC.
 
Date: 8/5/2025 | 10:45 PM EDT
 
 
 
AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED:
 
 
/s/ Peter Chapman
Peter Chapman
 
Date: August 5, 2025
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IONQ, INC. 
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED
NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION POLICY

(As Amended Through October 22, 2025)

Originally adopted and approved by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on December 14, 2021, and most 
recently amended on October 22, 2025 (the “Effective Date”).

Each member of the Board who is not also serving as an employee of or consultant to IonQ, Inc. (the 
“Company”) or any of its subsidiaries (each such member, an “Eligible Director”) will receive the 
compensation described in this Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy for his or 
her Board service.  This policy is effective as of the Effective Date and may be amended at any time in the sole 
discretion of the Board or a designated committee of the Board.  Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized 
terms used in this policy will have the meaning given to such terms in the Company’s 2021 Equity Incentive 
Plan or any successor equity incentive plan (the “Plan”).

I. Annual Cash Compensation

Each Eligible Director will be entitled to receive the following annual cash retainers for service on the Board:

Annual Board Service Retainer:
• All Eligible Directors: $147,500
• Lead Director (additional retainer): $20,000
• Non-Executive Chair (additional retainer): $20,000

Annual Committee Chair Service Retainer (in addition to Annual Committee Member Service Retainer):

• Chair of the Audit Committee: $20,000
• Chair of the Compensation Committee: $15,000
• Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee: $10,000
• Chair of the Product and Strategy Committee: $15,000

Annual Committee Member Service Retainer:
• Member of the Audit Committee: $10,000
• Member of the Compensation Committee: $7,500
• Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee: $7,500
• Member of the Product and Strategy Committee: $7,500

The annual cash retainers set forth above will be payable in equal quarterly installments, payable in arrears on 
the last day of each fiscal quarter (each such date, a “Retainer Accrual Date”) in which the service occurred or 
within 30 days following the applicable Retainer Accrual Date, prorated for any partial quarter of service (based 
on the number of days served in the applicable position divided by the total number of days in the quarter).  The 
amount of the annual cash retainers set forth above are effective for the quarter in which the most recent 
Effective Date occurs or as otherwise specified by the Board.  All annual cash fees are vested upon payment.



II. Election to Receive Shares of Common Stock in Lieu of Cash Retainer

A. Retainer Grant.  Each Eligible Director may elect to convert all of his or her cash compensation under 
Section I for the first calendar quarter that commences after the Effective Date and any subsequent calendar 
quarter into a restricted stock unit award (“RSU Award”) (each, a “Retainer Grant”) in accordance with this 
Section II(A) (such election, a “Retainer Grant Election”).  If an Eligible Director timely makes a Retainer 
Grant Election pursuant to Section II(B) below, on the first business day following the applicable Retainer 
Accrual Date to which the Retainer Grant Election applies, and without any further action by the Board or 
designated committee of the Board, such Eligible Director automatically will be granted an RSU Award 
covering a number of shares of common stock equal to (a) the aggregate amount of cash compensation 
otherwise payable to such Eligible Director on the Retainer Accrual Date to which the Retainer Grant Election 
applies divided by (b) the closing sales price per share of the common stock on the applicable Retainer Accrual 
Date (or, if such date is not a business day, on the first business day thereafter), rounded down to the nearest 
whole share.  Each Retainer Grant will be fully vested on the applicable grant date.

B. Election Mechanics.  Each Retainer Grant Election must be submitted to the Company’s Chief Financial 
Officer (or such other individual as the Company designates) in writing at least 20 business days in advance of 
the applicable Retainer Accrual Date, and subject to any other conditions specified by the Board or designated 
committee of the Board.  An Eligible Director may only make a Retainer Grant Election during a period in 
which the Company is not in a quarterly or special blackout period and the Eligible Director is not aware of any 
material non-public information.  Once a Retainer Grant Election is properly submitted, it will be in effect for 
the next Retainer Accrual Date and will remain in effect for successive Retainer Accrual Dates unless and until 
the Eligible Director revokes it in accordance with Section II(C) below. An Eligible Director who fails to make 
a timely Retainer Grant Election will not receive a Retainer Grant and instead will receive the cash 
compensation set forth under Section I.

C. Revocation Mechanics.  The revocation of any Retainer Grant Election must be submitted to the 
Company’s Chief Financial Officer (or such other individual as the Company designates) in writing at least 20 
business days in advance of the applicable Retainer Accrual Date, and subject to any other conditions specified 
by the Board or designated committee of the Board.  An Eligible Director may only revoke a Retainer Grant 
Election during a period in which the Company is not in a quarterly or special blackout period and the Eligible 
Director is not aware of any material non-public information.  Once the revocation of the Retainer Grant 
Election is properly submitted, it will be in effect for the next Retainer Accrual Date and will remain in effect 
for successive Retainer Accrual Dates unless and until the Eligible Director makes a new Retainer Grant 
Election in accordance with Section (II)(B).

III. Equity Compensation

All grants of equity awards to Eligible Directors pursuant to this policy will be automatic and nondiscretionary 
(without the need for any additional corporate action by the Board or designated committee of the Board) and 
will be made in accordance with the following provisions:

1. Initial Grant: For each Eligible Director who is first elected or appointed to the Board following the 
Effective Date other than at an annual stockholder meeting of the Company (each, an “Annual Meeting”), on 
the date of such Eligible Director’s initial election or appointment to the Board (or, if such date is not a market 
trading day, the first market trading day thereafter), the Eligible Director will be granted an RSU Award with an 
aggregate value as of the grant date equal to $220,000 multiplied by the quotient of (x) the number of days 
between the date that such Eligible Director is elected or appointed to the Board and the first anniversary of the 
Company’s most recent Annual Meeting, including the date that such Eligible Director is elected or appointed 
to the Board and the date of such anniversary, and (y) the number of day between the Company’s most recent 
Annual Meeting and the first anniversary of such date, beginning with the date following the Company’s most 
recent Annual Meeting of stockholders and including the date of such anniversary (the “Initial 



Grant”).  The Initial Grant will vest in full on the earlier of (i) the date of the next occurring Annual Meeting (or 
the date immediately prior to the next Annual Meeting if the Non-Employee Director’s service as a director 
ends at such Annual Meeting due to the director’s failure to be re-elected or the director not standing for re-
election), or (ii) the one-year anniversary of the date following the most recent Annual Meeting.

2. Annual Grant: On the first business day following each Annual Meeting held after the Effective 
Date, each Eligible Director who continues to serve as a non-employee member of the Board following such 
Annual Meeting or any Eligible Director who is first appointed or elected by the Board at the Annual Meeting 
will be granted an RSU Award with an aggregate value as of the grant date equal to $220,000 (the “Annual 
Grant”).  The Annual Grant will vest in full on the earlier of (i) the date of the following year’s Annual Meeting 
(or the date immediately prior to the next Annual Meeting if the Non-Employee Director’s service as a director 
ends at such Annual Meeting due to the director’s failure to be re-elected or the director not standing for re-
election), or (ii) the one-year anniversary measured from the date of grant.

3. Calculation of RSU Awards.  The number of shares subject to each RSU Award granted pursuant to 
the Initial Grant or Annual Grant shall be the total RSU Award value, divided by the average closing market 
price of our common stock over the 22 trading days ending the business day before the date of grant.

4. Settlement of RSUs: Except as set forth in clause (F) below, the common stock to be issued upon 
settlement of vested RSUs under Initial Grant and Annual Grant will be delivered on the applicable vesting 
date, or as soon as practicable thereafter, subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable form of RSU 
grant notice and agreement approved by the Board, provided, that such common stock shall be delivered no 
later than the date that is the 15th day of the third calendar month of the year following the year in which such 
shares are no longer subject to a “substantial risk of forfeiture” within the meaning of Treasury Regulations 
Section 1.409A-1(d).

5. Acceleration: Notwithstanding the foregoing vesting schedules and subject to the Eligible Director’s 
Continuous Service, through the closing of a Change in Control, all outstanding and unvested equity awards 
held by such Eligible Director, whether granted under this policy or otherwise, will vest in full immediately 
prior to, but conditioned upon, the closing of a Change in Control.

6. Voluntary Stock Deferral:  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this policy, Eligible 
Directors may be given the opportunity to defer settlement of RSU Awards granted under this policy in 
compliance with Section 409A of the Code.

7. Additional Provisions: All provisions of the Plan not inconsistent with this policy will apply to 
awards granted to Eligible Directors.  Eligible Directors will be required to accept the terms of a restricted stock 
unit agreement in a form satisfactory to the Company upon to receipt of an Annual Grant. For purposes of 
clarity, all equity grants to Nonemployee Directors are governed by the terms of the Plan and the definitions 
therein, including Continuous Service.

IV. Non-Employee Director Compensation Limit

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the aggregate value of all compensation granted or paid, as applicable, to any 
individual for service as a Nonemployee Director shall in no event exceed the limits set forth in Section 3(d) of 
the Plan.

V. Ability to Decline Compensation

An Eligible Director may decline all or any portion of his or her compensation by giving notice to the Company 
prior to the date cash may be paid or equity awards are to be granted, as the case may be.



VI. Expenses

The Company will reimburse Eligible Directors for ordinary, necessary and reasonable out-of-pocket travel 
expenses to cover in-person attendance at and participation in Board and committee meetings; provided, that the 
Eligible Director timely submit to the Company appropriate documentation substantiating such expenses in 
accordance with the Company’s travel and expense policy, as in effect from time to time.

 



 

 

Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATIONS 

I, Niccolo de Masi, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of IonQ, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; 
and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: November 5, 2025 
 

/s/ Niccolo de Masi
Niccolo de Masi
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
 



 

 

Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATIONS 

I, Inder M. Singh, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of IonQ, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; 
and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: November 5, 2025 
 

/s/ Inder M. Singh
Inder M. Singh
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

 



 

 

 Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION 

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”) and 
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Niccolo de Masi, Chief Executive Officer of 
IonQ, Inc. (the “Company”), and Inder M. Singh, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies that, to the best of 
their knowledge: 

1. The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2025, to which this Certification is attached 
as Exhibit 32.1 (the “Periodic Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange 
Act; and 

2. The information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have set their hands hereto as of the 5th day of November 2025. 
 
/s/ Niccolo de Masi  /s/ Inder M. Singh
   

Niccolo de Masi  Inder M. Singh
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer
 


